IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS HOUSTON DIVISION

In re: \$ Chapter 11

NEIGHBORS LEGACY HOLDINGS, INC., \$ Case No. 18-33836 (MI)

et al., \$ (Jointly Administered)

Debtors.

OBJECTION OF RKMS LUBBOCK AND RKMS PARIS TO <u>DEBTORS' PROPOSED CURE AMOUNTS</u> [Relates to Docket Nos. 236 and 255]

RKMS Lubbock, LLC and RKMS Paris, LLC, affiliates of Read King, Inc. (collectively "Read King"), for their *Objection to Debtors' Proposed Cure Amounts* (the "Objection"), respectfully represent:

- 1. On December 21, 2015, RKMS Lubbock, LLC ("RKMS Lubbock") entered into that certain Lease Agreement, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated February 16, 2016 (collectively, the "Lubbock Lease") with NEC Lubbock Emergency Center LLC ("NEC Lubbock"), whereby RKMS Lubbock leased certain real property to NEC Lubbock. A true and correct copy of the Lubbock Lease is attached hereto as **Exhibit A**.
- 2. On May 31, 2016, RKMS Paris, LLC ("RKMS Paris") entered into that certain Lease Agreement (the "Paris Lease," and together with the Lubbock Lease, the "Leases") with NEC Paris Emergency Center LP ("NEC Paris") whereby RKMS Paris leased certain real property to NEC Paris. A true and correct copy of the Paris Lease is attached hereto as Exhibit B.
- 3. As part of their sale efforts, the Debtors have listed the Leases as potentially subject to assumption and assignment, and noted the cure amount for each Lease as \$0.00. See Docket Nos. 236 and 255.



Case 18-33836 Document 290 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 2 of 3

4. Read King objects to the Debtors' proposed cure amounts. Rather than \$0.00, the

cure amount owing under the Lubbock Lease is \$18,500.01, as set forth on Exhibit C, and the

cure amount owing under the Paris Lease is \$16,556.01, as set forth on **Exhibit D**. Together,

Exhibits C and D are referred to as the "Cure Exhibits." The Cure Exhibits detail the specific

nature and amounts owing in order to cure the Leases, as a condition to assumption and

assignment.

5. Prior to the time this Objection was filed, Read King provided the Debtors with

the documents and amounts contained in the Cure Exhibits. As of the time this Objection was

filed, however, the Debtors had not yet responded to Read King.

WHEREFORE, Read King respectfully requests that the Court (i) deny the request to

assume and assign the Leases unless and until the Debtors agree to pay the full amounts listed in

the Cure Exhibits, (ii) enter an order determining that the proper cure amounts for the Leases is

as set forth in the Cure Exhibits, and (iii) grant such other and further relief as may be just and

proper.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

4936650.1

Respectfully submitted this 23rd day of August, 2018

GRAY REED & McGRAW LLP

By: /s/ Jason S. Brookner
Jason S. Brookner
Texas Bar No. 24033684
J. Cary Gray
Texas Bar No. 08322300
1300 Post Oak Road, Suite 2000
Houston, Texas 77056

Telephone: (713) 986-7000 Facsimile: (713) 986-7100

Email: <u>jbrookner@grayreed.com</u>

cgray@grayreed.com

-and-

Micheal W. Bishop Texas Bar No. 02354860 1601 Elm Street, Suite 4600 Dallas, Texas 75201

Telephone: (214) 954-4135 Facsimile: (214) 953-1332

Email: mbishop@grayreed.com

COUNSEL TO READ KING, INC. AND AFFILIATES

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 23rd day of August, 2018, he caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing document to be served via electronic mail on all parties who have requested notice via the Court's CM/ECF Electronic Notification System.

/s/ Jason S. Brookner
Jason S. Brookner

4936650.1

EXHIBIT "A"

LEASE AGREEMENT

between

RKMS LUBBOCK LLC ("Landlord")

and

NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER, LP ("Tenant")

SUMMARY OF BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS

1. Location: 4337 50th St., Lubbock, Texas

2. Commencement Date: See Article 5

3. Landlord's Address: c/o Read King, Inc.

5850 San Felipe, Suite 490 Houston, Texas 77057 Attention: Mr. Tim Delgado

4. **Tenant's Address:** Before the Commencement Date:

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center, LP

11200 Broadway, Ste. 2320 Pearland, Texas 77584 Attn: Paul Alleyne, MD

From and after the Commencement Date:

At the address of the Leased Premises

Attention: Dr. Paul Alleyne

5. Leased Premises: Approximately 5,000 square foot building and the Property

6. Primary Term: Twelve (12) years

7. Extension Options: Three (3) additional periods of Five (5) years

8. Base Rent: The Rent Schedule below shows estimated increases.

The Rent Increases shall be equal to a 2% increase per year.

Primary Term

| | Rent Per Sq Ft | Annual Rent | Monthly Rent |
|---------------|----------------|--------------------|---------------------|
| Lease Year 1 | \$81.18 | \$407,924.00 | \$33,993.00 |
| Lease Year 2 | \$82.80 | \$416,082.00 | \$34,673.00 |
| Lease Year 3 | \$84.46 | \$424,404.00 | \$35,367.00 |
| Lease Year 4 | \$86.15 | \$432,892.00 | \$36,074.00 |
| Lease Year 5 | \$87.87 | \$441,550.00 | \$36,795.00 |
| Lease Year 6 | \$89.63 | \$450,381.00 | \$37,531.00 |
| Lease Year 7 | \$91.42 | \$459,389.00 | \$38,282.00 |
| Lease Year 8 | \$93.25 | \$468,576.00 | \$39,048.00 |
| Lease Year 9 | \$95.12 | \$477,948.00 | \$39,828.00 |
| Lease Year 10 | \$97.02 | \$487,507.00 | \$40,625.00 |

| Lease Year 11 | \$98.96 | \$497,257.00 | \$41,438.00 |
|---------------|----------|--------------|-------------|
| Lease Year 12 | \$100.94 | \$507,202.00 | \$42,266.00 |

Extension Terms

| | Per Sq Ft | Annual Rent | Monthly Rent |
|---------------|-----------|--------------|--------------|
| Lease Year 13 | \$102.96 | \$517,346.00 | \$43,112.00 |
| Lease Year 14 | \$105.01 | \$527,693.00 | \$43,974.00 |
| Lease Year 15 | \$107.12 | \$538,247.00 | \$44,853.00 |
| Lease Year 16 | \$109.26 | \$549,012.00 | \$45,750.00 |
| Lease Year 17 | \$111.44 | \$559,992.00 | \$46,666.00 |
| Lease Year 18 | \$113.67 | \$571,192.00 | \$47,599.00 |
| Lease Year 19 | \$115.95 | \$582,616.00 | \$48,551.00 |
| Lease Year 20 | \$118.26 | \$594,268.00 | \$49,522.00 |
| Lease Year 21 | \$120.63 | \$606,154.00 | \$50,512.00 |
| Lease Year 22 | \$123.04 | \$618,277.00 | \$51,523.00 |
| Lease Year 23 | \$125.50 | \$630,642.00 | \$52,553.00 |
| Lease Year 24 | \$128.01 | \$643,255.00 | \$53,604.00 |
| Lease Year 25 | \$130.57 | \$656,120.00 | \$54,676.00 |
| Lease Year 26 | \$133.18 | \$669,243.00 | \$55,770.00 |
| Lease Year 27 | \$135.85 | \$682,627.00 | \$56,885.00 |

9. Percentage Rent: None

10. Guarantor: Neighbors Global Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE | | | PAGE |
|----------------|-----------|--|-------------|
| ARTICLE 1 | DEFINITI | ONS | 1 |
| ARTICLE 2 | DEMISE C | OF LEASED PREMISES | 4 |
| ARTICLE 3 | | OCCUPANCY | |
| ARTICLE 4 | | CONSTRUCTION | |
| ARTICLE 5 | COMMEN | CEMENT DATE | 8 |
| ARTICLE 6 | | ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• | |
| ARTICLE 7 | BASE REN | NT AND ADDITIONAL RENT | 9 |
| ARTICLE 8 | PERCENT. | AGE RENT | 12 |
| ARTICLE 9 | REPAIRS A | AND MAINTENANCE | 12 |
| ARTICLE 10 | ALTERAT | IONS | 13 |
| ARTICLE 11 | INSURAN | CE | 14 |
| ARTICLE 12 | | FICATION AND WAIVERS | |
| ARTICLE 13 | DAMAGE | AND DESTRUCTION | 16 |
| ARTICLE 14 | | NATION | |
| ARTICLE 15 | | | |
| ARTICLE 16 | | S AND PERSONAL PROPERTY | |
| ARTICLE 17 | | | |
| ARTICLE 18 | ASSIGNM | ENT AND SUBLETTING | 20 |
| ARTICLE 19 | | ER OF PREMISES | |
| ARTICLE 20 | | BY TENANT | |
| ARTICLE 21 | | Z DEPOSIT | |
| ARTICLE 22 | | D'S LIEN | |
| ARTICLE 23 | | BY LANDLORD | |
| ARTICLE 24 | | OF LANDLORD | |
| ARTICLE 25 | | GEE PROVISIONS | |
| ARTICLE 26 | MISCELLA | ANEOUS | 28 |
| EXHIBITS | | | |
| Exhibit "A" | _ | Legal Description of the Property | |
| Exhibit "B" | _ | Site Plan Depicting the Property | |
| Exhibit "C" | | Work Letter | |
| Exhibit "D" | 2 | Acceptance Letter | |
| Exhibit "E" | _ | Confirmation of Commencement Date | |
| Exhibit "F" | === | Building Fascia Sign Criteria | |
| Exhibit "G" | _ | Rules and Regulations | |
| Exhibit "H" | | Intentionally Deleted | |
| Exhibit "I" | 350 | Form of Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornmen | nt |
| | | Agreement | 11 |
| Exhibit "J" | _ | Guaranty | |
| Exhibit "K" | - | Form of Landlord Agreement | |
| | | | |

LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (hereinafter called this "<u>Lease</u>" or this "<u>Agreement</u>") is made and entered into by and between RKMS LUBBOCK LLC (hereinafter called "<u>Landlord</u>") and NEC Lubbock Emergency Center, LP, a Texas limited partnership (hereinafter called "Tenant," whether one or more) (hereinafter called "Tenant").

ARTICLE 1 **DEFINITIONS**

- 1.1 <u>Base Rent</u>. The term "<u>Base Rent</u>" shall mean the fixed minimum rental payable by Tenant to Landlord in accordance with Section 8 of the Summary of Basic Lease Provisions, and Article 7.1 hereof.
- 1.2 <u>Charges</u>. The term "<u>Charges</u>" shall mean the aggregate of Real Estate Taxes and Insurance Premiums, and an administrative charge payable to Landlord in an amount not to exceed ten percent (10%) of all of the foregoing costs and expenses.
- 1.3 <u>Commencement Date</u>. The term "<u>Commencement Date</u>" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Article 5 hereof.
- 1.4 <u>Common Areas</u>. The term "Common Areas" shall mean all portions of the Property except for the Freestanding Building, which may include (if provided), but shall not be limited to, parking areas, driveways, truckways, delivery passages, truck loading areas, access and egress roads, walkways, sidewalks, pedestrian malls (covered or open), courts, corridors, and landscaping.

1.5 <u>Common Area Maintenance Costs</u>. Intentionally deleted

- 1.6 <u>Delivery Date</u>. The term "<u>Delivery Date</u>" shall mean the date the Freestanding Building (as defined in Article 1.10) is substantially completed (as defined in Section II of Exhibit C) and delivered to Tenant in such condition that Tenant can commence installation of Tenant's Work (as defined in Section 4.1).
- 1.7 <u>Effective Date</u>. The term "<u>Effective Date</u>" shall mean the date when both Landlord and Tenant have executed this Lease, which shall be filled in by the last party to execute this Lease on the signature page hereto.
- **1.8** Extension Term. The word "Extension Term" shall mean the three (3) additional, consecutive five (5) year terms by which Tenant has an option to extend this Lease as provided in Section 6.2 hereof.

1.9 Gross Income. Intentionally deleted.

1.10 <u>Gross Leasable Area</u>. The term "<u>Gross Leasable Area</u>" shall mean the floor area within the exterior surface of the outer glass or outer wall, as the case may be, enclosing

the free-standing building located within the Leased Premises (the "Freestanding Building"), and shall be determined by measuring the floor area of the Freestanding Building from the exterior face of each side of the Freestanding Building to the exterior face of the opposite sides of the Freestanding Building. No floor or other area outside the boundaries stated in the preceding sentence shall be included in the floor area of the Freestanding Building. The parties acknowledge and agree that the Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building shall be based on the foregoing measurement methodology, and is anticipated to be approximately five thousand (5,000) square feet. The Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building may be more or less than five thousand (5,000) square feet as a result of minor variations resulting from actual construction and completion for occupancy. Once Landlord has determined the precise Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building, it shall confirm the adjusted Gross Leasable Area and Base Rent, all of which are dependent on the actual amount of floor area covered or to be covered by this Lease, and this Lease shall be deemed amended upon such determination to change the Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building and Base Rent to the amounts consistent with the actual Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building. amendment to this Lease of the Gross Leasable Area that exceeds 500 square feet shall require written approval of Tenant.

- 1.11 <u>Insurance Premiums</u>. The term "<u>Insurance Premiums</u>" shall mean the aggregate amount of all premiums, fees, charges, and other costs or expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with providing the insurance for the Leased Premises required by Section 11.1 hereof.
- 1.12 <u>Lease Month</u>. The term "<u>Lease Month</u>" shall mean any calendar month during a Lease Year.
- 1.13 <u>Lease Year</u>. The term "<u>Lease Year</u>" shall mean each successive twelve (12) month period, commencing on the Commencement Date, throughout the Term of this Lease, plus any additional period of time that may be required to be added in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.1 hereof.

1.14 Lease Year Break Point. Intentionally deleted.

- 1.15 <u>Leased Premises</u>. The term "<u>Leased Premises</u>" shall mean the Property (as defined in Article 1.21), the Freestanding Building, the parking areas, drive aisles, sidewalks, drainage systems (including water quality and detention), landscaping, pylon signage, and any and all other site improvements constructed within the exterior boundaries of the Property. The Freestanding Building shall be located in and be a part of the Leased Premises in the location shown on the Site Plan (as defined in Article 1.26).
- 1.16 Partial Lease Month. The term "Partial Lease Month" shall mean either: (i) the period beginning on the first (1st) day of the Primary Term (if such day is not the first (1st) day of a calendar month) and ending on the last day of such calendar month, subject to the provisions of Section 6.1; or (ii) the period beginning on the first (1st) day of the last calendar month occurring during the Term, and ending on the last day of the Term (if such day is not the last day of a calendar month).

2

- 1.17 <u>Partial Lease Year</u>. The term "<u>Partial Lease Year</u>" shall mean either: (i) the period of time by which the first (1st) Lease Year of the Primary Term exceeds three hundred sixty-five (365) days as a result of the provisions of Section 6.1 hereof; or (ii) the period beginning on the first (1st) day of the final Lease Year and ending on the last day of the Term (if such date does not coincide with the end of a Lease Year).
 - 1.18 Partial Lease Year Break Point. Intentionally deleted.
 - 1.19 Percentage Rent. Intentionally deleted.
- 1.20 <u>Primary Term</u>. The term "<u>Primary Term</u>" shall mean the initial twelve (12) year term of this Lease.
- 1.21 <u>Property</u>. The term "<u>Property</u>" shall mean the property located at 4337 50th St., Lubbock, Texas, which Property is more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto.

1.22 **Pro Rata Share.** Intentionally deleted

- 1.23 Real Estate Taxes. The term "Real Estate Taxes" shall mean any and all real property and/or ad valorem taxes, general, special or extraordinary assessments, maintenance fees, municipal utility district or other public, quasi-public or private fees, charges or assessments and any other taxes, assessments, charges or levies of every kind or character (including any lease, rent or occupancy tax) now or hereafter applicable to the Leased Premises, but excluding any income or profit taxes of Landlord. Real Estate Taxes shall also include the costs incurred by Landlord to contest, review or negotiate any tax or assessment applicable to the Property.
- 1.24 <u>Rent</u>. The term "<u>Rent</u>" shall mean the total of all payments to be made by Tenant hereunder including, but not limited to, Base Rent, Charges and all other sums specified herein to be additional rent.
- 1.25 <u>Restrictions</u>. The term "<u>Restrictions</u>" shall mean the restrictions of record recorded in the Official Public Records of Real Property of Lubbock County, Texas, as of the Effective Date. Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that this Lease is subject to the Restrictions. Subject to the Restrictions, Tenant shall have full use and enjoyment of the Leased Premises, including all parking spaces included within the Property, and shall have the exclusive right to establish reasonable rules and regulations for the use of such parking areas.
- 1.26 <u>Site Plan</u>. The term "<u>Site Plan</u>" shall mean the proposed plan for the development of the Leased Premises as set forth on Exhibit "B" attached hereto. It is understood and agreed that the Site Plan is preliminary in nature and subject to modification, but no such modification shall materially and adversely affect the location or visibility of the Freestanding Building without Tenant's written consent.
- 1.27 <u>Term.</u> The word "<u>Term</u>" of this Lease shall mean the Primary Term of this Lease together with any Extension Term(s) of this Lease.

3

1.28 <u>Work Letter</u>. The term "<u>Work Letter</u>" shall mean that certain Work Letter attached hereto as Exhibit "C" which shall govern the construction and improvement of the Leased Premises.

ARTICLE 2 DEMISE OF LEASED PREMISES

For and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Landlord does hereby demise and lease unto Tenant, and Tenant does hereby lease from Landlord, the Leased Premises, upon the terms, conditions and provisions hereinafter set forth. Provided, however, Tenant acknowledges that Landlord does not currently own the Property but has the right to purchase the property pursuant to that certain Commercial Contract-Unimproved Property (the "Purchase Agreement") by and between Landlord, as Buyer, and EMIC Properties, as Seller. In the event that the Landlord does not close on its acquisition of the Property by April 30, 2016 (herein, the "Outside Acquisition Date"), either Tenant or Landlord may, as their sole and exclusive remedy, terminate the Lease upon written notice to the other given within thirty (30) days after the Outside Acquisition Date. Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that Landlord is not a "referring physician" or a "referral source" as to Tenant for services paid for by Medicare or a state health care program, as the terms are defined under any federal or state health care anti-referral or anti-kickback, regulation, interpretation or opinion, and there are no referring physicians who are owners of any interest in Landlord, and that if there are is a change(s) to the foregoing conditions which affect Landlord, Landlord shall provide Tenant with written notice within ten (10) days of such change(s).

ARTICLE 3 USE AND OCCUPANCY

- 3.1 <u>Use and Name</u>. Tenant agrees that the Leased Premises are to be used solely and for the operation of a freestanding emergency medical care facility and other health care related functions permitted by the Restrictions and applicable law (the "<u>Permitted Use</u>"), and Tenant shall not use or permit the use of the Leased Premises for any other purpose without first obtaining the written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant's Permitted Use shall be subject to the Restrictions. The name under which Tenant's business is to be conducted at the Leased Premises shall be "Neighbors Emergency Center," and Tenant shall not conduct its business at the Leased Premises under any other name without Landlord's prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- Tenant covenants that it shall conduct its business in the Leased Premises with due diligence and without interruption. No interruption of Tenant's business by reason of strikes, walkouts, fire or other damage, enemy action, civil commotion, inability to obtain labor or materials or similar causes beyond Tenant's reasonable control shall constitute a default within the meaning of this Section. Tenant shall, except during reasonable periods for repairing, cleaning and decorating, keep the Leased Premises open to the public for business with adequate and competent personnel

in attendance on all days and during all hours (including evenings) as is customary for the Permitted Use, except to the extent Tenant may be prohibited from being open for business by applicable law, ordinance or governmental regulation.

- 3.3 Quiet Possession. So long as Tenant is not in default hereunder, Landlord shall place Tenant in quiet possession of the Leased Premises throughout the Term hereof, and shall secure Tenant in the quiet possession thereof against all persons lawfully claiming the same during the entire Term of this Lease.
- 3.4 <u>Waste and Nuisance</u>. Tenant shall not commit, or suffer to be committed, any waste upon the Leased Premises, nor shall Tenant maintain, commit or permit the maintenance or commission of any unreasonable disturbance of others or public nuisance from or upon the Leased Premises. In addition, Tenant shall take appropriate steps to prevent its operations from clogging the utility lines serving the Leased Premises.
- Compliance. The Leased Premises shall be delivered to Tenant in compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, orders and regulations, including, but not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act. Subject to the preceding sentence, Tenant shall comply, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, with all existing and future laws, ordinances, orders and regulations affecting Tenant's use and occupancy of the Leased Premises and the cleanliness, safety or operation thereof. Tenant shall not use or occupy the Leased Premises for any purpose or in any manner which shall violate applicable law or any of the terms and provisions of this Lease or any instrument of record affecting the Leased Premises as of the Effective Date hereof, and Tenant shall be responsible at Tenant's sole risk and expense to obtain any and all permits or licenses required for the operation of its business. Tenant agrees to comply with the regulations and requirements of any insurance underwriter, inspection bureau or similar agency with respect to the Leased Premises, and to permit Landlord to comply with such regulations and requirements with respect to that portion of the Leased Premises comprising Landlord's Work. Tenant agrees not to: (i) permit any illegal practice to be carried on or committed on the Leased Premises; (ii) make use of or allow the Leased Premises to be used for any purpose other than that permitted under Section 3.1 hereof or that might invalidate or increase the rate of insurance therefor; (iii) keep or use or permit to be kept or used on the Leased Premises any flammable fluids, gases, explosives or other hazardous materials except in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations; (iv) deface or injure the Freestanding Building of the Leased Premises or the Property; or (v) overload the floor, roof, structural, mechanical, electrical or plumbing systems.

3.6 Environmental Matters.

(a) <u>Definitions</u>. As used herein, "<u>Environmental Waste</u>" shall mean any substance, material, or waste that is regulated by any federal, state, or local governmental or quasi-governmental authority because of its toxicity, infectiousness, radioactivity, explosiveness, ignitability, corrosiveness, or reactivity; and "<u>Environmental Requirements</u>" shall mean all legal requirements relating to industrial hygiene, protection of human health, hazard communication, employees' right-to-know, environmental protection, or the use, handling, storage, disposal, control, transportation, or emission of any Environmental Waste.

- (b) Restrictions on Environmental Wastes. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that Tenant shall not cause or knowingly permit any Environmental Waste to be brought upon, generated, produced, kept, or used in or about the Leased Premises by Tenant or any of Tenant's employees, agents, officers, directors, invitees, or licensees, except such Environmental Waste that is used on the Leased Premises in the ordinary course of Tenant's business (and such business is one or more of the Permitted Uses), and provided Tenant complies with all Environmental Requirements in connection with such activities.
- (c) <u>Notices</u>. Tenant shall promptly deliver to Landlord copies of any reports made to or received from any governmental entity arising out of or relating to any Environmental Waste on or from the Leased Premises, including without limitation, any emergency plans or inventories of Environmental Wastes submitted to any such governmental entity pursuant to any Environmental Requirement and copies of all hazardous waste manifests reflecting the disposal of all Environmental Wastes removed by Tenant from the Leased Premises. If at any time Tenant shall become aware or have reasonable cause to believe that any Environmental Waste, other than those already known by Landlord or permitted under this Lease, have come to be located in or about the Leased Premises, or that any known Environmental Wastes have been or may be released into the environment, Tenant shall immediately give notice thereof to Landlord.
- (d) <u>Compliance with Environmental Requirements</u>. Tenant shall at its expense fully comply with all applicable Environmental Requirements and prudent industry practices. Except as discharged into the sanitary sewer in compliance with all applicable Environmental Requirements, Tenant shall cause all Environmental Wastes removed from the Leased Premises to be removed and transported solely by duly licensed haulers to duly licensed facilities for final disposal and shall provide Landlord with evidence of such property disposal, including without limitation, all manifests (which manifests shall list Tenant as the generator of all such Environmental Wastes). Upon expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall cause to be removed from the Leased Premises, all Environmental Wastes that Tenant or any employee, officer, director, agent, licensee, or invitee of Tenant caused or permitted to be located there.
- (e) <u>Tenant's Responsibility for Environmental Wastes</u>. Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all claims, liabilities, penalties fines, judgments, forfeitures, losses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys' fees, consultant fees, expert fees, and costs) arising out of or in connection with the removal, storage, transportation and disposal of Environmental Waste brought upon, generated, produced, kept, or used in or about the Leased Premises by Tenant or any of Tenant's employees, agents, officers, directors, invitees, or licensees (collectively, "<u>Tenant's Waste</u>"); the Tenant's failure to comply with any and all Environmental Requirements in connection with Environmental Waste used in or about the Leased Premises; any claims made by any of Tenant's employees, agents, officers, directors, licensees or invitees arising out of the presence, removal, storage or transportation of Tenant's Waste on or from the Leased Premises; and Tenant's use, analysis, storage, transportation, disposal, release, threatened release, discharge or generation of any Environmental Wastes in, on under, to about or from the Leased Premises.

6

3.7 Access to Leased Premises. Throughout the Term of this Lease, upon reasonable notice to Tenant and subject to Tenant's right to have a Tenant representative present at all times and during Tenant's normal business hours (but at times that do not unduly interfere with Tenant's business), except in an bona fide emergency situation during which Landlord or its agents or contractors may enter the Leased Premises without notice at any time, Landlord or its agents or contractors may enter the Leased Premises for the purposes of: (i) inspecting same for compliance with Tenant's obligations hereunder; (ii) performing any obligations of Landlord; and (iii) displaying the Leased Premises to prospective purchasers, mortgagees, or, during the last six (6) months of the Term, prospective tenants. Unless Tenant is in Default (as hereinafter defined), Landlord's uses or activities pursuant to this Section 3.7 shall be conducted in a manner not to unreasonably interfere with Tenant's use and enjoyment of the Leased Premises. In no event shall Landlord, its agents or employees have access to any patient medical records or other "protected health information" (as such term is defined in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended) stored or maintained at the Leased Premises. Landlord and Landlord's agents and contractors shall conduct the foregoing activities in a manner reasonably calculated to minimize interference with Tenant's ongoing patient care activities at the Leased Premises.

ARTICLE 4 ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION

- 4.1 <u>Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work</u>. Landlord agrees, at its sole cost and expense, to perform "Landlord's Work" (as defined in the Work Letter) in the construction of the Leased Premises substantially in accordance with the Work Letter. All work in or upon the Leased Premises other than the Landlord's Work is to be performed by Tenant at Tenant's sole cost and expense (such work being hereinafter called "<u>Tenant's Work</u>") as described in the Work Letter. Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work shall in all respects be governed by and performed in accordance with the Work Letter.
- Acceptance of Leased Premises. 4.2 Except for the performance of Landlord's Work as set forth in the Work Letter and other terms and conditions of this Lease, Tenant will accept the Leased Premises in their "AS IS, WHERE IS" conditions, with all faults, and agrees that, except as specifically provided to the contrary in this Lease, Landlord shall have no obligation to perform any work in or about the Leased Premises. Tenant shall have a period of thirty (30) days following the Delivery Date to provide Landlord with a list (the "Punch List") setting forth in detail any defects with respect to Landlord's Work in or about the Leased Premises. In the event Tenant shall fail to deliver such Punch List to Landlord within said thirty (30) day period, Tenant shall be deemed to have accepted Landlord's Work. If Tenant shall deliver such Punch List to Landlord within said 30-day period, then Landlord shall be obligated within a reasonable amount of time to cure any defects relating to such Punch List. Within ten (10) business days of (i) Landlord's cure of the defects, if any, specified in Tenant's notice, (ii) the determination of the Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building as provided for herein, and (iii) Landlord's delivery of an Acceptance Letter in substantially the form of Exhibit "D" attached hereto with all true factual information inserted, and a written request from Landlord for Tenant to execute said letter, Tenant shall execute and deliver said letter to Landlord.

- 4.3 Services. As part of Landlord's Work, Landlord shall cause the necessary mains, conduits and other facilities to be provided to make water, sanitary sewer, drainage systems (including water quality and detention) phone, conduit for data, refuse collection, natural gas, and electricity available to the Leased Premises, including, to the extent applicable, the Freestanding Building. The foregoing provisions shall not require that Landlord pay any utility or other deposits or charges of any kind or nature on behalf of Tenant for utility services used in the Leased Premises. The parties shall cause all such services to be separately metered to the Leased Premises. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant in damages or otherwise if the said utilities or services are interrupted or terminated because of necessary repairs, installations or improvements, or any cause beyond Landlord's reasonable control, nor shall any such interruption or termination relieve Tenant of the performance of any of its obligations hereunder. No interruption shall be construed as either a constructive or actual eviction of Tenant or cause any abatement of Rent unless due to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the interruption or termination in utilities results from Landlord's negligence and materially interferes with Tenant's use of the Leased Premises for a period of three (3) consecutive working days, Rent shall equitably abate during the period following such three (3) working days that the interruption or termination in utilities continues to materially interfere with Tenant's use of the Leased Premises.
- 4.4 <u>Insurance During Construction</u>. Tenant agrees, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, to obtain and maintain (or cause to be obtained and maintained) public liability and property damage insurance and worker's compensation insurance adequate to fully protect Landlord, as well as Tenant, from and against any and all liability for death of or injury to person or damage to property caused in or about or by reason of the construction of Tenant's Work. The public liability insurance to be maintained by Tenant shall be in at least the amount of \$1 million per occurrence and \$2 million in the aggregate.
- 4.5 <u>Construction</u>. In the event Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work shall progress simultaneously, Landlord shall not be liable for any injury to person or damage to property of Tenant, or of Tenant's employees, licensees, agents, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers or invitees from any cause whatsoever occurring upon or about the Leased Premises, except the negligence, illegal conduct or willful misconduct of Landlord or its agents or employees, and Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any and all liability and claims arising out of or connected with any such injury or damage unless such liability is the result of Landlord's negligence, illegal conduct or willful misconduct, or that of its agents or employees.

ARTICLE 5 COMMENCEMENT DATE

Tenant's obligation to pay Rent shall commence on the date (hereinafter called the "<u>Commencement Date</u>") which is the earlier of: (a) one hundred and fifty (150) days after the Delivery Date, or (b) the date Tenant opens for business in the Freestanding Building. Landlord and Tenant agree to execute a Confirmation of the Commencement Date in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit "E" within ten (10) business days after (i) the Commencement Date is established, (ii) Landlord's delivery to Tenant of Confirmation of the Commencement Date in

substantially the form of Exhibit "E" attached hereto with all true factual information inserted, and (iii) a written request from Landlord for Tenant to execute said letter.

ARTICLE 6 TERM

- Effective Date and shall end on the last day of the one hundred forty-fourth (144th) full calendar month after the Commencement Date, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions hereof; provided, however, that, if the Commencement Date is a day other than the first (1st) day of a calendar month, then the first (1st) Lease Year shall begin on the Commencement Date and end on the last day of the month following the expiration of twelve (12) months after the Commencement Date, each subsequent Lease Year shall begin on the first day of the month following the end of the preceding Lease Year and continue for the next consecutive twelve month period, and the Primary Term shall continue until the last day of the month following the expiration of one hundred forty-four (144) full calendar months after the Commencement Date.
- term, covenant, or condition contained in this Lease when exercising an "Extension Option," as defined below, Tenant shall have three (3) successive options (each such option is individually called an "Extension Option") to extend this Lease for additional periods of five (5) years each (each such term is individually called an "Extension Term") on the same terms and conditions as provided herein; provided, however, that the Base Rent payable during each Extension Term shall be as provided in Section 7.1 (c) hereof. In order to exercise an Extension Option, Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing of Tenant's intention to extend not more than one (1) year nor less than six (6) months prior to the end of the Primary Term (or the then expiring Extension Term, if any, as the case may be) of this Lease. Time is of the essence. In the event that Tenant fails to provide written notice to Landlord of Tenant's exercise of an Extension Option within the time period specified above, the Extension Option (and all subsequent Extension Options) shall automatically terminate and Tenant shall be deemed to have irrevocably waived such Extension Options.
- 6.3 <u>Holdover</u>. If Tenant shall remain in possession of the Leased Premises after the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, then Tenant shall be a tenant at will, terminable at any time, and shall be liable for 150% of the Base Rent in effect at the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, and shall be subject to all of the other obligations of Tenant under this Lease. Additionally, Tenant shall pay to Landlord all actual damages sustained by Landlord on account of such holding over by Tenant. Nothing contained in the foregoing, however, shall be construed as the consent to any holding over by Landlord.

ARTICLE 7 BASE RENT AND ADDITIONAL RENT

7.1 <u>Base Rent</u>. Tenant does hereby covenant and agree to pay a fixed minimum rental (hereinafter called "<u>Base Rent</u>") to Landlord, without notice, counterclaim or (except as specifically provided herein to the contrary) offset, for the use and occupancy of the Leased Premises, at the times and in the manner hereinafter provided, as follows:

- (a) During the Primary Term of this Lease, Tenant shall pay Landlord Base Rent in the following amounts, subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10 and 7.1(b):
- (b) The Rent Schedule below shows estimated increases. The Rent Increases shall be equal to a 2% increase per year.

Primary Term

| | Rent Per Sq Ft | Annual Rent | Monthly Rent |
|---------------|----------------|--------------|---------------------|
| Lease Year 1 | \$81.18 | \$407,924.00 | \$33,993.00 |
| Lease Year 2 | \$82.80 | \$416,082.00 | \$34,673.00 |
| Lease Year 3 | \$84.46 | \$424,404.00 | \$35,367.00 |
| Lease Year 4 | \$86.15 | \$432,892.00 | \$36,074.00 |
| Lease Year 5 | \$87.87 | \$441,550.00 | \$36,795.00 |
| Lease Year 6 | \$89.63 | \$450,381.00 | \$37,531.00 |
| Lease Year 7 | \$91.42 | \$459,389.00 | \$38,282.00 |
| Lease Year 8 | \$93.25 | \$468,576.00 | \$39,048.00 |
| Lease Year 9 | \$95.12 | \$477,948.00 | \$39,828.00 |
| Lease Year 10 | \$97.02 | \$487,507.00 | \$40,625.00 |
| Lease Year 11 | \$98.96 | \$497,257.00 | \$41,438.00 |
| Lease Year 12 | \$100.94 | \$507,202.00 | \$42,266.00 |

(c) During Extension Term(s) of this Lease, if so exercised by Tenant as provided herein, Tenant shall pay Landlord Base Rent in the following amounts, subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10 and 7.1(b):

Extension Terms

| | Per Sq Ft | Annual Rent | Monthly Rent |
|---------------|-----------|--------------------|---------------------|
| Lease Year 13 | \$102.96 | \$517,346.00 | \$43,112.00 |
| Lease Year 14 | \$105.01 | \$527,693.00 | \$43,974.00 |
| Lease Year 15 | \$107.12 | \$538,247.00 | \$44,853.00 |
| Lease Year 16 | \$109.26 | \$549,012.00 | \$45,750.00 |
| Lease Year 17 | \$111.44 | \$559,992.00 | \$46,666.00 |
| Lease Year 18 | \$113.67 | \$571,192.00 | \$47,599.00 |
| Lease Year 19 | \$115.95 | \$582,616.00 | \$48,551.00 |
| Lease Year 20 | \$118.26 | \$594,268.00 | \$49,522.00 |
| Lease Year 21 | \$120.63 | \$606,154.00 | \$50,512.00 |
| Lease Year 22 | \$123.04 | \$618,277.00 | \$51,523.00 |
| Lease Year 23 | \$125.50 | \$630,642.00 | \$52,553.00 |
| Lease Year 24 | \$128.01 | \$643,255.00 | \$53,604.00 |
| Lease Year 25 | \$130.57 | \$656,120.00 | \$54,676.00 |
| Lease Year 26 | \$133.18 | \$669,243.00 | \$55,770.00 |
| Lease Year 27 | \$135.85 | \$682,627.00 | \$56,885.00 |

- (d) Base Rent shall be payable in monthly installments, with the first monthly installment due on or before the Commencement Date, and subsequent installments of Base Rent shall be due and payable on or before the first day of each succeeding calendar month during the Term; provided that if the Commencement Date is a day other than the first day of a calendar month, Tenant shall pay a prorated amount of Base Rent on or before the Commencement Date for such Partial Lease Month based upon the number of days from the Commencement Date to the end of the calendar month and the actual number of days in the calendar month. Contemporaneously with the execution of this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the Base Rent for the first (1st) full month of the Primary Term in the amount of \$33,993.00.
- Charges. In addition to the Base Rent described in Section 7.1 hereof and all other sums to be paid by Tenant hereunder, Tenant does hereby covenant and agree to pay to Landlord, as additional rent hereunder, all Charges for the Leased Premises. On or before the Commencement Date, Landlord shall provide Tenant a good faith estimate of the Charges to be paid monthly by Tenant through the end of the then current calendar year. Likewise, prior to the beginning of each calendar year, Landlord shall furnish to Tenant a good faith estimate of the annual Charges for such calendar year, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord, along with its monthly installments of Base Rent, one-twelfth (1/12th) of such estimated Charges. The first monthly installment of Charges shall be due and payable on or before the Commencement Date, and subsequent installments of Charges shall be due and payable on or before the first day of each succeeding calendar month during the Term; provided that if the Commencement Date is a day other than the first day of a calendar month, Tenant shall pay a prorated amount of Charges on or before the Commencement Date for such Partial Lease Month based upon the number of days from the Commencement Date to the end of the calendar month and the actual number of days in such calendar month. Within one hundred twenty (120) days following the end of each calendar year, Landlord shall determine the amount of the actual Charges for such year and shall furnish to Tenant an itemization thereof, and Landlord and Tenant shall make any payments or adjustments necessary to reconcile the estimated Charges with the actual Charges within thirty (30) days thereafter. Landlord and Tenant hereby each acknowledge and agree that they are knowledgeable and experienced in commercial transactions and further hereby acknowledge and agree that the provisions of this Lease for determining Charges are commercially reasonable and valid even though such methods may not state precise mathematical formulae for determining such Charges.
- 7.3 <u>Utilities</u>. Tenant shall arrange for and during the Term hereof pay all charges for telephone, gas, electricity, water, and all other utilities or services used in, on or about the Leased Premises by Tenant, and for the removal of rubbish therefrom before they shall become delinquent, and shall hold Landlord harmless from any liability therefor. Tenant shall, at its sole cost, separately meter all utilities utilized by Tenant serving the Leased Premises.
- 7.4 Payment of Rent. All Rent payable by Tenant to Landlord shall be paid in lawful money of the United States of America, without any deduction or (except as specifically

provided herein to the contrary) offset whatsoever and without prior notice or demand, and at such place or places as may be designated from time-to-time by Landlord.

7.5 Late Charges. Should Tenant fail to pay to Landlord when due any payment of Rent or other charges provided hereunder, Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord, in addition to such Rent or other charges, an administrative charge equal to the greater of (a) \$250.00 or (b) five percent (5%) of the Rent or other charges then due to defray the additional costs that Landlord will incur in handling the late payment, plus interest at the rate of 1% per month, such interest to accrue continuously on any unpaid amount due to Landlord by Tenant during the period from the date due until the date paid. Any late charge or interest payment shall be payable as additional rent under this Lease, and shall be payable immediately on demand. Provided, however, Landlord agrees not to impose a late charge or interest the first (1st) two (2) instances in a calendar year when the payment is made within five (5) days of its due date. If any Rent or other charges due hereunder are paid by check which is returned unpaid, Tenant's payment shall not be considered received until Landlord receives good funds; moreover, Tenant shall, in addition to the late charge and interest due above, pay an additional fee equal to the amount charged to Landlord by its bank to compensate Landlord for its expense and effort in connection with the dishonored check.

ARTICLE 8 PERCENTAGE RENT

- 8.1 <u>Determination of Percentage Rent.</u> Intentionally deleted.
- 8.2 <u>Books and Records of Tenant</u>. Intentionally deleted.
- 8.3 <u>Landlord's Right to Audit</u>. Intentionally deleted.
- **8.4** Relationship of Landlord and Tenant. The provisions herein set forth are not intended, nor shall the same be deemed or construed, to create a partnership between Landlord and Tenant, to make them joint venturers, nor to make Landlord in any way responsible for the debts or obligations of Tenant.

ARTICLE 9 REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

- 9.1 <u>Landlord's Obligations</u>. Landlord shall have πο obligation to maintain or repair the Leased Premises.
- Premises and keep the Leased Premises in good condition and repair and in substantially the same condition as exists upon the completion of Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work, ordinary wear and tear excepted. Tenant's maintenance and repair obligations shall include, but are not be limited to, the maintenance and repair of the interior and exterior of the Freestanding Building including, but not limited to, the foundations, private utility lines utilized by Tenant serving the Leased Premises that are located outside of the Freestanding Building and connections thereof to

the Freestanding Building, structural systems (including, without limitation, the roof structure, roof covering, load-bearing walls and floor slabs), building exterior and masonry walls, any and all doors, windows and window casements, glazing, heating and air conditioning systems, and plumbing, pipes, electrical wiring, and conduits within the Freestanding Building, subject to any warranties assigned to Tenant pursuant to the Work Letter which are in effect covering any such maintenance and repair of any of the foregoing. Tenant shall keep the Leased Premises at all times in a clean, tenantable condition and shall not permit any garbage, rubbish, refuse of any kind to accumulate in or about the Leased Premises. Tenant shall take precautions to make certain trash from its business does not obstruct the sewer lines. Further, Tenant shall at all times maintain the Common Areas and Property Sign (as such term is defined in Article 15 herein) in a first class condition and appearance.

ARTICLE 10 ALTERATIONS

Alterations. Tenant shall not make any alterations in any portion of the Leased Premises, including, without limitation, roof penetrations, without, in each instance, first obtaining the written consent of Landlord, which may be given or withheld in Landlord's sole discretion. Landlord may condition its approval of roof penetrations on Tenant's use, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, of Landlord's roof contractor. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Tenant shall have the right at any time and from time to time during the Term to make any alterations, additions or improvements to the interior portions of the Freestanding Building (so long as such alterations, additions or improvements do not affect the structural systems of the Freestanding Building or the mechanical, electrical, plumbing or HVAC systems) as Tenant deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the requirements of Tenant's business, without the necessity of obtaining the prior written consent of Landlord. All alterations, additions or improvements shall be accomplished at Tenant's sole cost and expense, in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with the provisions of this Lease and all applicable laws. Following Tenant's completion of any alterations, additions or improvements requiring the approval of Landlord, Tenant shall deliver any final plans and specifications received by Tenant in connection with any such alterations, additions or improvements to Landlord if requested in writing by Landlord. All alterations, additions, and improvements provided for herein shall become, except as otherwise provided, upon termination of this Lease, the property of Landlord, subject to the terms of this Lease.

Morkmanship. Any alterations to the Leased Premises shall conform in material and workmanship to that of the original construction of the Leased Premises and shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner. All such work, upon completion thereof, shall become a part of the Leased Premises. Alterations requiring building permits shall be performed pursuant to plans and specifications prepared by a duly licensed architect or engineer and shall be done pursuant to a validly issued building permit and in conformity with all applicable laws, codes and ordinances. Any construction or alteration of the Leased Premises shall not injure or adversely affect the value of the Leased Premises.

ARTICLE 11 INSURANCE

- 11.1 <u>Landlord's Insurance</u>. Landlord may procure and maintain throughout the Term of this Lease full and adequate insurance for the Property that Landlord, in its reasonable discretion, considers appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, Landlord shall procure and maintain and recover as a part of the Charges payable by Tenant, insurance of the following character:
- (a) Insurance against loss by fire, lightning and other casualties and risks customarily covered by all risk coverage endorsement in amounts not less than the "full insurable value" of all buildings and other improvements constituting a part of the Property. The term "full insurable value" as used herein means the then current value for actual replacement costs, including cost of debris removal. Such policy of insurance shall be endorsed so as to provide loss of rental income coverage to Landlord, including all Rent and additional rent payable by all tenants of the Property, for a period of not less than one (1) year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall only be required to maintain flood and/or earthquake insurance with respect to the Property if Landlord's lender requires that such insurance be maintained.
- (b) Worker's Compensation Insurance in compliance with applicable local Worker's Compensation laws.
- 11.2 <u>Tenant's Insurance</u>. Tenant shall at all times during the Term of this Lease, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, maintain full and adequate insurance for the operation of Tenant's business in the Leased Premises including, but not limited to, insurance of the following character:
- (a) Coverage for fire and windstorm with additional coverage as provided by an all risk endorsement on all of Tenant's alterations, additions, improvements, fixtures, furnishings, inventory, equipment, signs, and personal property located at the Leased Premises in amounts not less than the "full insurable value" thereof.
- (b) Commercial general liability insurance with broad form endorsement covering the legal liability of Landlord and Tenant, including, without limitation (if Tenant serves alcoholic beverages on the Leased Premises), liability resulting from the sale or giving away or consumption of alcoholic beverages on the Leased Premises, against claims for bodily injury, death, or property damage occurring on, in, or about the Leased Premises in the minimum amounts of \$1,000,000.00 combined single limit with respect to one occurrence and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate, and \$250,000.00 for all claims for property damage with respect to any one occurrence and \$500,000.00 in the aggregate.
- (c) Worker's Compensation Insurance in compliance with applicable local Worker's Compensation laws.
- 11.3 <u>Insurance Carriers</u>. Tenant's insurance shall be written by companies of recognized financial standing which are well rated by national rating organizations and are legally

qualified to issue such policies of insurance in the State where the Property is located, and shall name as the insured parties: (i) Landlord as an insured or additional insured under all liability insurance policies; (ii) any mortgagee of Landlord holding a lien or security interest against this Lease under standard mortgagee's endorsements; and (iii) Tenant as its interest may appear. Tenant's insurance policies shall be primary and noncontributing, with the policies of Landlord and Landlord's mortgagees being excess, secondary and noncontributing.

11.4 <u>Cancellation</u>; <u>Certificates of Insurance</u>. Every policy of insurance required hereunder shall provide that at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of cancellation shall be given to Landlord and any mortgagee of Landlord and shall not be invalidated by any act or neglect of Landlord or Tenant or any owner of the Property or any interest therein, nor by any foreclosure or any other proceedings or notices thereof relating to the Property or any interest therein, nor by any change in the title or ownership of the Property or interests therein. Tenant shall promptly deliver to Landlord certificates of insurance evidencing all the insurance which is required to be maintained by Tenant hereunder and Tenant shall, within thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of any such insurance, deliver other original or duplicate policies or certificates of insurance evidencing the renewal of such insurance. If Tenant fails to comply with the foregoing requirements relating to insurance, Landlord may obtain such insurance and Tenant shall pay to Landlord on demand as additional rent hereunder the premium cost thereof plus interest at the maximum contractual rate (but in no event to exceed 1-1/2% per month) from the date of payment by Landlord until repaid by Tenant.

ARTICLE 12 INDEMNIFICATION AND WAIVERS

Indemnification. TENANT COVENANTS THAT LANDLORD SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGE OR LIABILITY OF ANY KIND OR FOR ANY INJURY TO OR DEATH OF PERSONS OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY OF TENANT OR ANY OTHER PERSON DURING THE TERM OF THIS LEASE, CAUSED BY OR RESULTING DIRECTLY FROM THE CONSTRUCTION, USE, OCCUPANCY, OR ENJOYMENT OF THE LEASED PREMISES BY TENANT INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, DAMAGE OR LIABILITY OF ANY KIND OR FOR ANY INJURY TO OR DEATH OF PERSONS OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY OF TENANT RESULTING FROM THE SECURITY PROVIDED BY LANDLORD OR LANDLORD'S FAILURE TO PROVIDE SECURITY AT THE LEASED PREMISES, EXCEPT IN THE EVENT OF LANDLORD'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE, ILLEGAL CONDUCT OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT. TENANT HEREBY AGREES TO INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND HOLD LANDLORD HARMLESS FROM ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, ACTIONS, DEMANDS, SUITS, LOSSES, COSTS, EXPENSES, AND LIABILITIES WHATSOEVER, **INCLUDING REASONABLE** ATTORNEY'S FEES AND EXPENSES OF LITIGATION, ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH REAL OR CLAIMED DAMAGE OR LIABILITY, AND FROM ALL LIENS, CLAIMS, AND DEMANDS OCCURRING IN OR ON THE LEASED PREMISES, OR ARISING OUT OF THE CONSTRUCTION, USE, OCCUPANCY, OR ENJOYMENT OF THE LEASED PREMISES. OR ANY REPAIRS OR ALTERATIONS WHICH TENANT MAY MAKE UPON THE LEASED PREMISES, OR OCCASIONED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY ANY ACT OR OMISSION OF TENANT, ITS AGENTS, CONTRACTORS, SERVANTS OR EMPLOYEES,

EXCEPT IN THE EVENT OF LANDLORD'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE, ILLEGAL CONDUCT, OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT. TENANT'S INDEMNIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION IN NO WAY LIMIT TENANT'S RIGHTS OR REMEDIES DUE TO A DEFAULT BY LANDLORD UNDER THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE. THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SUBSECTION SHALL SURVIVE THE EXPIRATION OR SOONER TERMINATION OF THIS LEASE.

Waivers of Recovery And Subrogation. Landlord and Tenant hereby waive any rights each may have against the other on account of any loss or damage (INCLUDING LOSS OR DAMAGE RESULTING FROM NEGLIGENCE AND STRICT LIABILITY) occasioned to Landlord or Tenant arising from any risk covered by any policy of insurance covering the Leased Premises and/or the Property and maintained or required to be maintained (whether or not actually maintained) by either Landlord or Tenant in accordance with Article 11 hereof. Landlord and Tenant, on behalf of their respective insurance company or companies insuring the Leased Premises and the Property and any property located thereon, hereby waive any right of subrogation that they may have one against the other, and agree to cause their respective insurance policies to be endorsed so as to give full effect to the foregoing waivers.

ARTICLE 13 DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

13.1 Casualty.

- (a) If the Leased Premises or the Property are damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty, Tenant shall give prompt written notice thereof to Landlord.
- (b) If such damage was caused by a fire or other casualty covered by the insurance carried by Landlord, and such damage can be repaired within one hundred eighty (180) days from the commencement of repairs, then, subject to the following provisions of this Article 13, Landlord shall repair and restore the Leased Premises and the Property to substantially the same condition as existed at the time of such fire or other casualty. If the Leased Premises or the Property shall be damaged: (i) by fire or other casualty not covered by the insurance carried by Landlord; or (ii) to an extent that it cannot be repaired within one hundred eighty (180) days from the commencement of repairs, then either Landlord or Tenant shall have the option to terminate this Lease by so notifying the other party within thirty (30) days after Landlord's receipt of notice of such fire or other casualty. Failure to give notice within such thirty (30) day period shall be deemed an election not to terminate this Lease, and Landlord shall proceed to repair and restore the Leased Premises and the Property as aforesaid.
- 13.2 Abatement of Rent. The monthly installments of Base Rent and Charges required to be paid by Tenant pursuant to Sections 7.1 and 7.2 hereof shall be abated in proportion to the portions of the Leased Premises, if any, which are rendered untenantable by fire or other casualty covered by the insurance against loss by fire, lightning and other casualties and risks customarily covered by all risk coverage endorsement until repairs of the Leased Premises are completed, or if the Leased Premises are not repaired, until the termination date hereof. Other

than for such abatement, no damages, compensation, or claims shall be payable by Landlord for loss of the use of the whole or any part of the Leased Premises, Tenant's personal property, or any inconvenience, loss of business or annoyance arising from any repair and reconstruction. If the damage results from a cause not insured by insurance against loss by fire, lightning and other casualties and risks customarily covered by all risk coverage endorsement, Tenant shall not be entitled to any abatement or reduction of any Rent or other sums due hereunder. If this Lease is terminated as provided in Section 13.1(b) above, all Rent shall be apportioned and paid up to the termination date, any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination shall be refunded to Tenant, and the parties hereto shall have no further obligations hereunder. Landlord shall not be liable for the cost of the repair or replacement of any alterations, improvements, additions, fixtures, furniture, equipment, furnishings, or other personal property which Tenant is obligated to insure or which it may be entitled to remove from the Leased Premises pursuant to the terms hereof.

- 13.3 End of Term Casualty. Anything contained in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, Landlord shall have no obligation whatsoever to repair, reconstruct, or restore the Leased Premises when the damage resulting from any casualty covered under this Article occurs during the last twenty-four (24) months of the Primary Term or any Extension Term of this Lease, unless Tenant exercises an option to extend the Term of this Lease as provided in Section 6.2 hereof within thirty (30) days after such casualty. If Landlord elects not to repair, reconstruct or restore the Leased Premises, Tenant may, at its option, terminate this Lease, such termination to be effective as of the date of the fire or other casualty and any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination date shall be refunded to Tenant.
- 13.4 Consent of Mortgagee. Anything contained in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event any mortgagee of Landlord holding any lien or security interest in the Leased Premises for the performance of an obligation of Landlord shall not concur in the application of any insurance proceeds to the repair or reconstruction of the Leased Premises, Landlord shall not be obligated to repair or reconstruct the Leased Premises and may, at its option, terminate this Lease, such termination to be effective as of the date of the fire or other casualty and any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination date shall be refunded to Tenant.
- 13.5 Landlord's and Tenant's Obligations. Landlord's obligation to rebuild and repair under this Article 13 is limited to restoring one of the following (as may be applicable):

 (a) if this Lease does not include an attached exhibit describing Landlord's Work, restoring the Leased Premises to substantially the condition in which the same existed prior to such casualty, exclusive of any alterations, additions, improvements, fixtures, and equipment installed by Tenant; or (b) if this Lease includes an attached exhibit describing Landlord's Work, restoring Landlord's Work to substantially the same condition in which the same existed prior to the casualty. Tenant agrees that promptly after completion of such work by Landlord, Tenant will proceed with reasonable diligence and at Tenant's sole cost and expense to restore, repair, and replace all alterations, additions, improvements, fixtures, furnishings, inventory, equipment, signs, and personal property located at the Leased Premises, or, if an exhibit describing Tenant's Work is attached hereto, all items of Tenant's Work as described in such exhibit, as the case may be, provided Tenant has not opted to terminate this Lease pursuant to the terms of this Article 13.

Landlord shall make available to Tenant such portion of Landlord's insurance proceeds that remain after the completion of Landlord's Work as may be reasonable and necessary to restore Tenant's Work.

ARTICLE 14 CONDEMNATION

- 14.1 <u>Total Condemnation</u>. If during the Term of this Lease, all or substantially all of the Leased Premises or the Property shall be taken for any public or quasi-public use under any governmental law, ordinance, or regulation, or by right of eminent domain, or should all or substantially all of the Leased Premises or the Property be sold to the condemning authority under threat of condemnation, and if such taking renders the Leased Premises unsuitable for its intended use hereunder, this Lease shall terminate on the date the condemning authority takes possession, all Rent shall be apportioned and paid up to the termination date, any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination date shall be refunded to Tenant, and the parties hereto shall have no further obligations hereunder.
- 14.2 <u>Partial Condemnation</u>. If less than all of the Leased Premises or the Property shall be taken as above described, and the Leased Premises shall continue to be reasonably tenantable and suitable for the uses for which the Leased Premises have been leased hereunder, Landlord shall forthwith restore and reconstruct the Leased Premises and/or the Property and the Base Rent payable hereunder during the unexpired portion of this Lease shall be adjusted equitably.
- Allocation of Award. Landlord shall be entitled to receive and retain any and all condemnation or eminent domain awards or proceeds or any awards or proceeds resulting from any sale under threat of same, and Tenant hereby releases and assigns to Landlord all interest of Tenant, if any, in and to any such awards or proceeds; provided, however, that Tenant may bring a separate action, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, to recover damages, if any, for Tenant's moving expenses.
- 14.4 <u>Consent of Mortgagee</u>. Anything contained in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event any mortgagee of Landlord holding any lien or security interest in the Leased Premises for the performance of an obligation of Landlord shall not concur in the application of any condemnation award to the restoration or reconstruction of the Leased Premises, Landlord shall not be obligated to restore or reconstruct the Leased Premises or the Shopping Center and may, at its option, terminate this Lease, such termination to be effective as of the date the condemning authority takes possession of any portion of the Leased Premises or the Shopping Center and any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination date shall be refunded to Tenant.

ARTICLE 15 SIGNAGE

Subject to the conditions hereinafter provided, Tenant shall have the right, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, to install its corporate logo signage in any and all locations on the facades of the

exterior of the Freestanding Building and Tenant shall have the sole right for signage upon a freestanding sign on the Premises constructed as a part of the Landlord's Work (the "Property Sign"), all in accordance with the criteria described on Exhibit F. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall not install its exterior sign until the plans and specifications therefor have been approved by Landlord in writing. Tenant shall, at its sole expense, maintain, repair and, if necessary, replace the signage on the Freestanding Building and maintain, insure, and repair the Property Sign in good condition and repair and in compliance with the requirements of the Restrictions, as applicable. Tenant's signage must strictly comply, and be constructed in conformity, with applicable city ordinances, rules and regulations, as well as any other governmental agencies or private concerns, including, without limitation, those established by the Restrictions. Tenant agrees not to hold Landlord responsible should any governing or regulatory agency or other private concern prohibit Tenant from installing its signage. Tenant agrees to have erected and/or installed and fully operative on or before the Commencement Date of this Lease all signs in accordance with this Lease.

ARTICLE 16 FIXTURES AND PERSONAL PROPERTY

Fixtures and Personal Property. Any trade fixtures, business/medical equipment, trademarked items, signs, and other personal property of Tenant shall remain the property of Tenant. Landlord agrees that Tenant shall have the right, provided Tenant is not in default under any of the terms of this Lease, at any time and from time-to-time, and provided that such removal must be made not later than the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, to remove any and all of its trade fixtures, signs, and other personal property which it may have stored or installed in the Freestanding Building. Tenant, at its expense, shall promptly repair any damage occasioned by the removal of its trade fixtures, signs, and other personal property and, upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, shall leave the Freestanding Building in a neat and clean condition, free of debris, normal wear and tear excepted. Tenant's obligation to perform this covenant shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease. All trade fixtures, equipment, and other personal property of every description, unless removable without damage to the Leased Premises or removed by Tenant in accordance with the foregoing provisions, shall become the property of Landlord, subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease, and shall be and remain upon and be surrendered with the Leased Premises as a part thereof at the termination of this Lease, Tenant hereby waiving any and all rights to any payment or compensation therefor.

16.2 <u>Taxes on Personal Property</u>. Tenant shall pay, before delinquency, all taxes, assessments, license fees, and public charges levied, assessed, or imposed upon its business operation at the Leased Premises, as well as upon its trade fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and leasehold improvements, merchandise and other personal property in or upon the Leased Premises. Tenant shall cause its trade fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and leasehold improvements to be assessed and billed separately from the real property of Landlord.

ARTICLE 17 LIENS

Tenant shall not permit to be created nor to remain undischarged any lien, encumbrance, or charge arising out of any work or work claim of any contractor, subcontractor, mechanic, laborer, supplier, vendor, materialman, or agent of Tenant which might be or become a lien or encumbrance or charge upon the Leased Premises or the income therefrom, and Tenant shall not suffer any other matter or thing whereby the estate, right, and interest of Landlord in the Leased Premises or the Property might be impaired. If any lien, notice, of lien on account of an alleged debt of Tenant or any contractor, subcontractor, mechanic, laborer, supplier, vendor, materialman, or agent of Tenant or any notice of contract shall be filed against the Leased Premises by a party engaged by Tenant or any contractor, subcontractor, or agent of Tenant, then Tenant shall, within thirty (30) days after notice of the filing thereof, cause the same to be discharged of record by payment, deposit, or bond in an amount determined by order of a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise. If Tenant shall fail to timely cause such lien or notice of lien to be discharged by either paying the amounts claimed to be due or by procuring the discharge of such lien by deposit or by bonding proceedings, Landlord shall be entitled, if Landlord so elects, but without obligation to do so, to either defend any prosecution of an action for foreclosure of such lien by the lienor or to bond around or pay and discharge such lien or claim. Any money paid by Landlord and all costs and expenses, including attorney's fees and expenses of litigation, incurred by Landlord in connection therewith, together with interest thereon at the maximum contractual rate which may be legally charged in the event of a loan of such amount to Tenant (but in no event to exceed 1-1/2% per month) accruing continuously from the date of Landlord's payment of the cost or expense, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord on demand. Tenant agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Landlord, the Leased Premises from any and all losses, costs, expenses, liabilities, and damages of every kind or nature, including attorney's fees and expenses of litigation, resulting therefrom and, if requested, upon demand, to immediately deposit with Landlord cash or surety bond in form and with a company satisfactory to Landlord in an amount equal to the amount of such contested claim.

ARTICLE 18 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

Tenant shall not assign this Lease, or any interest therein (including, but not limited to, the assignment of this Lease by the sale of 50% or more of the capital stock or other ownership interest in Tenant or the sale of Tenant's business), and shall not sublet the Leased Premises or any part thereof, or any right or privilege appurtenant thereto, or permit any other person or entity (excepting the agents, servants, or employees of Tenant) to occupy or use the Leased Premises, or any portion thereof, without first obtaining the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent may be given or withheld in Landlord's sole and absolute discretion. Consent by Landlord to one assignment, subletting, occupation, or use by another person or entity shall not be a consent to any subsequent assignment, subletting, occupation or use and shall not release the original named Tenant hereunder or any guarantor of Tenant's obligations from liability for the continued performance of the terms and provisions on the part of Tenant to be kept and performed, unless Landlord specifically and in writing releases the original named Tenant hereunder or any guarantor from said liability. Except as provided herein, any assignment or subletting without the prior written consent of Landlord shall be void and shall, at the option of Landlord, terminate this Lease. This Lease shall not, nor shall any interest herein, be assignable as to the interest of Tenant by operation of law without the prior written consent of Landlord. All cash or other

proceeds of any assignment, sublease, or other transfer of Tenant's interest in this Lease, whether or not consented to by Landlord, shall be paid to Landlord notwithstanding that such proceeds exceed the Rent payable hereunder, and Tenant hereby assigns all rights it might have or ever acquire in any such proceeds to Landlord. Tenant shall pay to Landlord a \$1,500.00 processing fee with each and every proposed assignment or sublease and shall reimburse Landlord for its reasonable attorney's fees and expenses in connection with such proposed assignment or sublease. Such processing fee shall be due prior to Landlord reviewing any proposed assignment or sublease, and the processing fee and attorney's fees and expenses shall be payable regardless of whether Landlord approves such assignment or sublease or whether or not such assignment or sublease is ultimately fully executed.

ARTICLE 19 SURRENDER OF PREMISES

- 19.1 <u>Removal of Property</u>. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, and on or before the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, remove all property belonging to it and all alterations, additions, improvements and fixtures which by the terms hereof Tenant is permitted to remove. Any property not removed by Tenant shall be deemed to have been abandoned by Tenant and may be retained or disposed of by Landlord, subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease; provided however, that Landlord shall not assume title to, or an ownership interest in, any Environmental Waste or other material regulated by or subject to any applicable environmental, health or safety laws, and any such material may be disposed of in accordance with such laws at Tenant's sole cost and expense, with reimbursement therefor to be made to Landlord upon demand.
- 19.2 <u>Condition of Leased Premises</u>. Tenant agrees to and shall, upon the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, promptly surrender and deliver the Leased Premises to Landlord in a broom cleaned condition and in substantially the same condition as existed upon the completion of Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work, ordinary wear and tear and damage by the elements, fire, or act of God, or by other cause beyond the reasonable control of Tenant excepted.
- 19.3 <u>Abandonment</u>. Tenant shall not vacate or abandon the Leased Premises at any time during the Term of this Lease, and if Tenant shall abandon, vacate or surrender the Leased Premises or be dispossessed by process of law, or otherwise, any personal property and trade fixtures belonging to Tenant and left in the Leased Premises shall be deemed to be abandoned, at the option of Landlord, except such property as Landlord has been notified is mortgaged to or leased from a third party or is subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease.
- 19.4 <u>Patient Medical Records</u>. To the extent any property belonging to Tenant constitutes patient medical records, Landlord shall (i) exercise reasonable care to ensure that the information set forth in such records is not disclosed to third parties in violation of applicable patient privacy statutes, and (ii) shall provide Tenant with access to such records to the extent necessary to permit Tenant to comply with applicable law.

ARTICLE 20

DEFAULT BY TENANT

- **20.1** Events of Default. Each of the following shall constitute a "Default" by Tenant:
- (a) Failure of Tenant to pay any installment of Rent or other sums owing to Landlord hereunder when due;
- (b) Tenant shall become insolvent or unable to pay its debts as they become due, or Tenant notifies Landlord that it anticipates either condition;
- (c) Tenant takes any action to, or notifies Landlord that Tenant intends to, file a petition under any section or chapter of the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, or under any similar law or statute, or Tenant notifies Landlord that it knows such a petition will be filed, or a petition is involuntarily filed against Tenant; or the appointment of a receiver or trustee to take possession of substantially all of Tenant's assets located at the Leased Premises or of Tenant's interest in this Lease; or the attachment, execution or other judicial seizure of substantially all of Tenant's assets located at the Leased Premises or of Tenant's interest in this Lease;
- (d) Tenant shall fail to fulfill or perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Lease (other than the payment of money) and such failure or non-performance shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof has been given by Landlord to Tenant of such failure; provided, however, that if such failure does not materially impair the rights and benefits of Landlord hereunder and is curable, but requires work to be performed, acts to be done or conditions to be remedied which, by their nature, cannot be performed, done or remedied, as the case may be, within such thirty (30) day period, no default shall be deemed to have occurred if Tenant commences same within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently and continuously prosecutes the same to completion; or
- (e) Tenant shall vacate or abandon the Leased Premises or any significant portion thereof, or shall cease to continuously operate its business at the Leased Premises, except as provided herein.
- **20.2** Remedies of Landlord. If a Default occurs, then at any time thereafter, with or without any further notice or demand, Landlord may exercise any and all rights and remedies available to Landlord under this Lease, at law or in equity including, without limitation, termination of this Lease or termination of Tenant's right to possession of the Leased Premises without terminating this Lease. In the event of a Default, Landlord may, without additional notice and without court proceedings, change the locks and repossess the Leased Premises and remove all persons and property therefrom, subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease, and Tenant hereby agrees to surrender possession of the Leased Premises and waives any claim arising by reason thereof or by reason of the issuance of any distress warrant or writ of sequestration, and agrees to hold Landlord harmless from any such claims. If Landlord elects to terminate this Lease or terminate Tenant's possession of the Leased Premises, Landlord may treat the Default as an entire breach of this Lease and Tenant shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, immediately become

liable to Landlord for damages equal to the total of: (i) the cost of recovering, reletting (including, without limitation, the cost of lease commissions attributable to the unexpired portion of the term of this Lease), and remodeling the Leased Premises;); (ii) all unpaid Rent and other amounts earned or due through such termination; plus (iii) the total, if and only if positive, of Rent and other amounts to be paid by Tenant hereunder for the remainder of the Term of this Lease less the estimated rent collectible from the Leased Premises (with appropriate allowances made for time necessary for reletting) for the remainder of the full term of this Lease, which amount shall be discounted to present value at the prime rate of interest published in The Wall Street Journal at the time of default or, if such rate is no longer published, such comparable nationally recognized rate as may be selected by Landlord in its good faith discretion. If Landlord elects to terminate Tenant's right to possession of the Leased Premises without terminating this Lease, Landlord may relet the Leased Premises or any part thereof for the account of Tenant to any person or persons upon such rent and for such terms and conditions as Landlord deems appropriate, and Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for the amount, if any, by which the Rent to be paid by Tenant hereunder for the unexpired balance of the Term exceeds the amount received by Landlord from such reletting, such net amount to be reduced by the cost of repossession, reletting, remodeling, and other expenses, including, but not limited to, attorney's fees and expenses, incurred by Such sum or sums shall, at Landlord's option, be paid by Tenant in monthly installments on the first (1st) day of each month of the Term remaining. In no case shall Landlord be liable for failure to relet the Leased Premises (it being agreed that Landlord shall be free to lease any other space of Landlord in preference to reletting the Leased Premises), or to collect the rent due under such reletting, and in no event shall Tenant be entitled to any excess rents received by Landlord. All rights and remedies of Landlord shall be cumulative and not exclusive, and such rights and remedies may be exercised and enforced concurrently and whenever and as often as occasion therefor arises.

- 20.3 Non-Waiver. The failure of Landlord to seek redress for violation of, or to insist upon strict performance of, any covenant or condition of this Lease shall not prevent a subsequent act or omission that would have originally constituted a violation of this Lease from having all the force and effect of an original violation. The receipt by Landlord of any sums with or without knowledge of the breach of any provision of this Lease shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach, shall not reinstate this Lease or Tenant's right of possession if either or both have been terminated, and shall not otherwise affect any notice, election, action, or suit by Landlord. No provision of this Lease shall be deemed to have been waived by Landlord unless such waiver be in writing signed by Landlord.
- **20.4** <u>Mitigation of Damages</u>. In connection with the exercise by Landlord of its rights and remedies in respect of any Default on the part of Tenant, Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate its damages. Tenant agrees in favor of Landlord that Landlord shall not be deemed to have failed to mitigate damages, or to have used commercially reasonable efforts to do so, because:
- (a) Landlord leases other space in the Property which is vacant prior to reletting the Leased Premises;
- (b) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to any affiliate of Tenant, or any principal of Tenant, or any affiliate of such principal (for purposes of this Lease, "affiliate"

shall mean and refer to any person or entity controlling, under common control with, or controlled by, the party in question);

- (c) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to any person or entity whose creditworthiness Landlord in good faith deems unacceptable;
- (d) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to any person or entity because the use proposed to be made of the Leased Premises by such prospective tenant is not of a type and nature consistent with that of the other tenants in the Property as of the date Tenant defaults under this Lease, or because such use would, in the good faith opinion of Landlord, impose unreasonable or excessive demands upon the Property;
- (e) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to any person or entity, or any affiliate of such person or entity, who has been engaged in litigation with, or who has threatened litigation against, Landlord or any of its affiliates;
- (f) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises because the tenant or the terms and provisions of the proposed lease are not approved by the holders of any liens or security interests in the Property or any part thereof, or would cause Landlord to breach or be in default of, or to be unable to perform any of its covenants under, any agreements between Landlord and any third party;
- (g) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises because the proposed tenant is unwilling to execute and deliver Landlord's standard lease form without substantial tenant-oriented modifications or such tenant requires improvements to the Leased Premises to be paid at Landlord's cost and expense; or
- (h) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to a person or entity whose character or reputation, or the nature of whose business, Landlord in good faith deems unacceptable;

and it is further agreed that each and all of the grounds for refusal set forth in clauses (a) through (h) above, both inclusive, of this sentence are reasonable grounds for Landlord's refusal to relet the Leased Premises, or (as to all other provisions of this Lease) for Landlord's refusal to issue any approval, or take any other action, of any nature whatsoever under this Lease. In the event the waiver set forth in this Section shall be ineffective, Tenant further agrees in favor of Landlord, to the maximum extent to which it may lawfully and effectively do so, that the following efforts to mitigate damages if made by Landlord (and without obligating Landlord to render such efforts) shall be conclusively deemed reasonable, and that Landlord shall be conclusively deemed to have used the efforts to mitigate damages required by applicable law if: Landlord places the Leased Premises on its inventory of available space in the Property; Landlord makes such inventory available to brokers who request same; and Landlord shows the Leased Premises to prospective tenants (or their brokers) who request to see it.

Landlord shall, in the exercise of any right or remedy of Landlord provided for under this Section 20 or otherwise by law, unless by order of a court of competent jurisdiction (i) refrain

from interfering with any ongoing patient care activities in progress at the Premises, and (ii) refrain from removing, modifying or destroying any patient records or other Protected Health Information as defined in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996.

ARTICLE 21 SECURITY DEPOSIT

Tenant shall deposit with Landlord on the date Tenant executes this Lease the sum of \$42,266.00 as a "Security Deposit" with the understanding: (i) that the Security Deposit or any portion thereof may be applied to the curing of any default, without prejudice to any other remedy or remedies which Landlord may have on account thereof, and upon such application Tenant shall pay Landlord on demand the amount so applied which shall be added to the Security Deposit so the same will be restored to its original amount; and (ii) that Landlord shall not be obligated to hold the Security Deposit as a separate fund, but may commingle it with other funds.

Provided Tenant shall comply with all the terms of this Lease, the Security Deposit shall be returned to Tenant upon the later to occur of (i) termination of this Lease and after surrender of possession of the Leased Premises to landlord; and (ii) the complete satisfaction of all Tenant's monetary obligations and covenants under this Lease. In the event of a sale of the Leased Premises or assignment of this Lease by Landlord, Landlord shall transfer the security to its vendee or assignee subject to Tenant's rights upon termination under this Lease.

ARTICLE 22 LANDLORD'S LIEN

- (a) To the extent allowed by Texas law, Landlord reserves and Tenant hereby grants to Landlord a contractual lien and security interest (which shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any statutory landlord's lien) on all fixtures, equipment, and personal property (tangible and intangible), subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease, including inventory, and the proceeds thereof, now or hereafter placed by Tenant in, on, or about the Leased Premises to secure all sums due by Tenant hereunder, which lien and security interest may be enforced by Landlord in any manner provided by law. The provisions of this paragraph shall constitute a security agreement and, at Landlord's request, Tenant shall execute and file, where appropriate, all documents required to perfect the security interest herein granted in accordance with Texas law. Landlord may, at its election, at any time file a financing statement to perfect the security interest herein granted if permitted by Texas law. The provisions of this Article, however, shall not prevent the sale by Tenant of any inventory in the ordinary course of business free of such lien in favor of Landlord. Landlord shall have all rights and remedies available to a secured party under Texas law with respect to such lien and security interest.
- (b) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant has entered into credit agreements with one or more commercial lenders, and that Tenant's indebtedness thereunder is secured, in part, by Tenant's grant of a first priority lien and security interest in Tenant's tangible and intangible property, including Tenant's rights in the leasehold improvements to be constructed by Tenant hereunder; provided, however, Tenant has no right to grant any such security interest in the leasehold improvements constructed by Landlord on the Leased Premises. Landlord agrees to

execute from time to time a subordination agreement in favor of Tenant's commercial lenders, in form attached hereto as Exhibit "K".

ARTICLE 23 DEFAULT BY LANDLORD

- **23.1** Events of Default. Landlord will be in default of this Lease if Landlord fails to fulfill or perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Lease and such failure or non-performance shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof has been given by Tenant to Landlord; provided, however, that if such default is curable but requires work to be performed, acts to be done or conditions to be remedied which, by their nature, cannot be performed, done or remedied, as the case may be, within such thirty (30) day period, no default shall be deemed to have occurred if Landlord commences the same within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently and continuously prosecutes the same to completion.
- 23.2 <u>Remedies of Tenant</u>. If a default by Landlord occurs and remains unremedied after the expiration of the applicable cure period, Tenant may use all available legal remedies to bring an action against Landlord to collect the actual (but not any punitive or consequential) damages suffered by Tenant as a result of such default.

ARTICLE 24 LIABILITY OF LANDLORD

- 24.1 <u>Limitation on Landlord's Liability</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, in the event of any default or breach by Landlord with respect to any of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Lease to be observed, honored, or performed by Landlord, Tenant shall look solely to the estate and property of Landlord in the land and building owned by Landlord comprising the Property for the collection of any judgment (or any other judicial procedures requiring the payment of money by Landlord), it being agreed that Landlord shall not be personally liable for any such judgment and no other property or assets of Landlord shall be subject to levy, execution, or other procedures for the satisfaction of Tenant's remedies.
- 24.2 <u>Sale of Property</u>. In the event of any sale of the Leased Premises by Landlord, Landlord shall be and is hereby entirely freed and relieved of all liability under any and all of its covenants and obligations contained in or derived from this Lease after the consummation of such sale, and the purchaser at such sale or any subsequent sale of the Property shall be deemed, without any further agreement between the parties or their successors in interest or between the parties and any such purchaser, to have assumed and agreed to carry out any and all of the covenants and obligations of Landlord under this Lease, including, without limitation, any breach or default by Landlord that occurred prior to such sale.

ARTICLE 25 MORTGAGEE PROVISIONS

- 25.1 Subordination and Attornment. Tenant accepts this Lease subject and subordinate to any mortgage, deed of trust or other lien now or hereafter existing upon the Leased Premises or the Property and any and all renewals, modifications and extensions thereof, shall attom to and recognize as its landlord under the terms of this Lease said lender, any purchaser of the Property at a foreclosure sale or by sale in lieu thereof or any of their successors or assigns, and agrees that any cancellation, surrender, or amendment of this Lease without the prior written consent of the mortgagee or beneficiary of a deed of trust from Landlord or its successors as owners of the Property ("Landlord's Successor") shall be voidable by Landlord's Successor. Landlord is hereby irrevocably vested with full power and authority to subordinate this Lease to any mortgage, deed of trust or other lien now or hereafter placed upon the Leased Premises or the Property. Within fifteen (15) days of written request from Landlord, or any mortgagee or beneficiary of a deed of trust from Landlord, Tenant shall in writing subordinate its rights hereunder to the lien of any mortgage or deed of trust now or hereafter in force against the Property to all advances made or hereafter to be made upon the security thereof; provided, however, that the mortgagee named in such mortgage or deed of trust shall agree that Tenant's peaceable possession of the Leased Premises will not be disturbed on account thereof as long as Tenant is not in default of any of the terms and covenants of this Lease beyond any applicable cure period. Tenant agrees that any such subordination agreement will contain a provision reasonably satisfactory to the mortgagee whereby Tenant will agree, in the event of foreclosure of any such mortgage or deed of trust, to attorn to and recognize as its landlord under the terms of this Lease said lender, any purchaser of the Property at a foreclosure sale or by sale in lieu thereof or any of their successors or assigns, provided that Tenant's rights under this Lease shall continue unabated for so long as Tenant is not in default hereof. Any such subordination agreement may also provide that the Landlord's Successor shall not be bound by (i) any modification of the Lease which reduces the rent or adversely affects the rights, duties or obligations of the Successor Landlord under the subordination agreement; (ii) any payment of rent to Landlord made more than thirty (30) days in advance of its due date, other than pre-paid rent under Section 7.1 herein; (iii) any consensual or negotiated surrender, cancellation or termination of the Lease; or (iv) any claims, loss, damages or offset rights relating to any event or occurrence or omission prior to the date Successor Landlord acquires the Property. The subordination agreement may contain such other terms and provisions as are customary for the benefit of any mortgagee or beneficiary of a deed of trust and acceptable to Tenant, provided that the business terms involving rent, Term of the Lease and permitted uses are not altered. Tenant hereby approves the form of nondisturbance, attornment and subordination agreement attached hereto as Exhibit "I."
- 25.2 <u>Notice to Mortgagees</u>. Tenant agrees to give any present or future mortgagee of the Property of which Tenant has been made aware and received their current mailing address in writing a copy of any notice of default served upon Landlord by Tenant. Tenant further agrees that if Landlord shall have failed to cure any such default within the time provided for in this Lease, then any such mortgagee shall have an additional thirty (30) days within which to cure such default or, if such default cannot by its nature be cured within such time without being in possession of the Property, such additional period of time as may be necessary to cure such default if within such thirty (30) day period the mortgagee has commenced and is diligently pursuing the remedies necessary to cure such default.

MISCELLANEOUS

26.1 Notices. All notices required to be given hereunder shall be deemed to be duly given by personally delivering such notice or by mailing it postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or by sending notice by a nationally recognized overnight mail courier service, to the party to be notified at the following addresses:

To Landlord: c/o Read King, Inc.

5850 San Felipe, Suite 490 Houston, Texas 77057 Attention: Mr. Tim Delgado

To Tenant: Before the Commencement Date:

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center, LP

11200 Broadway, Ste. 2320 Pearland, Texas 77584

Attention: Paul Alleyne, MD

From and after the Commencement Date:

At the address of the Leased Premises

Attention: Paul Alleyne, MD

Any party may change its address for purposes of notice by notifying the other party of such changed address in accordance with the provisions of this Section 26.1.

- 26.2 <u>Force Majeure</u>. In the event that either party hereto shall be delayed or hindered in or prevented from the performance of any act required hereunder (other than the payment of any monetary sums due hereunder) by reason of strikes, lockouts, labor troubles, failure of power, riots, insurrection, war, shortage of labor, materials or equipment, inclement weather, delays in obtaining insurance or condemnation proceeds, acts of God or other reason of like nature beyond such party's reasonable control, such party shall be excused for the period of such delay and the period for the performance of any such act shall be correspondingly extended for the period of such delay.
- 26.3 <u>Memorandum of Lease</u>. Upon written request from either party, Landlord and Tenant agree to execute and deliver a memorandum of this Lease that may be recorded in the official land records of Lubbock County, Texas. The party requesting such memorandum shall bear all associated with the preparation and recording of same.
- **26.4** Estoppel. Within fifteen (15) days of written request from Landlord, Tenant shall execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Landlord an instrument in form acceptable to Tenant stating, if the same be true, that this Lease is a true and exact copy of the Lease between the parties hereto, that there are no amendments hereof (or stating what amendments there may be), that the same is then in full force and effect and that, to the best of its knowledge, there are no

offsets, defenses, or counterclaims with respect to the payment of any sums owing hereunder or in the performance of the other terms, covenants, and conditions hereof on the part of Tenant or Landlord, as the case may be, to be performed, and that as of such date no default has been declared hereunder by either party and such other matters as may be reasonably requested.

- **26.5** <u>Authority</u>. Landlord and Tenant each represent and warrant that they are duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease in accordance with the terms hereof, and that each individual executing this Lease on behalf of Landlord and Tenant is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease in accordance with duly adopted resolutions of the Boards of Directors of said corporations.
- **26.6** <u>Incorporation of Exhibits</u>. All Exhibits attached hereto are hereby incorporated herein by this reference and made a part hereof for all purposes.
- 26.7 <u>Brokers.</u> Landlord has agreed to pay a leasing commission as a result of this Lease to Read King, Inc., as Landlord's broker (hereinafter called the "<u>Broker</u>," whether one or more), as set forth in a separate agreement between Landlord and Broker. Other than the commission payable to the Broker, Landlord and Tenant represent and warrant to each other that they have dealt with no brokers in connection with this Lease and that, insofar as they know, no brokers are entitled to any fees or commissions in connection herewith. Landlord and Tenant shall indemnify and hold each other harmless from and against all claims (and costs of defending against and investigating such claims) of any other brokers or similar parties claiming under the indemnifying party in connection with this Lease.
- 26.8 Attorney's Fees. If either party brings an action against the other, the prevailing party may recover court costs and attorneys' fees and disbursements (whether at the administrative, trial or appellate levels) in such amount as the court or administrative body deems reasonable. Landlord shall also be entitled to recover attorneys' fees and disbursements incurred in connection with a Default by Tenant hereunder which does not result in the commencement of any action or proceeding.
- **26.9** Parties Bound. Subject to the prohibitions on assignment by Tenant contained hereinabove, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns wherever the context so requires or permits.
- 26.10 GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED UNDER AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, AND ALL OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES CREATED HEREUNDER ARE PERFORMABLE IN LUBBOCK, TEXAS. THE PARTIES HEREBY SUBMIT TO JURISDICTION AND VENUE IN THE STATE DISTRICT COURTS OF LUBBOCK COUNTY, TEXAS, FOR ANY LITIGATION THAT MAY ARISE HEREUNDER.
- **26.11** <u>Legal Construction</u>. The provisions of this Agreement are severable. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability

shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

- **26.12** Prior Agreements Superseded. This Agreement constitutes the sole and only agreement of the parties hereto and supersedes any prior understandings or written or oral agreements between the parties respecting the within subject matter, any such prior agreements having been merged herein.
- **26.13** <u>Amendment</u>. No amendment, modification, or alteration of the terms hereof shall be binding unless the same be in writing, dated subsequent to the date hereof and duly executed by the parties hereto.
 - **26.14** Time of Essence. Time is of the essence of this Agreement.
- 26.15 <u>Captions and Headings</u>. The captions and headings in this Lease are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference, and they in no way define, limit or describe the scope of this Lease or the intent of any provision hereof.
- **26.16** <u>Number and Gender</u>. All genders used in this Lease shall include the other genders, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular, whenever and as often as may be appropriate.
- **26.17** <u>Multiple Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
- **26.18** Rules and Regulations. The Rules and Regulations attached hereto as Exhibit "G" are a part of this Lease, and Tenant agrees to comply with and observe the same.
- **26.19** Confidentiality. Tenant hereby agrees not to disclose the terms and provisions of this Lease or any amendment of this Lease to anyone other than Tenant's attorneys, accountants, officers and directors. This restriction on disclosure shall survive the termination of the Lease.
- **26.20** <u>Jury Trial</u>. Landlord and Tenant hereby waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by either of the parties hereto against the other or their successors in respect of any matter arising in connection with this Lease, the relationship of Landlord and Tenant, Tenant's use or occupancy of the Leased Premises and/or any claim for injury or damage in connection with this Lease.
- **26.21** Satellite System. Subject to the other terms herein, Tenant's receipt of all permits and approval required by applicable governmental authorities, and Tenant's compliance with Landlord's reasonable rules and regulations regarding installation, operation and maintenance, Landlord hereby grants Tenant the right to install and maintain a satellite system upon the roof of the Freestanding Building (the "Satellite System") for Tenant's use in connection with the Permitted Use; provided, however, the size, location and specifications of the Satellite

System shall be subject to (i) Landlord's prior written approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and (ii) approvals, if any, required by the Restrictions. Such installation and maintenance shall be at Tenant's sole expense and in accordance with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations and statutes. Tenant shall be responsible for the repair and maintenance of the Satellite System during the Tenn, at its sole cost and expense, and upon the termination of this Lease shall remove the Satellite System and repair any damage to the roof of the Freestanding Building caused by the Satellite System and the installation and removal thereof. Any roof penetrations caused by Tenant shall not invalidate roof warranties; roof penetrations shall, at Landlord's option, be performed by Landlord's contractor at Tenant's expense if required in order to preserve roof warranties.

- Tenant that Landlord (i) is not currently excluded, debarred or otherwise ineligible to participate in Medicare or any federal health care program under section 1128 and 1128A of the Social Security Act or as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(f) (the "Federal Health Care Programs"); (ii) has not been convicted of a criminal offense related to the provision of healthcare items or services but has not yet been excluded, debarred, or otherwise declared ineligible to participate in any Federal Health Care Program; and (iii) is not under investigation or otherwise aware of any circumstances which may result in Tenant being excluded from participation in any Federal Health Care Program. The foregoing representation shall be an ongoing representation and warranty during the term of the Lease and Landlord shall immediately notify Tenant of any change in the status of the representation and warranty set forth in this Section, at which time Tenant will have the right to immediately terminate the Lease.
- (b) Landlord and Tenant enter into the Lease with the intent of conducting their relationship and implementing the agreements contained herein in full compliance with applicable federal, state and local law, including without limitation, the Medicare/Medicaid Anti-Kickback statute (the "Anti-Kickback Law") and Section 1877 of the Social Security Act (the "Stark Law"), as amended. Notwithstanding any unanticipated effect of any of the provisions of the Lease, neither party will intentionally conduct itself under the terms of the Lease in a manner that would constitute a violation of the Anti-Kickback Law or the Stark Law. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Landlord and Tenant expressly agree that nothing contained in the Lease shall require either party to refer any patients to the other, or to any affiliate or subsidiary of the other.
- (c) If any legislation, regulation or government policy is passed or adopted, the effect of which would cause either party to be in violation of such laws due to the existence of any provision of the Lease, then Landlord and Tenant agree to negotiate in good faith for the longest period of time permitted by such legislation, regulation or government policy to modify the terms of the Lease to comply with applicable law. Should the parties hereto fail to agree upon modified terms to the Lease within this time, then either Landlord or Tenant may immediately terminate the Lease by giving written notice to the other party.
- (d) For purposes of this Section of the Lease, "protected health information", or "PHI" shall have the meaning defined by the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45 C.F.R. Part 160 and Subparts A and E of Part 164 (the "Privacy Standards"), as promulgated by the Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") pursuant to the Administrative Simplification provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability

Act of 1996 ("<u>HIPAA</u>"). The parties agree that neither the Landlord nor its contractors, subcontractors or agents shall need access to, nor shall they use or disclose, any PHI of Tenant. However, in the event PHI is disclosed by Tenant or its agents to Landlord, its, contractors, subcontractors or agents, regardless as to whether the disclosure is inadvertent or otherwise, Landlord agrees to take reasonable steps to maintain, and to require its contractors, subcontractors and agents to maintain, the privacy and confidentiality of such PHI. The parties agree that the foregoing does not create, and is not intended to create, a "business associate" relationship between the parties as that term is defined by the Privacy Standards.

26.23 <u>Guaranty</u>. Contemporaneously with its delivery of the executed Lease to Landlord, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a guaranty of this Lease by Neighbors Global Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, in the form of **Exhibit J**, attached, dated and effective the same date as this Lease. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord's obligations under this Lease are conditioned upon Tenant's compliance with the foregoing covenant. If this Lease shall be guaranteed on behalf of Tenant and if there is a default by the Guarantor under such guaranty, such default shall constitute an event of default by Tenant under this Lease.

26.24 Financial Statements. Tenant shall submit to Landlord from time to time upon Landlord's written request (but not more than annually) current financial statements and operating statements for the most recent fiscal year certified as true and correct by an officer of Tenant. Landlord agrees to take reasonable steps to keep such information confidential, except for disclosure required to Landlord's accountants, attorneys, lenders and prospective lenders and purchasers.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS THIS PAGE]

| F, the undersigned have executed this Lease Agreement, 201, which shall be the date of last execution ow. |
|---|
| LANDLORD: |
| RKMS LUBBOCK LLC, a Texas limited liability company |
| Name: Jeffry A. Read Title: Manager Date: 12 21 15 |
| TENANT: |
| NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership |
| By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner |
| By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH SYSTEM, INC., its Manager |
| By: Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer |
| Date: 21 12 15 |

EXHIBIT A LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

Tract A-2, Wells Fargo Addition to the City of Lubbock, Lubbock County, Texas, according to the map, plat and/or dedication deed thereof, recorded in Volume 8873, Page 265, Official Public Records, Lubbock County, Texas.

EXHIBIT B <u>SITE PLAN DEPICTING THE PROPERTY</u> (or portion thereof to be occupied by Tenant)

EXHIBIT C WORK LETTER

Landlord agrees to construct for Tenant the Landlord's Work hereinafter set forth. All of the items of Landlord's Work shall be done at Landlord's sole cost and expense. Tenant agrees to construct the Tenant's Work hereinafter set forth. All of the items of Tenant's Work shall be done at Tenant's sole cost and expense, subject to the provisions of Section 4.4 of the Lease. Both Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with the requirements of all applicable building and governing codes. Any materials to be installed by either Landlord or Tenant as specified hereunder shall also be supplied by the designated party.

I. PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS

Within ninety (90) days following the date Landlord provides Tenant with building shell drawings for the Freestanding Building which have been approved by the City of Lubbock and any other applicable authority to the extent necessary to enable Tenant to prepare the Plans (as defined below) (the "Building Shell Plans") in hard copy or electronic format (e.g., CAD) (the "Start Date"), Tenant shall prepare or cause to be prepared, at Tenant's cost, and deliver to Landlord as many counterparts as may be reasonably requested, but not to exceed a total of four (4) counterparts, (including one (1) counterpart, if so requested, in reproducible media) of the following plans, specifications, and related materials (hereinafter collectively called the "Plans"), to-wit:

- 1. Complete architectural plans and specifications for the improvement and finish-out of the Freestanding Building, prepared by a registered architect licensed to practice in the State of Texas who is reasonably acceptable to Landlord, and which shall include, but not be limited to, the following for the interior of the Freestanding Building:
 - a. Floor Plan;
 - b. Interior Elevations; and
 - c. Specifications for all building materials, including color schemes and finish selections.
- 2. Complete Mechanical Plans and Specifications, including shop drawings for all fabricated products, if any.
- 3. Complete Electrical Plans and Specifications, including reflected ceiling plan.
- 4. Complete Plumbing Plans and Specifications.

Within ten (10) business days from receipt, Landlord shall review each of the items to be furnished by Tenant and supply any comments or objections thereto. Failure to supply such comments or objections within such ten (10) business day period shall be deemed acceptance of

the item(s) submitted. If either party shall have any objection, Landlord and Tenant and their respective architects, engineers, and/or contractors acting in a reasonable and good faith manner shall promptly meet to resolve any differences or discrepancies and final Plans shall be agreed upon and initialed as approved by Landlord and Tenant (or their representatives) within fifteen (15) business days thereafter and, in any event, within ninety (90) days from the Start Date. If Landlord is delayed in the commencement of Landlord's Work, or if the foregoing schedule is not adhered to, as a result of any act or omission of Tenant or its architects, engineers, contractors, subcontractors, agents, employees, or other related parties (hereinafter called a "Tenant Delay"), then the Commencement Date and the Landlord's delivery deadline, if any, shall be moved forward, and the payment of rent accelerated, by one (1) day for each one (1) day of Tenant Delay.

Tenant shall obtain, at its sole cost and expense, all licenses, permits, and approvals required by applicable law with respect to the Plans and Tenant's Work.

II. <u>LANDLORD'S WORK</u>

"Landlord's Work" shall be comprised of the work listed below:

- A. Building Shell which shall include:
 - 1. Complete exterior and structural roof system engineered to support rooftop HVAC units up to 1,800 lbs. If Tenant selects larger rooftop HVAC units, then Tenant will be required to pay for the additional cost of the design and construction of any required structural supports and stiffening. Construction; columns and/or beams and/or rafters (exposed construction), the design and materials to be determined by Landlord.
 - 2. Exterior wall surfaces of structure shall be architectural concrete, cement plaster, EIFS, concrete masonary units, brick, stone or other veneer selected by Landlord.
 - 3. Entrance/exit doors.
 - 4. Front wall with double front entry/exit door.
 - 5. Covered porte cochere over the main entry to facilitate patient drop-off and pick-up, and a mutually acceptable covered drop-off zone outside the emergency/ambulance entrance.
 - 6. Agreeable exterior location for Tenant's emergency power generator.
- B. Floor: Landlord will leave out the slab of the Leased Premises. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, install the slab.

- C. Utilities: Properly sized water and wastewater lines furnished to the perimeter of the Freestanding Building at Landlord's cost. Electrical service including any required transformer with sufficient capacity to provide 600 amps of electrical service, and natural gas lines furnished to the perimeter of the Freestanding Building. Code-approved automatic fire sprinkler system for the entire Freestanding Building, excluding sprinkler heads which shall be the responsibility of Tenant. Tenant shall also be responsible for adjusting the system to work within Tenant's final wall partition design.
- D. Common Area: Storm water detention and management, vehicular parking lot with code-approved quantity of parking spaces, parking lot lighting, drive aisles and landscaping with irrigation.
- E. The Property Sign.

Landlord, at its sole cost and expense, hereby agrees to construct and install the Landlord's Work in accordance with the Building Shell Plans, the Site Plan and this Lease.

The Delivery Date shall be deemed to have occurred and Landlord's Work shall be deemed substantially completed and Landlord shall deliver to Tenant physical possession of the Leased Premises and Freestanding Building on the date on which all of the following have occurred: (i) the project architect's certificate of substantial completion with respect to Landlord's Work for the Leased Premises and Freestanding Building and shall have been delivered to Tenant; and (ii) access to the Leased Premises, Freestanding Building, and the parking areas are available to and for use by Tenant and its agents and employees and invitees without undue interruption.

Landlord shall obtain and maintain all authorizations, approvals and permits required by any governmental entity for the construction and installation of Landlord's Work. A representative of Tenant shall have the right (without the obligation to do so) to observe the Landlord's Work during construction; such representative shall notify Landlord of any deviations from the applicable plans and specifications or other deficiencies which it may discover, and Landlord shall promptly correct and/or repair any such deviations or deficiencies upon receipt of such notice.

Landlord shall, within thirty (30) days of the Delivery Date, deliver to Tenant copies of all warranties applicable to Landlord's Work along with an assignment (effective as of the Delivery Date) of such warranties.

III. TENANT'S WORK

Tenant's Work shall be comprised of the work listed below:

- A. Interior Partitions.
- B. Slab and Floor Coverings.

C. Electrical:

- 1. Any and all interior electrical work.
- 2. Telephone installation.
- D. Signage in accordance with Article 15 of the Lease.

E. Utilities:

- 1. All installation of utility services within the Freestanding Building not otherwise provided as a part of Landlord's Work.
- 2. All service deposits for service after construction is completed shall be made at Tenant's expense.
- 3. Tenant will pay all utility charges associated with the Leased Premises following the substantial completion thereof.
- 4. Fire sprinkler heads below the drop ceiling and adjustment of the fire sprinkler system to work within Tenant's final wall partition design.

F. Ceiling System:

- 1. Supply and install HVAC unit(s) per the Plans.
- 2. Supply and install ceiling in accordance with Plans.
- 3. Supply and install recessed lay-in light fixtures per the Plans.
- 4. Supply and install exit lights according to code.
- G. Toilet Room(s): Complete in design (to handicapped code) and number required by local code(s). Each restroom to include water closet and lavatory with hot and cold water and exhaust fan.
- H. All Trade Fixtures and Displays.
- I. Installation of medical gas system and back up electric power generator, if required by Tenant.

IV. **GENERAL**

- 1. Landlord shall have the right to approve the general contractor and principal subcontractors to be engaged in the performance of Tenant's Work, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 2. Landlord and Tenant shall each require their contractors and subcontractors to dispose in an on-site dumpster and remove all debris and rubbish caused by their work on a daily basis in order to keep the job site in a neat, safe and orderly condition and, upon completion of the project, to remove all temporary structures, debris and rubbish of whatever kind remaining on or about the Leased Premises.

- 3. Tenant shall require its contractors and subcontractors to obtain and maintain, and provide certificates of, all insurance required pursuant to this Lease in the performance of their respective work including, but not limited to, Worker's Compensation Insurance as required by applicable law.
- 4. All of Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work shall be performed expeditiously, in a good and workmanlike manner and in conformity with sound construction practices consistent with projects of similar scope and quality to the Property. Tenant shall not, nor shall Tenant permit its contractors, subcontractors or suppliers to: (i) create any disturbance or unreasonably interfere with Landlord or any other tenant of the Property in the performance of Tenant's Work; or (ii) store any equipment or materials outside of the Leased Premises without Landlord's prior written consent which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

EXHIBIT D ACCEPTANCE LETTER

EXHIBIT E CONFIRMATION OF COMMENCEMENT DATE

| 201, by | S AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of and between RKMS LUBBOCK LLC ("Landlord") and NEC LUBBOCK CY CENTER, LP ("Tenant") |
|----------------------------|---|
| | WITNESETH: |
| effective | EREAS, Landlord and Tenant have entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated, 201 (hereinafter called the "Lease") concerning certain ated at 4337 50th St., Lubbock, Texas (the "Leased Premises"). |
| | CREAS, Landlord and Tenant wish to set forth their agreements as to the ent and expiration of the term of the Lease. |
| Landlord to 7 valuable con | THEREFORE, in consideration of the leasing of the Leased Premises from Tenant as described in the Lease, the covenants set forth therein, and other good and sideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Landlord gree as follows: |
| on | The term of the Lease and Tenant's obligation to pay Rent thereunder commenced |
| 2. | The Primary Term of the Lease shall expire on |
| | s to be exercised by presentation to Landlord of written notice not more than twelve nor less than six (6) months prior to the expiration of the Primary Term or preceding |

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written

LANDLORD:

Rv.

RKMS LUBBOCK LLC, a Texas limited liability company

| By! |
|---|
| No |
| Name: |
| Title: |
| Date: |
| |
| |
| TENANT: |
| NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership |
| By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner |
| By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH SYSTEM, INC., its Manager |
| By:Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer |

Date:_____

EXHIBIT F BUILDING FASCIA SIGN CRITERIA

The purpose of these instructions is to outline the criteria which has been established to control the design, fabrication and installation of tenant signs in this Property. Notwithstanding anything contained in these criteria, Tenant's signage must strictly comply, and be constructed in conformity, with applicable city ordinances, rules and regulations, as well as any other governmental agencies or private concerns, including without limitation, the restrictions, rules and regulations concerning signage promulgated and/or enforced under the Restrictions, Tenant hereby agreeing to secure all necessary approvals under the Restrictions prior to installing any signage subject to the restrictions, rules and regulations under the Restrictions.

GENERALLY:

Compliance with Code: All Tenant signage at the Property must strictly comply with the sign code(s) of all applicable regulatory authorities. Tenant or its representative shall obtain permits from all applicable governmental authorities for signs and their installation, at Tenant's sole cost and expense.

BUILDING/FASCIA SIGNS:

A. General Requirements

- 1. Signage Cost: Signs shall be designed, constructed, installed, and approved at Tenant's cost and expense pursuant to the design requirements set forth herein.
- 2. Tenant's Sign Contractor: Tenant's sign contractor(s) shall be subject to Landlord approval, must be licensed by all applicable regulatory authorities, and shall have property liability insurance at a minimum of \$1,000,000.00 coverage per occurrence naming Landlord, Landlord's property manager (if applicable) and Tenant as additional insureds. A copy of such insurance policy must be submitted with sign drawings as part of the Landlord's approval process. Tenant's sign contractor shall be held liable and bear all costs for the removal and/or correction of non-conforming sign installation and damage to building by signs. The party contracting with the sign contractor shall be fully responsible for the operations of its sign contractor. Such contractor shall repair any damage to the fascia or any other facility part of the Property caused by its work. If such contractor defaults under its agreement with Tenant, Tenant shall be responsible for timely replacement of the contractor and Tenant indemnifies Landlord for any damages caused by such contractor.
- 3. Removal of Signage: At the termination of a Tenant's Lease, if not renewed, Tenant shall be held liable and bear the costs for, the removal of sign installations and the repair of any penetrations or damage to the substrate caused by the sign's attachment or its removal.

B. Design Stipulation/Parameters

- 1. All signs and their installation shall comply with all applicable local and/or national building and electrical codes. Electrical hook-up shall be performed by a licensed electrician.
- 2. All conductors, transformers and other components shall be concealed from view. Location and/or concealment methods will be subject to approval in the submitted drawings.
- 3. Electrical service to all signs shall be on Tenant's meter and photocell (provided by Tenant), subject to hours of operation determined by the Landlord or its representative.
- 4. All anchoring devices shall be of non-corrosive metal.

PROPERTY SIGN:

- 1. Tenant shall either (a) fabricate its sign panels, in coordination with the sign contractor selected by Landlord for the Property Sign, or (b) provide artwork to Landlord's sign contractor (.eps or .dxf file or Auto CAD format) for fabrication of the panels by Landlord's sign contractor at Tenant's expense.
- 2. The panels shall be installed by Landlord's sign contractor, and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the cost thereof.

EXHIBIT G RULES AND REGULATIONS

Tenant agrees to the establishment of, and shall abide by and enforce upon its agents, servants, employees, invitees, customers and vendors (in addition to the Lease terms, covenants, and conditions), the following Rules and Regulations:

- 1. <u>Safe Premises</u>. The Leased Premises, including vestibules, entrances and returns, doors, fixtures, windows and plate glass shall be maintained in a safe, neat and clean condition. Tenant shall not use, keep or permit to be used or kept any foul or noxious gas or substance in, on or about the Leased Premises or the Property.
- 2. <u>Removal of Trash</u>. All trash, refuse and waste materials shall be regularly removed from the Leased Premises and, until removal, shall be stored: (a) in adequate containers, which containers shall be located so as not to be visible to the general public shopping in the Property; and (b) so as not to constitute any health or fire hazard or nuisance to any occupant.
- 3. <u>Dwelling</u>. Tenant shall not permit or suffer any portion of the Leased Premises or Property to be used for lodging purposes.
- 4. Generally Nonpermitted Uses. No use shall be made of the Property or any portion or portions thereof which would: (a) violate any law, ordinance, or regulation; (b) constitute a nuisance; (c) constitute an extra hazardous use; or (d) violate, suspend or void or increase the premiums for any policy or policies of insurance on any stores or the Property.
- 5. <u>Parking.</u> Tenant shall have the right to prepare, publish and enforce commercially reasonable parking regulations for the Leased Premises. All parking spaces located within the Leased Premises shall be subject to Tenant's use and control.

EXHIBIT H Intentionally Deleted

EXHIBIT I

[NOTE – MAY BE UPDATED WITH NEW LENDER FORM ACCEPTABLE TO TENANT IF AVAILABLE PRIOR TO LEASE EXECUTION. LANDLORD WILL DELIVER THE NEW FORM AS SOON AS LENDER IS SELECTED]

| This SUBORDINATION, NON-DISTURBANCE, AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into as of |
|---|
| AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into as of,, by and between ("Beneficiary"); RKMS LUBBOCK LLC ("Landlord"); and NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER, LP ("Tenant"). |
| WITNESETH: |
| WHEREAS, Beneficiary is the owner and holder of that certain Promissory Note ("Note") dated, in the principal sum of \$, secured by that certain Deed of Trust ("Deed of Trust"), dated of even date with the Note, executed by Landlord to a trustee in favor of Beneficiary, recorded on, in the Office of the Clerk of Lubbock County, Texas, under Clerk's File No, which Deed of Trust constitutes a lien on the land described in <a a""="" href="Exhibit ">Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference for all purposes and the improvements now or hereafter located thereon ("Property"); and |
| WHEREAS, Tenant is the holder of a leasehold estate in and to all or a portion of the Property (the property which is the subject of such leasehold estate being referred to as the "Leased Premises") pursuant to the terms of that certain lease agreement (the "Lease") dated, 201, and executed by and between Tenant, as the tenant, and Landlord, as the landlord; and |
| WHEREAS, Landlord, Tenant and Beneficiary desire to confirm their understandings with respect to the Lease and the Deed of Trust. |
| NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual and dependent covenants and agreements herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and confessed, the parties hereto agree and covenant as follows: |
| 1. <u>Non-Disturbance</u> . So long as Tenant is not in default (beyond any period given Tenant to cure such default) in the payment of rent or in the performance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of the Lease on Tenant's part to be performed, Tenant's possession, use and occupancy of the Leased Premises and its rights under the Lease shall not be interfered with or disturbed by Beneficiary or anyone claiming by, through or under Beneficiary, during the term of the Lease or any extension thereof duly exercised by Tenant. If at, or subsequent to, the time that Beneficiary or a Purchaser shall acquire, in whatever manner, title to the Leased Premises |

(subject to the Lease), or from time to time thereafter, any default by Tenant exists or occurs under the Lease, and continues beyond any applicable cure period in the Lease, then Beneficiary or such Purchaser shall be entitled to exercise or enforce any and all rights, privileges, remedies and recourses which it may have against Tenant under or pursuant to the Lease or other applicable law, (including, without limitation, the termination of the Lease, the dispossession of Tenant from the Leased Premises, or the prosecution of an action for breach of the Lease), notwithstanding the provisions of this Agreement.

- 2. Attornment. If the interests of Landlord in and to the Leased Premises become owned by Beneficiary or another Purchaser (as defined herein) by reason of judicial foreclosure, non-judicial foreclosure by the trustee under the Deed of Trust, other proceedings brought by Purchaser or by any other manner, including, but not limited to, Beneficiary's exercise of its rights under any collateral assignment(s) of leases and rents, and Purchaser succeeds to the interest of the Landlord under the Lease, Tenant shall be bound to Purchaser under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease for the balance of the term thereof remaining and any extension thereof duly exercised by Tenant with the same force and effect as if Purchaser were the Landlord under the Lease. Tenant does hereby attorn to Purchaser, as its Landlord, said attornment to be effective and self-operative, without the execution of any further instruments on the part of any of the parties hereto or of any Purchaser, immediately upon Purchaser's succeeding to the interest of the Landlord under the Lease; provided, however, that Tenant shall be under no obligation to pay rent to Purchaser until Tenant receives written notice from Purchaser that it has succeeded to the interest of the Landlord under the Lease. The respective rights and obligations of Tenant and Purchaser upon such attornment, to the extent of the then remaining balance of the term of the Lease and any extension thereof duly exercised, shall be and are the same as now set forth therein, it being the intention of the parties hereto for this purpose to incorporate the Lease in this Agreement by reference, with the same force and effect as if expressly set forth herein.
- 3. <u>Purchaser's Obligations.</u> If Purchaser shall succeed to the interest of Landlord under the Lease, Purchaser shall be bound to Tenant under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease; provided, however, that Purchaser shall not be:
- (a) liable for any act or omission of any prior lessor (including Landlord) under the Lease; or
- (b) subject to the offsets or defenses which Tenant might have against any prior lessor (including Landlord) under the Lease; or
- (c) bound by any rent, additional rent, advance rent or other monetary obligations which Tenant might have paid earlier than the month required by the Lease to any prior lessor (including Landlord) under the Lease, except pre-paid rent paid pursuant to Section 7.1, and all such rent or other monetary obligations shall remain due and owing, notwithstanding such advance payment; or

- (d) bound by any security deposit of any type or advance rental deposit made by Tenant under the Lease which is not delivered or paid over to Purchaser and with respect to which Tenant agrees to look solely to Landlord for refund or reimbursement; or
- (e) bound by any amendment or modification of the Lease made without Beneficiary's or Purchaser's prior written consent and approval; or
- (f) liable or responsible under or pursuant to the terms of the Lease after it ceases to own an interest in or to the Property.
- 4. <u>Subordination.</u> Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Lease now is, and shall at all times continue to be, subject, inferior and subordinate in each and every respect to the lien of and other security interests created by the Deed of Trust and to any and all renewals, amendments, modifications, extensions, substitutions, replacements, increases and/or consolidations of the Deed of Trust, and the Deed of Trust, and any and all renewals, amendments, modifications, extensions, substitutions, replacements, increases and/or consolidations thereof, shall be and remain, in each and every respect prior and superior to the Lease. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed or construed as limiting or restricting the enforcement by Beneficiary of any of the terms, covenants, provisions or remedies of the Deed of Trust, whether or not consistent with the Lease.
- 5. <u>Purchaser.</u> The term "Purchaser" shall be deemed to include Beneficiary and any of its successors and assigns, including anyone who shall have succeeded to Landlord's interest by, through or under judicial foreclosure, non-judicial foreclosure sale or other proceedings brought pursuant to the Deed of Trust, deed in lieu of such foreclosure, other proceedings brought by Beneficiary under or with respect to the Note or Deed of Trust, or otherwise.
- 6. <u>Representations.</u> Landlord and Tenant represent, warrant and certify to Beneficiary, as of the date hereof that, except as set forth on <u>Annex</u> "1" attached hereto:
 - (a) the Lease is presently in full force and effect
- (b) the Lease has not been modified, amended, supplemented, replaced, restated, or otherwise changed, either orally or in writing, except as herein expressly provided;
- (c) all conditions or requirements specified in the Lease that could have been satisfied as of the date hereof have been fully satisfied;
- (d) no rent under the Lease has been paid for more than the current rental period established in the Lease;
- (e) to the best of Tenant's knowledge, no default (or any event, condition or circumstance, which with notice, grace or lapse of time could constitute a default) exists under said Lease;

- (f) Tenant, as of this date, to the best of Tenant's knowledge, has no charge, lien or claim of offset under said Lease or otherwise against rents or other charges due or to become due under the Lease;
- (g) the Lease constitutes the entire agreement between the Tenant and Landlord and that the Beneficiary shall have no liability or responsibility with respect to any security deposit made by the Tenant;
- (h) the only persons or entities in possession of the Leased Premises or having any right to the possession, use or occupancy of the Leased Premises (other than the record owner or holders of recorded easements) is Tenant; and
- (i) Tenant has no right or interest in or under any contract, option or agreement (other than as shown in the Lease) involving the sale or transfer of the Leased Premises.
- 7. Negative Covenants. In the absence of the prior written consent of Beneficiary, Tenant agrees not to do any of the following: enter into any agreement, whether oral or written, with Landlord to amend, modify, supplement, replace, restate or otherwise change the Lease, voluntarily surrender the Leased Premises so as to effect a termination (except as expressly provided in the Lease) or, except for a default by Landlord and to the extent provided in the Lease and this Agreement, terminate the Lease, and except as expressly provided in the Lease, sublease or assign all or any portion of the Leased Premises.
- 8. <u>Default.</u> In the event Landlord shall fail to perform or observe any of the terms, conditions or agreements in the Lease, Tenant shall give written notice thereof to Beneficiary and Beneficiary shall have the right (but not the obligation) to cure such default. Tenant shall not take any action with respect to such default under the Lease (other than self-help), including without limitation any action in order to terminate, rescind or avoid the Lease or to withhold any rent or other monetary obligations thereunder, for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt of such written notice by Beneficiary; provided, however, that in the case of any default which cannot with diligence be cured within said thirty (30) day period, if Beneficiary shall proceed promptly to cure such default and thereafter prosecute the curing of such default with diligence and continuity, the time within which such default may be cured shall be extended for such period as may be necessary to complete the curing of such default, such period not to exceed an additional ninety (90) days, except for the initial construction of the Leased Premises in which event the additional time period shall not exceed one hundred eighty (180) days.
- 9. <u>Notices.</u> All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given pursuant to the provisions hereof shall be in writing and shall be considered as properly given if (i) mailed by first class United States mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified with return receipt requested, (ii) by delivering same in person to the intended addressee, or (iii) by delivery to a third party commercial delivery service for same day or next day delivery to the office of the addressee. Notice so given shall be effective, as applicable, upon (i) actual delivery, or (ii) three (3) days after transmittal or mailing. Notice given in any other manner shall be effective only if and when received by the addressee. For purposes of notice, the addresses of the parties shall be:

| Beneficiary: | | |
|--------------|--|--|
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| Landlord: | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| Tenant: | | |
| | | |
| | | |
| | | |

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any party shall have the right to change its address for notice hereunder to any other location within the continental United States by the giving of ten (10) days' notice to the other parties in the manner set forth herein.

- Counterparts. To facilitate execution, this instrument may be executed in as many counterparts as may be convenient or required. It shall not be necessary that the signature or acknowledgment of, or on behalf of, each party, or that the signature of all persons required to bind any party, or the acknowledgment of such party, appear on each counterpart. All counterparts shall collectively constitute a single instrument. It shall not be necessary in making proof of this instrument to produce or account for more than a single counterpart containing the respective signatures of, or on behalf of, and the respective acknowledgments of, each of the parties hereto. Any signature or acknowledgment page to any counterpart may be detached from such counterpart without impairing the legal effect of the signatures or acknowledgments thereon and thereafter attach to another counterpart identical thereto except having attached to it additional signature or acknowledgment pages.
- 11. <u>Amendment.</u> This Agreement may not be modified orally or in any manner other than by an agreement, in writing, signed by the parties hereto and their respective successors-in-interest.
- 12. <u>Successors.</u> This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, their successors and assigns.
- 13. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall be of no further force and effect and shall become null and void upon the recording in the applicable records of Beneficiary's written release of the lien of the Deed of Trust.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

| BENEFICIARY: | |
|--|--|
| Ву: | |
| Name: | |
| Title: | |
| Date: | |
| LANDLORD: | |
| RKMS LUBBOCK LLC, a Texas limited liability company | |
| By: Seffrey A. Read | |
| Title: Manager | |
| Date: 12 21 15 | |
| TENANT: | |
| NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership | |
| By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner | |
| By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH SYSTEM, INC., its Manager By: Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer | |
| Date: 21 0-7 15 | |

| COUNTY OF WWS § | |
|--|---|
| This instrument was acknowledged by S. by State of second a second secon | ged before me on this 23 day of Necessary, the Milmagur of Necessary, and |
| ANNEMIEKE M. BAY Notary Public, Stale of Texas My Commission Expires | Notary Public in and for The State of Texas |
| July 23, 2019 | Printed Name: ANNEMIEKE M BAY My Commission Expires: JULY 23, 2019 |
| STATE OF TEXAS § \$ COUNTY OF § | |
| This instrument was acknowledg, by, a Texas limite | |
| | Notary Public in and for The State of Texas |
| | Printed Name:My Commission Expires: |
| STATE OF TEXAS | |
| This instrument was acknowledg | ed before me on this day of, the of, on behalf of said |
| | Notary Public in and for The State of Texas |
| | Printed Name: My Commission Expires: |

EXHIBIT J GUARANTY OF LEASE

THIS GUARANTY given by Neighbors Global Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (hereinafter called the "Guarantors," whether one or more) to RKMS LUBBOCK LLC (hereinafter called the "Landlord").

WITNESSETH:

In order to induce the Landlord to demise to NEC Lubbock Emergency Center, LP, a Texas limited partnership (hereinafter with its successors and assigns referred to as the "Tenant"), certain premises in the Landlord's Shopping Center to be (or which has been) constructed on land situated at 4337 50th St., Lubbock, Texas, and being described in and pursuant to a certain Lease Agreement dated _________, 201____ (which lease together with any and all modifications, amendments and extensions is hereinafter referred to as the "Lease"), the undersigned Guarantors agrees as follows:

- 1. The Guarantors do hereby jointly and severally, unconditionally and absolutely guarantee to the Landlord the full, prompt and complete payment by the Tenant of the rent and all other sums which may be payable by the Tenant under the Lease and the full, prompt and complete performance by the Tenant of all and singular the terms, covenants, conditions and provisions in the Lease required to be performed by the Tenant without regard to any forbearance, delay, neglect or failure on the part of Landlord in enforcing same.
- 2. The Guarantors do hereby waive notice of acceptance hereof and any and all other notices which by law or under the terms and provisions of the Lease are required to be given to the Tenant, and also waive any demand for or notice of default of the payment of rent and other sums which may be payable by the Tenant under the Lease and the performance of all and singular the terms, covenants, conditions and provisions in the Lease required to be performed by the Tenant; and the Guarantors do further expressly hereby waive any legal obligation, duty or necessity for the Landlord to proceed first against the Tenant or to exhaust any remedy the Landlord may have against the Tenant, it being agreed that in the event of default or failure of performance in any respect by the Tenant under the Lease, the Landlord may proceed and have right of action solely against either the Guarantors (or any of them) or the Tenant or jointly against the Guarantors (or any of them) and the Tenant.
- 3. In the event of any bankruptcy, reorganization, winding up or similar proceedings with respect to Tenant, no limitation of Tenant's liability under the Lease which may now or hereafter be imposed by any federal, state or other statute, law or regulation applicable to such proceedings, shall in any way limit the obligation of Guarantors hereunder, which obligation is co-extensive with Tenant's liability as set forth in the Lease without regard to any such limitation.

- 4. The Guarantors shall not be entitled to make any defense against any claim asserted by the Landlord in any suit or action instituted by the Landlord to enforce this Guaranty or the Lease or to be excused from any liability hereunder which the Tenant could not make or invoke, and the Guarantors hereby expressly waive any defense in law or in equity which is not or would not be available to the Tenant, it being the intent hereof that the liability of the Guarantors hereunder is primary and unconditional.
- 5. In the event it shall be asserted that Tenant's obligations are void or voidable due to illegal or unauthorized acts by Tenant in the execution of the Lease, the Guarantors shall nevertheless be liable hereunder to the same extent as the Guarantors would have been if the obligations of the Tenant had been enforceable against the Tenant.
- 6. In the event suit or action be brought upon and in connection with the enforcement of this Guaranty, the Guarantors shall pay reasonable attorneys' fees and all court costs incurred by the Landlord.
- 7. This Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect as to any renewal, extension, modification or amendment of the Lease and as to any assigns of Tenant's interest under the Lease, and despite any subletting of all or any portion of the leased premises.
- 8. This Guaranty shall be binding upon the heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the Guarantors, and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the Landlord. Landlord's interest under this Guaranty may be assigned by it by way of security or otherwise.
- 9. This Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect regardless of whether or not Tenant continues to be owned in whole or in part by Guarantors.
- 10. If the Guarantors, or any of them, are a corporation, then the undersigned officer of each such corporation personally represents and warrants that the Board of Directors of each such corporation, in a duly held meeting, has determined that this Guaranty may reasonably be expected to benefit said corporation.
- 11. The Guarantors agree that this contract is performable in Houston, Harris County, Texas and waive the right to be sued elsewhere.

| EXECUTED this the | _ day of | | 201 |
|-------------------|-----------------|------------|---------------------------|
| | GUARAN' | TORS: | |
| | Neighbors | Global | Holdings, LLC, a Delaware |
| | limited lial | oility con | npany A |
| | By | -W/ | tul |
| | / Name: | MUE | N. MENZICH |
| | Title: Co | 0 | N- MENZICH |
| | Date: 21 | الحد الا | - , |
| | Ado | lress: | 11200 Broadway St., |

Pearland, Texas 77584

EXHIBIT "K"

LANDLORD AGREEMENT

THIS LANDLORD AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made and entered into as of this ____ day of ____ 201__, by RKMS LUBBOCK LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Landlord"), for the benefit of NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership, ("Tenant"), and COMPASS BANK, an Alabama banking corporation, as lender ("Lender").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Landlord is the landlord of that certain property located at 4337 50th St., Lubbock, Texas (the "*Property*"), as more particularly described in that certain Lease Agreement dated ______ (as amended, restated, or supplemented from time to time, the "*Lease*"), a copy of which is attached hereto as *Exhibit A*;

WHEREAS, Lender and Neighbors Health System, Inc., a Texas corporation ("Borrower"), as borrower, have entered into a Credit Agreement (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the "Credit Agreement");

WHEREAS, Tenant has executed a Guaranty (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the "Guaranty"), secured in part by a security interest in, among other things, substantially all personal property assets of Tenant, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, which now or hereafter may be located on or about the Property (the "Collateral"); and

WHEREAS, Lender requires Landlord's consent and agreement as set forth herein as a condition to continuing to extend credit to Borrower.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord hereby agrees as follows:

1. <u>Consent.</u> Landlord agrees that, at Lender's option, the Collateral may remain upon the Property and Lender may occupy the same for the purpose of preparing and processing the Collateral for sale, lease or other disposition and for the purpose of conducting a sale of the Collateral, or removing the Collateral from the Property, for a period up to 45 days after (a) the exercise by Lender of its right to the Collateral under its financing arrangements with Tenant or (b) the receipt by Lender of written notice by Landlord directing removal thereof; *provided that*, (i) Lender may not conduct the sale or other disposition of the Collateral on the Property and may not post any signage regarding the sale on the Property, and (ii) Lender shall be liable for an occupancy charge on the actual number of days it occupies the Property at the rental provided under the Lease (or, if the Lease is not then in effect, at a rate to be agreed upon in writing by

Lender and Landlord), prorated on a per diem basis and further prorated based on the square footage of space to be occupied by Lender under this Section 1. Lender's payment of any such occupancy charge shall not result in Lender incurring any obligations of Tenant under the Lease or any other agreement. If Lender is prohibited by any process or injunction issued by any court, or by reason of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding involving Tenant, from enforcing its security interest in the Collateral, the 45 day period shall toll upon such proceeding and commence or recommence upon termination of such prohibition, so long as Lender is at all times pursuing its remedies with due diligence.

- 2. <u>Subordination</u>. Landlord claims no interest in or lien upon any of the Collateral, and subordinates any lien, security interest or claim against the Collateral, whether arising under the Lease or other agreement, provided by applicable law or otherwise, and any and all right of levy, distraint or execution against the Collateral for rent or other sums due or to become due Landlord. Landlord waives any and all right to require Lender to marshal any property or assets of Tenant. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, any Collateral not removed by Lender within the time periods required hereunder will conclusively be deemed abandoned, the Lender will automatically waive all rights the Lender may have in such Collateral, and the Landlord shall be entitled to exercise any perfected lien upon, and/or, to the extent permitted by law, remove, sell or dispose of any of the Collateral not removed by Lender within the time periods required hereunder.
- 3. <u>Personal Property</u>. Landlord agrees that, as between Lender and Landlord, the Collateral shall remain personal property, notwithstanding the manner of attachment, and will not become part of the Property. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Lender and Landlord agree that the Collateral shall not include (a) concrete floor, attached alterations, improvements and/or fixtures (including without limitation, floor covering, ceiling, permanent wall partitions, air conditioning and heating systems, fluorescent and drop in lighting fixtures, exterior and interior doors or kitchen or bathroom fixture, attached shelving, cabling, wiring or similar improvements), unless they are financed using proceeds of the Credit Agreement, or (b) any items that were paid for by Landlord.
- 4. <u>Right of Entry</u>. Lender or its representatives may enter the Property at any time to remove and/or dispose of the Collateral in the exercise of its rights and remedies against Tenant and the Collateral subject to the terms of this Agreement. Lender agrees to repair any damage (ordinary wear and tear excluded) caused by Lender's removal of the Collateral. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 4 to the contrary, neither Lender nor any of its representatives may enter the Property until a certificate of insurance has been delivered to Landlord which covers any party entering the Premises.
- 5. <u>Estoppel</u>. Landlord certifies to Lender and agrees as of the date Landlord executes this Agreement:

- a. <u>Valid Lease</u>. The Lease is enforceable against the Landlord according to its terms. To the Landlord's actual knowledge, the Lease is valid and has not been modified either orally or in writing.
- b. <u>No Defaults</u>. Landlord is not in, and to Landlord's knowledge, Tenant is not in, default under the Lease, nor has any event occurred which, with the passage of time, the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an event of default or default under the Lease.
- 6. <u>Notice of Default and Opportunity to Cure</u>. Landlord agrees that in the event of any claimed breach or default by Tenant which would entitle Landlord to terminate the Lease, Landlord shall notify Lender of such claimed breach or default by certified mail, return receipt requested, or Federal Express or other reputable overnight courier, at the following address:

Compass Bank 2200 Post Oak Blvd., 20th Floor Houston, Texas 77056 Attention: Cindy Young Telephone: 713-499-8632 Facsimile: 713-966-2388

Upon receipt of said notice, Lender shall thereupon at its option (and without obligation) have 30 days to cure said default (but in no event shall Lender be required to cure any such default); *provided*, however, in the event such default is not reasonably susceptible of being cured within 30 days, such 30 day cure period shall be extended as reasonably necessary to allow Lender an opportunity (and without obligation) to cure such default provided that Lender has commenced such cure within said 30 day period and thereafter continues to diligently pursue such cure to completion.

- 7. <u>Continued Effectiveness</u>. The effectiveness of this Agreement and Lender's rights hereunder shall not be affected by and shall extend to any amendment or modification of the loan documents, including, without limitation, any change in the manner or time of payment, any renewal or extension of the term thereof, or any increase in the indebtedness due thereunder.
- 8. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Texas, without regard to conflicts of law principles, shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns, and may not be modified, amended or altered except by a writing signed by each of the parties hereto.

[Signature and acknowledgement appears on following page.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement is executed as of the date set forth in the Landlord's notary acknowledgement below but is to be effective for all purposes as of the date set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

LANDLORD:

RKMS LUBBOCK LLC, a Texas limited liability company

Name: Jeffrey A. Read Title: Marager

STATE OF TEXAS

COUNTY OF HAVIS §

This instrument was acknowledged before me on this 2 day of 12015, by 125 white Lubber of RKMS Lubbock LLC, a Texas limited liability company, on behalf of said limited liability company, and for the purpose and consideration herein stated.

ANNEMIEKE M. BAV

Nolary Public, State of Texas

My Commission Expires

July 23, 2019

Notary Public in and for the

State of Texas

§

| TEI | NA | N | Т: |
|-----|----|---|----|
|-----|----|---|----|

NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership

By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner

By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH SYSTEM, INC., its Мападер Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer Date: 21 15 STATE OF TEXAS COUNTY OF Harris \$ This instrument was acknowledged before me on this 2 day of December 2015, by Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer of Neighbors Health System, Inc., a _____ corporation, Manager of Neighbors GP, LLC, a _____ limited liability company, general partner of NEC Lubbock Emergency Center, LP, a Texas limited partnership, on behalf of said corporation, limited liability company, and partnership, and for the purpose and consideration herein stated. Notary Public in and for the ANNEMIEKE M. BAY State of Texas lotary Public, State of Texas

My Commission Expires
July 23, 2019

| | LENDER: | | | |
|----------------------------|--|--------------|------------------|-----------|
| | COMPASS BANK, corporation | an | Alabama | n banking |
| | By: Name: Title: | | | |
| STATE OF TEXAS § COUNTY OF | | | | |
| This instrument was | knowledged before me on this | s da of C | ay of COMPASS | BANK, an |
| | Notary Public in and State of Texas | l for the | | |

FIRST AMENDMENT OF LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT OF LEASE AGREEMENT (this "Amendment") is entered into to be effective on February 16, 2016 (the "Effective Date"), by and between RKMS LUBBOCK LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Landlord") and NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER LP, a Texas limited partnership ("Tenant"), which parties make the following recitals and agreements:

RECITALS:

- A. Landlord and Tenant are parties to the LEASE AGREEMENT dated effective December 21, 2015 (the "Lease") covering leased space described in the Lease (the "Leased Premises") located at the 4337 50th Street, Lubbock, Texas.
- B. Landlord and Tenant now desire to amend the Lease as provided below. Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Amendment, capitalized terms used in this Amendment shall have the same meanings as in the Lease.

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

AMENDMENT OF LEASE

- 1. <u>Site Plan Depicting the Property</u>. Exhibit B attached to this Amendment is hereby adopted as Exhibit B to the Lease.
- 2. <u>Binding Effect</u>. Except as modified by this Amendment, the terms and provisions of the Lease shall remain in full force and effect, and the Lease, as modified by this Amendment, shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties to this Amendment, their successors and permitted assigns. This Amendment shall become effective only after its full execution and delivery by Landlord and Tenant.
- 3. <u>Miscellaneous</u>. Bold and/or underlined headings and captions are for reference only and are not to be construed to expand or limit the provisions with which they are associated. This Amendment may not be changed or modified except in writing signed by all of the parties to be bound thereby. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts and by facsimile signatures (including signatures transmitted by email). Each counterpart will be deemed an original and all counterparts, when taken together, will constitute one agreement between all the parties signing a counterpart.

SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGE

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as of the day and year first above written.

LANDLORD

RKMS LUBBOCK LLC, a Texas limited liability company

Name: Jeffrey A. Read

Title: Maraget

TENANT

NEC LUBBOCK EMERGENCY CENTER LP, a Texas limited partnership

By: Neighbors GP, LLC, its general partner

By: Neighbors Health System LLC, its Manager

Name: BRUCE W. MCV=IGH

Title: CHIEF OFFICER OFFICER

EXHIBIT B <u>SITE PLAN DEPICTING THE PROPERTY</u> (or portion thereof to be occupied by Tenant)

SCHEMATIC DESIGN in a partie of the property of the parties of the p Assiste. F.F. Neighbors Health System **NEC LUBBOCK** III AROHTECTS

EXHIBIT "B"

LEASE AGREEMENT

between

RKMS PARIS LLC ("Landlord")

and

NEC PARIS EMERGENCY CENTER, LP ("Tenant")

SUMMARY OF BASIC LEASE PROVISIONS

1. Location: NE Loop 286, Paris, Texas

2. Commencement Date: See Article 5

3. Landlord's Address: c/o Read King, Inc.

5850 San Felipe, Suite 490 Houston, Texas 77057

Attention: Mr. Tim Delgado

4. Tenant's Address: Before the Commencement Date:

NEC Paris Emergency Center, LP 11200 Broadway, Ste. 2320

Pearland, Texas 77584 Attn: Paul Alleyne, MD

From and after the Commencement Date:

At the address of the Leased Premises

Attention: Dr. Paul Alleyne

5. Leased Premises: Approximately 8,066 square foot building and the Property

6. Primary Term: Twelve (12) years

7. Extension Options: Three (3) additional periods of Five (5) years

8. Base Rent: The Rent Schedule below shows estimated increases.

The Rent Increases shall be equal to a 2% increase per year.

Primary Term

| | Rent Per Sq Ft | Annual Rent | Monthly Rent |
|---------------|----------------|--------------------|--------------|
| Lease Year 1 | \$56.15 | \$452,895.45 | \$37,741.29 |
| Lease Year 2 | \$57.27 | \$461,953.36 | \$38,496.11 |
| Lease Year 3 | \$58.42 | \$471,192.43 | \$39,266.04 |
| Lease Year 4 | \$59.59 | \$480,616.27 | \$40,051.36 |
| Lease Year 5 | \$60.78 | \$490,228.60 | \$40,852.38 |
| Lease Year 6 | \$61.99 | \$500,033.17 | \$41,669.43 |
| Lease Year 7 | \$63.23 | \$510,033.84 | \$42,502.82 |
| Lease Year 8 | \$64.50 | \$520,234.51 | \$43,352.88 |
| Lease Year 9 | \$65.79 | \$530,639.20 | \$44,219.93 |
| Lease Year 10 | \$67.10 | \$541,251.99 | \$45,104.33 |

| Lease Year 11 | \$68.44 | \$552,077.03 | \$46,006.42 |
|---------------|---------|--------------|-------------|
| Lease Year 12 | \$69.81 | \$563,118.57 | \$46,926.55 |

Extension Terms

| | Per Sq Ft | Annual Rent Mont | hly Rent |
|---------------|-----------|------------------|-------------|
| Lease Year 13 | \$71.21 | \$574,380.94 | \$47,865.08 |
| Lease Year 14 | \$72.63 | \$585,868.56 | \$48,822.38 |
| Lease Year 15 | \$74.09 | \$597,585.93 | \$49,798.83 |
| Lease Year 16 | \$75.57 | \$609,537.65 | \$50,794.80 |
| Lease Year 17 | \$77.08 | \$621,728.40 | \$51,810.70 |
| Lease Year 18 | \$78.62 | \$634,162.97 | \$52,846.91 |
| Lease Year 19 | \$80.19 | \$646,846.23 | \$53,903.85 |
| Lease Year 20 | \$81.80 | \$659,783.15 | \$54,981.93 |
| Lease Year 21 | \$83.43 | \$672,978.81 | \$56,081.57 |
| Lease Year 22 | \$85.10 | \$686,438.39 | \$57,203.20 |
| Lease Year 23 | \$86.80 | \$700,167.16 | \$58,347.26 |
| Lease Year 24 | \$88.54 | \$714,170.50 | \$59,514.21 |
| Lease Year 25 | \$90.31 | \$728,453.91 | \$60,704.49 |
| Lease Year 26 | \$92.12 | \$743,022.99 | \$61,918.58 |
| Lease Year 27 | \$93.96 | \$757,883.45 | \$63,156.95 |

9. Percentage Rent: None

10. Guarantor: Neighbors Global Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE | | | PAGE |
|----------------|-----------------|---|-------------|
| ARTICLE 1 | DEFINITIO | ONS | 1 |
| ARTICLE 2 | DEMISE O | F LEASED PREMISES | 4 |
| ARTICLE 3 | | OCCUPANCY | |
| ARTICLE 4 | ORIGINAL | CONSTRUCTION | 7 |
| ARTICLE 5 | COMMENO | CEMENT DATE | 8 |
| ARTICLE 6 | TERM | | 9 |
| ARTICLE 7 | BASE REN | T AND ADDITIONAL RENT | 9 |
| ARTICLE 8 | PERCENTA | AGE RENT | 12 |
| ARTICLE 9 | REPAIRS A | ND MAINTENANCE | 12 |
| ARTICLE 10 | ALTERATI | ONS | 13 |
| ARTICLE 11 | INSURANC | E | 14 |
| ARTICLE 12 | INDEMNIF | ICATION AND WAIVERS | 15 |
| ARTICLE 13 | DAMAGE A | AND DESTRUCTION | 16 |
| ARTICLE 14 | | ATION | |
| ARTICLE 15 | SIGNAGE | | 18 |
| ARTICLE 16 | FIXTURES | AND PERSONAL PROPERTY | 19 |
| ARTICLE 17 | LIENS | | 20 |
| ARTICLE 18 | ASSIGNME | NT AND SUBLETTING | 20 |
| ARTICLE 19 | SURRENDE | ER OF PREMISES | 21 |
| ARTICLE 20 | DEFAULT I | BY TENANT | 22 |
| ARTICLE 21 | SECURITY | DEPOSIT | 25 |
| ARTICLE 22 | LANDLORI | O'S LIEN | 25 |
| ARTICLE 23 | DEFAULT I | BY LANDLORD | 26 |
| ARTICLE 24 | LIABILITY | OF LANDLORD | 26 |
| ARTICLE 25 | MORTGAG | EE PROVISIONS | 27 |
| ARTICLE 26 | MISCELLA | NEOUS | 28 |
| | | | |
| EXHIBITS | | | |
| Exhibit "A" | 1.27 | Legal Description of the Property | |
| Exhibit "B" | _ | Site Plan Depicting the Property | |
| Exhibit "C" | 2 | Work Letter | |
| Exhibit "D" | - | Acceptance Letter | |
| Exhibit "E" | _ | Confirmation of Commencement Date | |
| Exhibit "F" | | Building Fascia Sign Criteria | |
| Exhibit "G" | _ | Rules and Regulations | |
| Exhibit "H" | 9 | Intentionally Deleted | |
| Exhibit "I" | - | Form of Subordination, Non-Disturbance and Attornment | |
| | | Agreement | |
| Exhibit "J" | - | Guaranty | |
| Exhibit "K" | * | Form of Landlord Agreement | |
| | | | |

LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (hereinafter called this "Lease" or this "Agreement") is made and entered into by and between RKMS Paris LLC (hereinafter called "Landlord") and NEC Paris Emergency Center, LP, a Texas limited partnership (hereinafter called "Tenant," whether one or more) (hereinafter called "Tenant").

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS

- payable by Tenant to Landlord in accordance with Section 8 of the Summary of Basic Lease Provisions, and Article 7.1 hereof.
- 1.2 <u>Charges</u>. The term "<u>Charges</u>" shall mean the aggregate of Real Estate Taxes and Insurance Premiums, and an administrative charge payable to Landlord in an amount not to exceed ten percent (10%) of all of the foregoing costs and expenses.
- 1.3 <u>Commencement Date</u>. The term "<u>Commencement Date</u>" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Article 5 hereof.
- 1.4 <u>Common Areas</u>. The term "Common Areas" shall mean all portions of the Property except for the Freestanding Building, which may include (if provided), but shall not be limited to, parking areas, driveways, truckways, delivery passages, truck loading areas, access and egress roads, walkways, sidewalks, pedestrian malls (covered or open), courts, corridors, and landscaping.

1.5 <u>Common Area Maintenance Costs.</u> Intentionally deleted

- 1.6 <u>Delivery Date</u>. The term "<u>Delivery Date</u>" shall mean the date the Freestanding Building (as defined in Article 1.10) is substantially completed (as defined in Section II of Exhibit C) and delivered to Tenant in such condition that Tenant can commence installation of Tenant's Work (as defined in Section 4.1).
- 1.7 <u>Effective Date</u>. The term "<u>Effective Date</u>" shall mean the date when both Landlord and Tenant have executed this Lease, which shall be filled in by the last party to execute this Lease on the signature page hereto.
- **1.8** Extension Term. The word "Extension Term" shall mean the three (3) additional, consecutive five (5) year terms by which Tenant has an option to extend this Lease as provided in Section 6.2 hereof.

1.9 Gross Income. Intentionally deleted.

1.10 <u>Gross Leasable Area</u>. The term "<u>Gross Leasable Area</u>" shall mean the floor area within the exterior surface of the outer glass or outer wall, as the case may be, enclosing

the free-standing building located within the Leased Premises (the "Freestanding Building"), and shall be determined by measuring the floor area of the Freestanding Building from the exterior face of each side of the Freestanding Building to the exterior face of the opposite sides of the Freestanding Building. No floor or other area outside the boundaries stated in the preceding sentence shall be included in the floor area of the Freestanding Building. The parties acknowledge and agree that the Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building shall be based on the foregoing measurement methodology, and is anticipated to be approximately eight thousand sixty-six (8,066) square feet. The Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building may be more or less than eight thousand sixty-six (8,066) square feet as a result of minor variations resulting from actual construction and completion for occupancy. Once Landlord has determined the precise Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building, it shall confirm the adjusted Gross Leasable Area and Base Rent, all of which are dependent on the actual amount of floor area covered or to be covered by this Lease, and this Lease shall be deemed amended upon such determination to change the Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building and Base Rent to the amounts consistent with the actual Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building. Any such amendment to this Lease of the Gross Leasable Area that exceeds 500 square feet shall require written approval of Tenant.

- 1.11 <u>Insurance Premiums</u>. The term "<u>Insurance Premiums</u>" shall mean the aggregate amount of all premiums, fees, charges, and other costs or expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with providing the insurance for the Leased Premises required by Section 11.1 hereof.
- 1.12 <u>Lease Month</u>. The term "<u>Lease Month</u>" shall mean any calendar month during a Lease Year.
- 1.13 <u>Lease Year</u>. The term "<u>Lease Year</u>" shall mean each successive twelve (12) month period, commencing on the Commencement Date, throughout the Term of this Lease, plus any additional period of time that may be required to be added in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.1 hereof.

1.14 Lease Year Break Point. Intentionally deleted.

- 1.15 <u>Leased Premises</u>. The term "<u>Leased Premises</u>" shall mean the Property (as defined in Article 1.21), the Freestanding Building, the parking areas, drive aisles, sidewalks, drainage systems (including water quality and detention), landscaping, pylon signage, and any and all other site improvements constructed within the exterior boundaries of the Property. The Freestanding Building shall be located in and be a part of the Leased Premises in the location shown on the Site Plan (as defined in Article 1.26).
- 1.16 Partial Lease Month. The term "Partial Lease Month" shall mean either: (i) the period beginning on the first (1st) day of the Primary Term (if such day is not the first (1st) day of a calendar month) and ending on the last day of such calendar month, subject to the provisions of Section 6.1; or (ii) the period beginning on the first (1st) day of the last calendar month occurring during the Term, and ending on the last day of the Term (if such day is not the last day of a calendar month).

- 1.17 <u>Partial Lease Year</u>. The term "<u>Partial Lease Year</u>" shall mean either: (i) the period of time by which the first (1st) Lease Year of the Primary Term exceeds three hundred sixty-five (365) days as a result of the provisions of Section 6.1 hereof; or (ii) the period beginning on the first (1st) day of the final Lease Year and ending on the last day of the Term (if such date does not coincide with the end of a Lease Year).
 - 1.18 Partial Lease Year Break Point. Intentionally deleted.
 - 1.19 Percentage Rent. Intentionally deleted.
- 1.20 <u>Primary Term</u>. The term "<u>Primary Term</u>" shall mean the initial twelve (12) year term of this Lease.
- 1.21 <u>Property</u>. The term "<u>Property</u>" shall mean the property located at NE Loop 286, Paris, Texas, which Property is more particularly described on Exhibit A attached hereto.

1.22 Pro Rata Share. Intentionally deleted

- 1.23 Real Estate Taxes. The term "Real Estate Taxes" shall mean any and all real property and/or ad valorem taxes, general, special or extraordinary assessments, maintenance fees, municipal utility district or other public, quasi-public or private fees, charges or assessments and any other taxes, assessments, charges or levies of every kind or character (including any lease, rent or occupancy tax) now or hereafter applicable to the Leased Premises, but excluding any income or profit taxes of Landlord. Real Estate Taxes shall also include the costs incurred by Landlord to contest, review or negotiate any tax or assessment applicable to the Property.
- 1.24 <u>Rent</u>. The term "<u>Rent</u>" shall mean the total of all payments to be made by Tenant hereunder including, but not limited to, Base Rent, Charges and all other sums specified herein to be additional rent.
- 1.25 <u>Restrictions</u>. The term "<u>Restrictions</u>" shall mean the restrictions of record recorded in the Official Public Records of Real Property of Lamar County, Texas, as of the Effective Date. Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees that this Lease is subject to the Restrictions. Subject to the Restrictions, Tenant shall have full use and enjoyment of the Leased Premises, including all parking spaces included within the Property, and shall have the exclusive right to establish reasonable rules and regulations for the use of such parking areas.
- 1.26 <u>Site Plan</u>. The term "<u>Site Plan</u>" shall mean the proposed plan for the development of the Leased Premises as set forth on Exhibit "B" attached hereto. It is understood and agreed that the Site Plan is preliminary in nature and subject to modification, but no such modification shall materially and adversely affect the location or visibility of the Freestanding Building without Tenant's written consent.
- 1.27 <u>Term.</u> The word "<u>Term</u>" of this Lease shall mean the Primary Term of this Lease together with any Extension Term(s) of this Lease.

3

1.28 <u>Work Letter</u>. The term "<u>Work Letter</u>" shall mean that certain Work Letter attached hereto as Exhibit "C" which shall govern the construction and improvement of the Leased Premises.

ARTICLE 2 DEMISE OF LEASED PREMISES

For and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Landlord does hereby demise and lease unto Tenant, and Tenant does hereby lease from Landlord, the Leased Premises, upon the terms, conditions and provisions hereinafter set Provided, however, Tenant acknowledges that Landlord does not currently own the Property but has the right to purchase the property pursuant to that certain Commercial Contract-Unimproved Property (the "Purchase Agreement") by and between Landlord, as Buyer, and B.C. Muthappa and Devabrata Ganguly, together as Seller. In the event that the Landlord does not close on its acquisition of the Property by December 31, 2016 (herein, the "Outside Acquisition Date"), either Tenant or Landlord may, as their sole and exclusive remedy, terminate the Lease upon written notice to the other given within thirty (30) days after the Outside Acquisition Date. Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that Landlord is not a "referring physician" or a "referral source" as to Tenant for services paid for by Medicare or a state health care program, as the terms are defined under any federal or state health care anti-referral or anti-kickback, regulation, interpretation or opinion, and there are no referring physicians who are owners of any interest in Landlord, and that if there are is a change(s) to the foregoing conditions which affect Landlord, Landlord shall provide Tenant with written notice within ten (10) days of such change(s).

ARTICLE 3 USE AND OCCUPANCY

- 3.1 <u>Use and Name</u>. Tenant agrees that the Leased Premises are to be used solely and for the operation of a freestanding emergency medical care facility and other health care related functions permitted by the Restrictions and applicable law (the "<u>Permitted Use</u>"), and Tenant shall not use or permit the use of the Leased Premises for any other purpose without first obtaining the written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant's Permitted Use shall be subject to the Restrictions. The name under which Tenant's business is to be conducted at the Leased Premises shall be "Neighbors Emergency Center," and Tenant shall not conduct its business at the Leased Premises under any other name without Landlord's prior written consent, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 3.2 Covenant of Continuous Operation. Throughout the Term of this Lease, Tenant covenants that it shall conduct its business in the Leased Premises with due diligence and without interruption. No interruption of Tenant's business by reason of strikes, walkouts, fire or other damage, enemy action, civil commotion, inability to obtain labor or materials or similar causes beyond Tenant's reasonable control shall constitute a default within the meaning of this Section. Tenant shall, except during reasonable periods for repairing, cleaning and decorating,

keep the Leased Premises open to the public for business with adequate and competent personnel in attendance on all days and during all hours (including evenings) as is customary for the Permitted Use, except to the extent Tenant may be prohibited from being open for business by applicable law, ordinance or governmental regulation.

- 3.3 <u>Quiet Possession</u>. So long as Tenant is not in default hereunder, Landlord shall place Tenant in quiet possession of the Leased Premises throughout the Term hereof, and shall secure Tenant in the quiet possession thereof against all persons lawfully claiming the same during the entire Term of this Lease.
- 3.4 <u>Waste and Nuisance</u>. Tenant shall not commit, or suffer to be committed, any waste upon the Leased Premises, nor shall Tenant maintain, commit or permit the maintenance or commission of any unreasonable disturbance of others or public nuisance from or upon the Leased Premises. In addition, Tenant shall take appropriate steps to prevent its operations from clogging the utility lines serving the Leased Premises.
- Compliance. The Leased Premises shall be delivered to Tenant in 3.5 compliance with all applicable laws, ordinances, orders and regulations, including, but not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act. Subject to the preceding sentence, Tenant shall comply, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, with all existing and future laws, ordinances, orders and regulations affecting Tenant's use and occupancy of the Leased Premises and the cleanliness, safety or operation thereof. Tenant shall not use or occupy the Leased Premises for any purpose or in any manner which shall violate applicable law or any of the terms and provisions of this Lease or any instrument of record affecting the Leased Premises as of the Effective Date hereof, and Tenant shall be responsible at Tenant's sole risk and expense to obtain any and all permits or licenses required for the operation of its business. Tenant agrees to comply with the regulations and requirements of any insurance underwriter, inspection bureau or similar agency with respect to the Leased Premises, and to permit Landlord to comply with such regulations and requirements with respect to that portion of the Leased Premises comprising Landlord's Work. Tenant agrees not to: (i) permit any illegal practice to be carried on or committed on the Leased Premises; (ii) make use of or allow the Leased Premises to be used for any purpose other than that permitted under Section 3.1 hereof or that might invalidate or increase the rate of insurance therefor; (iii) keep or use or permit to be kept or used on the Leased Premises any flammable fluids, gases, explosives or other hazardous materials except in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations; (iv) deface or injure the Freestanding Building of the Leased Premises or the Property; or (v) overload the floor, roof, structural, mechanical, electrical or plumbing systems.

3.6 Environmental Matters.

(a) <u>Definitions</u>. As used herein, "<u>Environmental Waste</u>" shall mean any substance, material, or waste that is regulated by any federal, state, or local governmental or quasi-governmental authority because of its toxicity, infectiousness, radioactivity, explosiveness, ignitability, corrosiveness, or reactivity; and "<u>Environmental Requirements</u>" shall mean all legal requirements relating to industrial hygiene, protection of human health, hazard communication, employees' right-to-know, environmental protection, or the use, handling, storage, disposal, control, transportation, or emission of any Environmental Waste.

- (b) Restrictions on Environmental Wastes. Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that Tenant shall not cause or knowingly permit any Environmental Waste to be brought upon, generated, produced, kept, or used in or about the Leased Premises by Tenant or any of Tenant's employees, agents, officers, directors, invitees, or licensees, except such Environmental Waste that is used on the Leased Premises in the ordinary course of Tenant's business (and such business is one or more of the Permitted Uses), and provided Tenant complies with all Environmental Requirements in connection with such activities.
- (c) <u>Notices</u>. Tenant shall promptly deliver to Landlord copies of any reports made to or received from any governmental entity arising out of or relating to any Environmental Waste on or from the Leased Premises, including without limitation, any emergency plans or inventories of Environmental Wastes submitted to any such governmental entity pursuant to any Environmental Requirement and copies of all hazardous waste manifests reflecting the disposal of all Environmental Wastes removed by Tenant from the Leased Premises. If at any time Tenant shall become aware or have reasonable cause to believe that any Environmental Waste, other than those already known by Landlord or permitted under this Lease, have come to be located in or about the Leased Premises, or that any known Environmental Wastes have been or may be released into the environment, Tenant shall immediately give notice thereof to Landlord.
- (d) <u>Compliance with Environmental Requirements</u>. Tenant shall at its expense fully comply with all applicable Environmental Requirements and prudent industry practices. Except as discharged into the sanitary sewer in compliance with all applicable Environmental Requirements, Tenant shall cause all Environmental Wastes removed from the Leased Premises to be removed and transported solely by duly licensed haulers to duly licensed facilities for final disposal and shall provide Landlord with evidence of such property disposal, including without limitation, all manifests (which manifests shall list Tenant as the generator of all such Environmental Wastes). Upon expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall cause to be removed from the Leased Premises, all Environmental Wastes that Tenant or any employee, officer, director, agent, licensee, or invitee of Tenant caused or permitted to be located there.
- (e) <u>Tenant's Responsibility for Environmental Wastes</u>. Tenant agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from and against any and all claims, liabilities, penalties fines, judgments, forfeitures, losses (including without limitation reasonable attorneys' fees, consultant fees, expert fees, and costs) arising out of or in connection with the removal, storage, transportation and disposal of Environmental Waste brought upon, generated, produced, kept, or used in or about the Leased Premises by Tenant or any of Tenant's employees, agents, officers, directors, invitees, or licensees (collectively, "<u>Tenant's Waste</u>"); the Tenant's failure to comply with any and all Environmental Requirements in connection with Environmental Waste used in or about the Leased Premises; any claims made by any of Tenant's employees, agents, officers, directors, licensees or invitees arising out of the presence, removal, storage or transportation of Tenant's Waste on or from the Leased Premises; and Tenant's use, analysis, storage, transportation, disposal, release, threatened release, discharge or generation of any Environmental Wastes in, on under, to about or from the Leased Premises.

6

3.7 Access to Leased Premises. Throughout the Term of this Lease, upon reasonable notice to Tenant and subject to Tenant's right to have a Tenant representative present at all times and during Tenant's normal business hours (but at times that do not unduly interfere with Tenant's business), except in an bona fide emergency situation during which Landlord or its agents or contractors may enter the Leased Premises without notice at any time, Landlord or its agents or contractors may enter the Leased Premises for the purposes of: (i) inspecting same for compliance with Tenant's obligations hereunder; (ii) performing any obligations of Landlord; and (iii) displaying the Leased Premises to prospective purchasers, mortgagees, or, during the last six (6) months of the Term, prospective tenants. Unless Tenant is in Default (as hereinafter defined), Landlord's uses or activities pursuant to this Section 3.7 shall be conducted in a manner not to unreasonably interfere with Tenant's use and enjoyment of the Leased Premises. In no event shall Landlord, its agents or employees have access to any patient medical records or other "protected health information" (as such term is defined in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended) stored or maintained at the Leased Premises. Landlord and Landlord's agents and contractors shall conduct the foregoing activities in a manner reasonably calculated to minimize interference with Tenant's ongoing patient care activities at the Leased Premises.

ARTICLE 4 ORIGINAL CONSTRUCTION

- 4.1 Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work. Landlord agrees, at its sole cost and expense, to perform "Landlord's Work" (as defined in the Work Letter) in the construction of the Leased Premises substantially in accordance with the Work Letter. All work in or upon the Leased Premises other than the Landlord's Work is to be performed by Tenant at Tenant's sole cost and expense (such work being hereinafter called "Tenant's Work") as described in the Work Letter. Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work shall in all respects be governed by and performed in accordance with the Work Letter.
- 4.2 Acceptance of Leased Premises. Except for the performance of Landlord's Work as set forth in the Work Letter and other terms and conditions of this Lease, Tenant will accept the Leased Premises in their "AS IS, WHERE IS" conditions, with all faults, and agrees that, except as specifically provided to the contrary in this Lease, Landlord shall have no obligation to perform any work in or about the Leased Premises. Tenant shall have a period of thirty (30) days following the Delivery Date to provide Landlord with a list (the "Punch List") setting forth in detail any defects with respect to Landlord's Work in or about the Leased Premises. In the event Tenant shall fail to deliver such Punch List to Landlord within said thirty (30) day period, Tenant shall be deemed to have accepted Landlord's Work. If Tenant shall deliver such Punch List to Landlord within said 30-day period, then Landlord shall be obligated within a reasonable amount of time to cure any defects relating to such Punch List. Within ten (10) business days of (i) Landlord's cure of the defects, if any, specified in Tenant's notice, (ii) the determination of the Gross Leasable Area of the Freestanding Building as provided for herein, and (iii) Landlord's delivery of an Acceptance Letter in substantially the form of Exhibit "D" attached hereto with all true factual information inserted, and a written request from Landlord for Tenant to execute said letter, Tenant shall execute and deliver said letter to Landlord.

- 4.3 Services. As part of Landlord's Work, Landlord shall cause the necessary mains, conduits and other facilities to be provided to make water, sanitary sewer, drainage systems (including water quality and detention) phone, conduit for data, refuse collection, natural gas, and electricity available to the Leased Premises, including, to the extent applicable, the Freestanding Building. The foregoing provisions shall not require that Landlord pay any utility or other deposits or charges of any kind or nature on behalf of Tenant for utility services used in the Leased Premises. The parties shall cause all such services to be separately metered to the Leased Premises. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant in damages or otherwise if the said utilities or services are interrupted or terminated because of necessary repairs, installations or improvements, or any cause beyond Landlord's reasonable control, nor shall any such interruption or termination relieve Tenant of the performance of any of its obligations hereunder. No interruption shall be construed as either a constructive or actual eviction of Tenant or cause any abatement of Rent unless due to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the interruption or termination in utilities results from Landlord's negligence and materially interferes with Tenant's use of the Leased Premises for a period of three (3) consecutive working days, Rent shall equitably abate during the period following such three (3) working days that the interruption or termination in utilities continues to materially interfere with Tenant's use of the Leased Premises.
- 4.4 <u>Insurance During Construction</u>. Tenant agrees, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, to obtain and maintain (or cause to be obtained and maintained) public liability and property damage insurance and worker's compensation insurance adequate to fully protect Landlord, as well as Tenant, from and against any and all liability for death of or injury to person or damage to property caused in or about or by reason of the construction of Tenant's Work. The public liability insurance to be maintained by Tenant shall be in at least the amount of \$1 million per occurrence and \$2 million in the aggregate.
- 4.5 <u>Construction.</u> In the event Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work shall progress simultaneously, Landlord shall not be liable for any injury to person or damage to property of Tenant, or of Tenant's employees, licensees, agents, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers or invitees from any cause whatsoever occurring upon or about the Leased Premises, except the negligence, illegal conduct or willful misconduct of Landlord or its agents or employees, and Tenant shall indemnify and hold Landlord harmless from any and all liability and claims arising out of or connected with any such injury or damage unless such liability is the result of Landlord's negligence, illegal conduct or willful misconduct, or that of its agents or employees.

ARTICLE 5 COMMENCEMENT DATE

Tenant's obligation to pay Rent shall commence on the date (hereinafter called the "Commencement Date") which is the earlier of: (a) one hundred and fifty (150) days after the Delivery Date, or (b) the date Tenant opens for business in the Freestanding Building. Landlord and Tenant agree to execute a Confirmation of the Commencement Date in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit "E" within ten (10) business days after (i) the Commencement Date is established, (ii) Landlord's delivery to Tenant of Confirmation of the Commencement Date in

substantially the form of Exhibit "E" attached hereto with all true factual information inserted, and (iii) a written request from Landlord for Tenant to execute said letter.

ARTICLE 6 TERM

- 6.1 Primary Term. The Primary Term of this Lease shall begin on the Effective Date and shall end on the last day of the one hundred forty-fourth (144th) full calendar month after the Commencement Date, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the provisions hereof; provided, however, that, if the Commencement Date is a day other than the first (1st) day of a calendar month, then the first (1st) Lease Year shall begin on the Commencement Date and end on the last day of the month following the expiration of twelve (12) months after the Commencement Date, each subsequent Lease Year shall begin on the first day of the month following the end of the preceding Lease Year and continue for the next consecutive twelve month period, and the Primary Term shall continue until the last day of the month following the expiration of one hundred forty-four (144) full calendar months after the Commencement Date.
- **Extension Options.** Provided that Tenant is not in default of any material term, covenant, or condition contained in this Lease when exercising an "Extension Option," as defined below, Tenant shall have three (3) successive options (each such option is individually called an "Extension Option") to extend this Lease for additional periods of five (5) years each (each such term is individually called an "Extension Term") on the same terms and conditions as provided herein; provided, however, that the Base Rent payable during each Extension Term shall be as provided in Section 7.1 (c) hereof. In order to exercise an Extension Option, Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing of Tenant's intention to extend not more than one (1) year nor less than six (6) months prior to the end of the Primary Term (or the then expiring Extension Term, if any, as the case may be) of this Lease. Time is of the essence. In the event that Tenant fails to provide written notice to Landlord of Tenant's exercise of an Extension Option within the time period specified above, the Extension Option (and all subsequent Extension Options) shall automatically terminate and Tenant shall be deemed to have irrevocably waived such Extension Options.
- 6.3 <u>Holdover</u>. If Tenant shall remain in possession of the Leased Premises after the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, then Tenant shall be a tenant at will, terminable at any time, and shall be liable for 150% of the Base Rent in effect at the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, and shall be subject to all of the other obligations of Tenant under this Lease. Additionally, Tenant shall pay to Landlord all actual damages sustained by Landlord on account of such holding over by Tenant. Nothing contained in the foregoing, however, shall be construed as the consent to any holding over by Landlord.

ARTICLE 7 BASE RENT AND ADDITIONAL RENT

7.1 <u>Base Rent</u>. Tenant does hereby covenant and agree to pay a fixed minimum rental (hereinafter called "<u>Base Rent</u>") to Landlord, without notice, counterclaim or (except as specifically provided herein to the contrary) offset, for the use and occupancy of the Leased Premises, at the times and in the manner hereinafter provided, as follows:

- (a) During the Primary Term of this Lease, Tenant shall pay Landlord Base Rent in the following amounts, subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10 and 7.1(b):
- (b) The Rent Schedule below shows estimated increases. The Rent Increases shall be equal to a 2% increase per year.

| | Primary Term | | |
|---------------|----------------|--------------------|---------------------|
| | Rent Per Sq Ft | Annual Rent | Monthly Rent |
| Lease Year 1 | \$56.15 | \$452,895.45 | \$37,741.29 |
| Lease Year 2 | \$57.27 | \$461,953.36 | \$38,496.11 |
| Lease Year 3 | \$58.42 | \$471,192.43 | \$39,266.04 |
| Lease Year 4 | \$59.59 | \$480,616.27 | \$40,051.36 |
| Lease Year 5 | \$60.78 | \$490,228.60 | \$40,852.38 |
| Lease Year 6 | \$61.99 | \$500,033.17 | \$41,669.43 |
| Lease Year 7 | \$63.23 | \$510,033.84 | \$42,502.82 |
| Lease Year 8 | \$64.50 | \$520,234.51 | \$43,352.88 |
| Lease Year 9 | \$65.79 | \$530,639.20 | \$44,219.93 |
| Lease Year 10 | \$67.10 | \$541,251.99 | \$45,104.33 |
| Lease Year 11 | \$68.44 | \$552,077.03 | \$46,006.42 |
| Lease Year 12 | \$69.81 | \$563,118.57 | \$46,926.55 |

(c) During Extension Term(s) of this Lease, if so exercised by Tenant as provided herein, Tenant shall pay Landlord Base Rent in the following amounts, subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 1.10 and 7.1(b):

| Extension Terms | | |
|-----------------|--|---|
| Per Sq Ft | Annual Rent Monthly I | Rent |
| \$71.21 | \$574,380.94 | \$47,865.08 |
| \$72.63 | \$585,868.56 | \$48,822.38 |
| \$74.09 | \$597,585.93 | \$49,798.83 |
| \$75.57 | \$609,537.65 | \$50,794.80 |
| \$77.08 | \$621,728.40 | \$51,810.70 |
| \$78.62 | \$634,162.97 | \$52,846.91 |
| \$80.19 | \$646,846.23 | \$53,903.85 |
| \$81.80 | \$659,783.15 | \$54,981.93 |
| \$83.43 | \$672,978.81 | \$56,081.57 |
| \$85.10 | \$686,438.39 | \$57,203.20 |
| \$86.80 | \$700,167.16 | \$58,347.26 |
| \$88.54 | \$714,170.50 | \$59,514.21 |
| \$90.31 | \$728,453.91 | \$60,704.49 |
| \$92.12 | \$743,022.99 | \$61,918.58 |
| \$93.96 | \$757,883.45 | \$63,156.95 |
| | Per Sq Ft \$71.21 \$72.63 \$74.09 \$75.57 \$77.08 \$78.62 \$80.19 \$81.80 \$83.43 \$85.10 \$86.80 \$88.54 \$90.31 \$92.12 | Per Sq Ft Annual Rent Monthly I \$71.21 \$574,380.94 \$72.63 \$585,868.56 \$74.09 \$597,585.93 \$75.57 \$609,537.65 \$77.08 \$621,728.40 \$78.62 \$634,162.97 \$80.19 \$646,846.23 \$81.80 \$659,783.15 \$83.43 \$672,978.81 \$85.10 \$686,438.39 \$86.80 \$700,167.16 \$88.54 \$714,170.50 \$90.31 \$728,453.91 \$92.12 \$743,022.99 |

- (d) Base Rent shall be payable in monthly installments, with the first monthly installment due on or before the Commencement Date, and subsequent installments of Base Rent shall be due and payable on or before the first day of each succeeding calendar month during the Term; provided that if the Commencement Date is a day other than the first day of a calendar month, Tenant shall pay a prorated amount of Base Rent on or before the Commencement Date for such Partial Lease Month based upon the number of days from the Commencement Date to the end of the calendar month and the actual number of days in the calendar month. Contemporaneously with the execution of this Lease, Tenant shall pay to Landlord the Base Rent for the first (1st) full month of the Primary Term in the amount of \$37,741.29.
- Charges. In addition to the Base Rent described in Section 7.1 hereof and 7.2 all other sums to be paid by Tenant hereunder, Tenant does hereby covenant and agree to pay to Landlord, as additional rent hereunder, all Charges for the Leased Premises. On or before the Commencement Date, Landlord shall provide Tenant a good faith estimate of the Charges to be paid monthly by Tenant through the end of the then current calendar year. Likewise, prior to the beginning of each calendar year, Landlord shall furnish to Tenant a good faith estimate of the annual Charges for such calendar year, and Tenant shall pay to Landlord, along with its monthly installments of Base Rent, one-twelfth (1/12th) of such estimated Charges. The first monthly installment of Charges shall be due and payable on or before the Commencement Date, and subsequent installments of Charges shall be due and payable on or before the first day of each succeeding calendar month during the Term; provided that if the Commencement Date is a day other than the first day of a calendar month, Tenant shall pay a prorated amount of Charges on or before the Commencement Date for such Partial Lease Month based upon the number of days from the Commencement Date to the end of the calendar month and the actual number of days in such calendar month. Within one hundred twenty (120) days following the end of each calendar year, Landlord shall determine the amount of the actual Charges for such year and shall furnish to Tenant an itemization thereof, and Landlord and Tenant shall make any payments or adjustments necessary to reconcile the estimated Charges with the actual Charges within thirty (30) days thereafter. Landlord and Tenant hereby each acknowledge and agree that they are knowledgeable and experienced in commercial transactions and further hereby acknowledge and agree that the provisions of this Lease for determining Charges are commercially reasonable and valid even though such methods may not state precise mathematical formulae for determining such Charges.
- 7.3 <u>Utilities</u>. Tenant shall arrange for and during the Term hereof pay all charges for telephone, gas, electricity, water, and all other utilities or services used in, on or about the Leased Premises by Tenant, and for the removal of rubbish therefrom before they shall become delinquent, and shall hold Landlord harmless from any liability therefor. Tenant shall, at its sole cost, separately meter all utilities utilized by Tenant serving the Leased Premises.
- 7.4 Payment of Rent. All Rent payable by Tenant to Landlord shall be paid in lawful money of the United States of America, without any deduction or (except as specifically provided herein to the contrary) offset whatsoever and without prior notice or demand, and at such place or places as may be designated from time-to-time by Landlord.

7.5 Late Charges. Should Tenant fail to pay to Landlord when due any payment of Rent or other charges provided hereunder, Tenant agrees to pay to Landlord, in addition to such Rent or other charges, an administrative charge equal to the greater of (a) \$250.00 or (b) five percent (5%) of the Rent or other charges then due to defray the additional costs that Landlord will incur in handling the late payment, plus interest at the rate of 1% per month, such interest to accrue continuously on any unpaid amount due to Landlord by Tenant during the period from the date due until the date paid. Any late charge or interest payment shall be payable as additional rent under this Lease, and shall be payable immediately on demand. Provided, however, Landlord agrees not to impose a late charge or interest the first (1st) two (2) instances in a calendar year when the payment is made within five (5) days of its due date. If any Rent or other charges due hereunder are paid by check which is returned unpaid, Tenant's payment shall not be considered received until Landlord receives good funds; moreover, Tenant shall, in addition to the late charge and interest due above, pay an additional fee equal to the amount charged to Landlord by its bank to compensate Landlord for its expense and effort in connection with the dishonored check.

ARTICLE 8 PERCENTAGE RENT

- 8.1 <u>Determination of Percentage Rent</u>. Intentionally deleted.
- 8.2 <u>Books and Records of Tenant</u>. Intentionally deleted.
- 8.3 <u>Landlord's Right to Audit</u>. Intentionally deleted.
- 8.4 Relationship of Landlord and Tenant. The provisions herein set forth are not intended, nor shall the same be deemed or construed, to create a partnership between Landlord and Tenant, to make them joint venturers, nor to make Landlord in any way responsible for the debts or obligations of Tenant.

ARTICLE 9 REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE

- **9.1** <u>Landlord's Obligations</u>. Landlord shall have no obligation to maintain or repair the Leased Premises.
- Premises and keep the Leased Premises in good condition and repair and in substantially the same condition as exists upon the completion of Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work, ordinary wear and tear excepted. Tenant's maintenance and repair obligations shall include, but are not be limited to, the maintenance and repair of the interior and exterior of the Freestanding Building including, but not limited to, the foundations, private utility lines utilized by Tenant serving the Leased Premises that are located outside of the Freestanding Building and connections thereof to the Freestanding Building, structural systems (including, without limitation, the roof structure, roof covering, load-bearing walls and floor slabs), building exterior and masonry walls, any and all doors, windows and window casements, glazing, heating and air conditioning systems, and

plumbing, pipes, electrical wiring, and conduits within the Freestanding Building, subject to any warranties assigned to Tenant pursuant to the Work Letter which are in effect covering any such maintenance and repair of any of the foregoing. Tenant shall keep the Leased Premises at all times in a clean, tenantable condition and shall not permit any garbage, rubbish, refuse of any kind to accumulate in or about the Leased Premises. Tenant shall take precautions to make certain trash from its business does not obstruct the sewer lines. Further, Tenant shall at all times maintain the Common Areas and Property Sign (as such term is defined in Article 15 herein) in a first class condition and appearance.

ARTICLE 10 ALTERATIONS

Alterations. Tenant shall not make any alterations in any portion of the Leased Premises, including, without limitation, roof penetrations, without, in each instance, first obtaining the written consent of Landlord, which may be given or withheld in Landlord's sole discretion. Landlord may condition its approval of roof penetrations on Tenant's use, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, of Landlord's roof contractor. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, Tenant shall have the right at any time and from time to time during the Term to make any alterations, additions or improvements to the interior portions of the Freestanding Building (so long as such alterations, additions or improvements do not affect the structural systems of the Freestanding Building or the mechanical, electrical, plumbing or HVAC systems) as Tenant deems necessary or appropriate in connection with the requirements of Tenant's business, without the necessity of obtaining the prior written consent of Landlord. All alterations, additions or improvements shall be accomplished at Tenant's sole cost and expense, in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with the provisions of this Lease and all applicable laws. Following Tenant's completion of any alterations, additions or improvements requiring the approval of Landlord, Tenant shall deliver any final plans and specifications received by Tenant in connection with any such alterations, additions or improvements to Landlord if requested in writing by Landlord. All alterations, additions, and improvements provided for herein shall become, except as otherwise provided, upon termination of this Lease, the property of Landlord, subject to the terms of this Lease.

Morkmanship. Any alterations to the Leased Premises shall conform in material and workmanship to that of the original construction of the Leased Premises and shall be performed in a good and workmanlike manner. All such work, upon completion thereof, shall become a part of the Leased Premises. Alterations requiring building permits shall be performed pursuant to plans and specifications prepared by a duly licensed architect or engineer and shall be done pursuant to a validly issued building permit and in conformity with all applicable laws, codes and ordinances. Any construction or alteration of the Leased Premises shall not injure or adversely affect the value of the Leased Premises.

ARTICLE 11 INSURANCE

- 11.1 <u>Landlord's Insurance.</u> Landlord may procure and maintain throughout the Term of this Lease full and adequate insurance for the Property that Landlord, in its reasonable discretion, considers appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, Landlord shall procure and maintain and recover as a part of the Charges payable by Tenant, insurance of the following character:
- (a) Insurance against loss by fire, lightning and other casualties and risks customarily covered by all risk coverage endorsement in amounts not less than the "full insurable value" of all buildings and other improvements constituting a part of the Property. The term "full insurable value" as used herein means the then current value for actual replacement costs, including cost of debris removal. Such policy of insurance shall be endorsed so as to provide loss of rental income coverage to Landlord, including all Rent and additional rent payable by all tenants of the Property, for a period of not less than one (1) year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall only be required to maintain flood and/or earthquake insurance with respect to the Property if Landlord's lender requires that such insurance be maintained.
- (b) Worker's Compensation Insurance in compliance with applicable local Worker's Compensation laws.
- 11.2 <u>Tenant's Insurance</u>. Tenant shall at all times during the Term of this Lease, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, maintain full and adequate insurance for the operation of Tenant's business in the Leased Premises including, but not limited to, insurance of the following character:
- (a) Coverage for fire and windstorm with additional coverage as provided by an all risk endorsement on all of Tenant's alterations, additions, improvements, fixtures, furnishings, inventory, equipment, signs, and personal property located at the Leased Premises in amounts not less than the "full insurable value" thereof.
- (b) Commercial general liability insurance with broad form endorsement covering the legal liability of Landlord and Tenant, including, without limitation (if Tenant serves alcoholic beverages on the Leased Premises), liability resulting from the sale or giving away or consumption of alcoholic beverages on the Leased Premises, against claims for bodily injury, death, or property damage occurring on, in, or about the Leased Premises in the minimum amounts of \$1,000,000.00 combined single limit with respect to one occurrence and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate, and \$250,000.00 for all claims for property damage with respect to any one occurrence and \$500,000.00 in the aggregate.
- (c) Worker's Compensation Insurance in compliance with applicable local Worker's Compensation laws.
- 11.3 <u>Insurance Carriers</u>. Tenant's insurance shall be written by companies of recognized financial standing which are well rated by national rating organizations and are legally

qualified to issue such policies of insurance in the State where the Property is located, and shall name as the insured parties: (i) Landlord as an insured or additional insured under all liability insurance policies; (ii) any mortgagee of Landlord holding a lien or security interest against this Lease under standard mortgagee's endorsements; and (iii) Tenant as its interest may appear. Tenant's insurance policies shall be primary and noncontributing, with the policies of Landlord and Landlord's mortgagees being excess, secondary and noncontributing.

11.4 <u>Cancellation</u>; <u>Certificates of Insurance</u>. Every policy of insurance required hereunder shall provide that at least thirty (30) days prior written notice of cancellation shall be given to Landlord and any mortgagee of Landlord and shall not be invalidated by any act or neglect of Landlord or Tenant or any owner of the Property or any interest therein, nor by any foreclosure or any other proceedings or notices thereof relating to the Property or any interest therein, nor by any change in the title or ownership of the Property or interests therein. Tenant shall promptly deliver to Landlord certificates of insurance evidencing all the insurance which is required to be maintained by Tenant hereunder and Tenant shall, within thirty (30) days prior to the expiration of any such insurance, deliver other original or duplicate policies or certificates of insurance evidencing the renewal of such insurance. If Tenant fails to comply with the foregoing requirements relating to insurance, Landlord may obtain such insurance and Tenant shall pay to Landlord on demand as additional rent hereunder the premium cost thereof plus interest at the maximum contractual rate (but in no event to exceed 1-1/2% per month) from the date of payment by Landlord until repaid by Tenant.

ARTICLE 12 INDEMNIFICATION AND WAIVERS

Indemnification. TENANT COVENANTS THAT LANDLORD SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGE OR LIABILITY OF ANY KIND OR FOR ANY INJURY TO OR DEATH OF PERSONS OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY OF TENANT OR ANY OTHER PERSON DURING THE TERM OF THIS LEASE, CAUSED BY OR RESULTING DIRECTLY FROM THE CONSTRUCTION, USE, OCCUPANCY, OR ENJOYMENT OF THE LEASED PREMISES BY TENANT INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, DAMAGE OR LIABILITY OF ANY KIND OR FOR ANY INJURY TO OR DEATH OF PERSONS OR DAMAGE TO PROPERTY OF TENANT RESULTING FROM THE SECURITY PROVIDED BY LANDLORD OR LANDLORD'S FAILURE TO PROVIDE SECURITY AT THE LEASED PREMISES, EXCEPT IN THE EVENT OF LANDLORD'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE, ILLEGAL CONDUCT OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT. TENANT HEREBY AGREES TO INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND HOLD LANDLORD HARMLESS FROM ANY AND ALL CLAIMS, ACTIONS, DEMANDS, SUITS, LOSSES, COSTS, **AND** LIABILITIES WHATSOEVER. **INCLUDING** REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEES AND EXPENSES OF LITIGATION, ON ACCOUNT OF ANY SUCH REAL OR CLAIMED DAMAGE OR LIABILITY, AND FROM ALL LIENS, CLAIMS, AND DEMANDS OCCURRING IN OR ON THE LEASED PREMISES, OR ARISING OUT OF THE CONSTRUCTION, USE, OCCUPANCY, OR ENJOYMENT OF THE LEASED PREMISES. OR ANY REPAIRS OR ALTERATIONS WHICH TENANT MAY MAKE UPON THE LEASED PREMISES, OR OCCASIONED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY ANY ACT OR OMISSION OF TENANT, ITS AGENTS, CONTRACTORS, SERVANTS OR EMPLOYEES,

EXCEPT IN THE EVENT OF LANDLORD'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE, ILLEGAL CONDUCT, OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT. TENANT'S INDEMNIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION IN NO WAY LIMIT TENANT'S RIGHTS OR REMEDIES DUE TO A DEFAULT BY LANDLORD UNDER THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE. THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SUBSECTION SHALL SURVIVE THE EXPIRATION OR SOONER TERMINATION OF THIS LEASE.

Waiver of Recovery And Subrogation. Landlord and Tenant hereby waive any rights each may have against the other on account of any loss or damage (INCLUDING LOSS OR DAMAGE RESULTING FROM NEGLIGENCE AND STRICT LIABILITY) occasioned to Landlord or Tenant arising from any risk covered by any policy of insurance covering the Leased Premises and/or the Property and maintained or required to be maintained (whether or not actually maintained) by either Landlord or Tenant in accordance with Article 11 hereof. Landlord and Tenant, on behalf of their respective insurance company or companies insuring the Leased Premises and the Property and any property located thereon, hereby waive any right of subrogation that they may have one against the other, and agree to cause their respective insurance policies to be endorsed so as to give full effect to the foregoing waivers.

ARTICLE 13 DAMAGE AND DESTRUCTION

13.1 Casualty.

- (a) If the Leased Premises or the Property are damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty, Tenant shall give prompt written notice thereof to Landlord.
- (b) If such damage was caused by a fire or other casualty covered by the insurance carried by Landlord, and such damage can be repaired within one hundred eighty (180) days from the commencement of repairs, then, subject to the following provisions of this Article 13, Landlord shall repair and restore the Leased Premises and the Property to substantially the same condition as existed at the time of such fire or other casualty. If the Leased Premises or the Property shall be damaged: (i) by fire or other casualty not covered by the insurance carried by Landlord; or (ii) to an extent that it cannot be repaired within one hundred eighty (180) days from the commencement of repairs, then either Landlord or Tenant shall have the option to terminate this Lease by so notifying the other party within thirty (30) days after Landlord's receipt of notice of such fire or other casualty. Failure to give notice within such thirty (30) day period shall be deemed an election not to terminate this Lease, and Landlord shall proceed to repair and restore the Leased Premises and the Property as aforesaid.
- 13.2 Abatement of Rent. The monthly installments of Base Rent and Charges required to be paid by Tenant pursuant to Sections 7.1 and 7.2 hereof shall be abated in proportion to the portions of the Leased Premises, if any, which are rendered untenantable by fire or other casualty covered by the insurance against loss by fire, lightning and other casualties and risks customarily covered by all risk coverage endorsement until repairs of the Leased Premises are completed, or if the Leased Premises are not repaired, until the termination date hereof. Other

than for such abatement, no damages, compensation, or claims shall be payable by Landlord for loss of the use of the whole or any part of the Leased Premises, Tenant's personal property, or any inconvenience, loss of business or annoyance arising from any repair and reconstruction. If the damage results from a cause not insured by insurance against loss by fire, lightning and other casualties and risks customarily covered by all risk coverage endorsement, Tenant shall not be entitled to any abatement or reduction of any Rent or other sums due hereunder. If this Lease is terminated as provided in Section 13.1(b) above, all Rent shall be apportioned and paid up to the termination date, any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination shall be refunded to Tenant, and the parties hereto shall have no further obligations hereunder. Landlord shall not be liable for the cost of the repair or replacement of any alterations, improvements, additions, fixtures, furniture, equipment, furnishings, or other personal property which Tenant is obligated to insure or which it may be entitled to remove from the Leased Premises pursuant to the terms hereof.

- 13.3 End of Term Casualty. Anything contained in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, Landlord shall have no obligation whatsoever to repair, reconstruct, or restore the Leased Premises when the damage resulting from any casualty covered under this Article occurs during the last twenty-four (24) months of the Primary Term or any Extension Term of this Lease, unless Tenant exercises an option to extend the Term of this Lease as provided in Section 6.2 hereof within thirty (30) days after such casualty. If Landlord elects not to repair, reconstruct or restore the Leased Premises, Tenant may, at its option, terminate this Lease, such termination to be effective as of the date of the fire or other casualty and any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination date shall be refunded to Tenant.
- 13.4 <u>Consent of Mortgagee</u>. Anything contained in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event any mortgagee of Landlord holding any lien or security interest in the Leased Premises for the performance of an obligation of Landlord shall not concur in the application of any insurance proceeds to the repair or reconstruction of the Leased Premises, Landlord shall not be obligated to repair or reconstruct the Leased Premises and may, at its option, terminate this Lease, such termination to be effective as of the date of the fire or other casualty and any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination date shall be refunded to Tenant.
- 13.5 Landlord's and Tenant's Obligations. Landlord's obligation to rebuild and repair under this Article 13 is limited to restoring one of the following (as may be applicable): (a) if this Lease does not include an attached exhibit describing Landlord's Work, restoring the Leased Premises to substantially the condition in which the same existed prior to such casualty, exclusive of any alterations, additions, improvements, fixtures, and equipment installed by Tenant; or (b) if this Lease includes an attached exhibit describing Landlord's Work, restoring Landlord's Work to substantially the same condition in which the same existed prior to the casualty. Tenant agrees that promptly after completion of such work by Landlord, Tenant will proceed with reasonable diligence and at Tenant's sole cost and expense to restore, repair, and replace all alterations, additions, improvements, fixtures, furnishings, inventory, equipment, signs, and personal property located at the Leased Premises, or, if an exhibit describing Tenant's Work is attached hereto, all items of Tenant's Work as described in such exhibit, as the case may be, provided Tenant has not opted to terminate this Lease pursuant to the terms of this Article 13.

Landlord shall make available to Tenant such portion of Landlord's insurance proceeds that remain after the completion of Landlord's Work as may be reasonable and necessary to restore Tenant's Work.

ARTICLE 14 CONDEMNATION

- 14.1 <u>Total Condemnation</u>. If during the Term of this Lease, all or substantially all of the Leased Premises or the Property shall be taken for any public or quasi-public use under any governmental law, ordinance, or regulation, or by right of eminent domain, or should all or substantially all of the Leased Premises or the Property be sold to the condemning authority under threat of condemnation, and if such taking renders the Leased Premises unsuitable for its intended use hereunder, this Lease shall terminate on the date the condemning authority takes possession, all Rent shall be apportioned and paid up to the termination date, any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination date shall be refunded to Tenant, and the parties hereto shall have no further obligations hereunder.
- Property shall be taken as above described, and the Leased Premises shall continue to be reasonably tenantable and suitable for the uses for which the Leased Premises have been leased hereunder, Landlord shall forthwith restore and reconstruct the Leased Premises and/or the Property and the Base Rent payable hereunder during the unexpired portion of this Lease shall be adjusted equitably.
- Allocation of Award. Landlord shall be entitled to receive and retain any and all condemnation or eminent domain awards or proceeds or any awards or proceeds resulting from any sale under threat of same, and Tenant hereby releases and assigns to Landlord all interest of Tenant, if any, in and to any such awards or proceeds; provided, however, that Tenant may bring a separate action, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, to recover damages, if any, for Tenant's moving expenses.
- 14.4 <u>Consent of Mortgagee</u>. Anything contained in the foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event any mortgagee of Landlord holding any lien or security interest in the Leased Premises for the performance of an obligation of Landlord shall not concur in the application of any condemnation award to the restoration or reconstruction of the Leased Premises, Landlord shall not be obligated to restore or reconstruct the Leased Premises or the Shopping Center and may, at its option, terminate this Lease, such termination to be effective as of the date the condemning authority takes possession of any portion of the Leased Premises or the Shopping Center and any Rent paid and attributable to the period after such termination date shall be refunded to Tenant.

ARTICLE 15 SIGNAGE

Subject to the conditions hereinafter provided, Tenant shall have the right, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, to install its corporate logo signage in any and all locations on the facades of the

exterior of the Freestanding Building and Tenant shall have the sole right for signage upon a freestanding sign on the Premises constructed as a part of the Landlord's Work (the "Property Sign"), all in accordance with the criteria described on Exhibit F. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall not install its exterior sign until the plans and specifications therefor have been approved by Landlord in writing. Tenant shall, at its sole expense, maintain, repair and, if necessary, replace the signage on the Freestanding Building and maintain, insure, and repair the Property Sign in good condition and repair and in compliance with the requirements of the Restrictions, as applicable. Tenant's signage must strictly comply, and be constructed in conformity, with applicable city ordinances, rules and regulations, as well as any other governmental agencies or private concerns, including, without limitation, those established by the Restrictions. Tenant agrees not to hold Landlord responsible should any governing or regulatory agency or other private concern prohibit Tenant from installing its signage. Tenant agrees to have erected and/or installed and fully operative on or before the Commencement Date of this Lease all signs in accordance with this Lease.

ARTICLE 16 FIXTURES AND PERSONAL PROPERTY

- 16.1 Fixtures and Personal Property. Any trade fixtures, business/medical equipment, trademarked items, signs, and other personal property of Tenant shall remain the property of Tenant. Landlord agrees that Tenant shall have the right, provided Tenant is not in default under any of the terms of this Lease, at any time and from time-to-time, and provided that such removal must be made not later than the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, to remove any and all of its trade fixtures, signs, and other personal property which it may have stored or installed in the Freestanding Building. Tenant, at its expense, shall promptly repair any damage occasioned by the removal of its trade fixtures, signs, and other personal property and, upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, shall leave the Freestanding Building in a neat and clean condition, free of debris, normal wear and tear excepted. Tenant's obligation to perform this covenant shall survive the expiration or termination of this Lease. All trade fixtures, equipment, and other personal property of every description, unless removable without damage to the Leased Premises or removed by Tenant in accordance with the foregoing provisions, shall become the property of Landlord, subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease, and shall be and remain upon and be surrendered with the Leased Premises as a part thereof at the termination of this Lease, Tenant hereby waiving any and all rights to any payment or compensation therefor.
- Taxes on Personal Property. Tenant shall pay, before delinquency, all taxes, assessments, license fees, and public charges levied, assessed, or imposed upon its business operation at the Leased Premises, as well as upon its trade fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and leasehold improvements, merchandise and other personal property in or upon the Leased Premises. Tenant shall cause its trade fixtures, furnishings, equipment, and leasehold improvements to be assessed and billed separately from the real property of Landlord.

ARTICLE 17 LIENS

Tenant shall not permit to be created nor to remain undischarged any lien, encumbrance, or charge arising out of any work or work claim of any contractor, subcontractor, mechanic, laborer, supplier, vendor, materialman, or agent of Tenant which might be or become a lien or encumbrance or charge upon the Leased Premises or the income therefrom, and Tenant shall not suffer any other matter or thing whereby the estate, right, and interest of Landlord in the Leased Premises or the Property might be impaired. If any lien, notice, of lien on account of an alleged debt of Tenant or any contractor, subcontractor, mechanic, laborer, supplier, vendor, materialman, or agent of Tenant or any notice of contract shall be filed against the Leased Premises by a party engaged by Tenant or any contractor, subcontractor, or agent of Tenant, then Tenant shall, within thirty (30) days after notice of the filing thereof, cause the same to be discharged of record by payment, deposit, or bond in an amount determined by order of a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise. If Tenant shall fail to timely cause such lien or notice of lien to be discharged by either paying the amounts claimed to be due or by procuring the discharge of such lien by deposit or by bonding proceedings, Landlord shall be entitled, if Landlord so elects, but without obligation to do so, to either defend any prosecution of an action for foreclosure of such lien by the lienor or to bond around or pay and discharge such lien or claim. Any money paid by Landlord and all costs and expenses, including attorney's fees and expenses of litigation, incurred by Landlord in connection therewith, together with interest thereon at the maximum contractual rate which may be legally charged in the event of a loan of such amount to Tenant (but in no event to exceed 1-1/2% per month) accruing continuously from the date of Landlord's payment of the cost or expense, shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord on demand. Tenant agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Landlord, the Leased Premises from any and all losses, costs, expenses, liabilities, and damages of every kind or nature, including attorney's fees and expenses of litigation, resulting therefrom and, if requested, upon demand, to immediately deposit with Landlord cash or surety bond in form and with a company satisfactory to Landlord in an amount equal to the amount of such contested claim.

ARTICLE 18 ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING

Tenant shall not assign this Lease, or any interest therein (including, but not limited to, the assignment of this Lease by the sale of 50% or more of the capital stock or other ownership interest in Tenant or the sale of Tenant's business), and shall not sublet the Leased Premises or any part thereof, or any right or privilege appurtenant thereto, or permit any other person or entity (excepting the agents, servants, or employees of Tenant) to occupy or use the Leased Premises, or any portion thereof, without first obtaining the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent may be given or withheld in Landlord's sole and absolute discretion. Consent by Landlord to one assignment, subletting, occupation, or use by another person or entity shall not be a consent to any subsequent assignment, subletting, occupation or use and shall not release the original named Tenant hereunder or any guarantor of Tenant's obligations from liability for the continued performance of the terms and provisions on the part of Tenant to be kept and performed, unless Landlord specifically and in writing releases the original named Tenant hereunder or any guarantor from said liability. Except as provided herein, any assignment or subletting without the prior written consent of Landlord shall be void and shall, at the option of Landlord, terminate this Lease. This Lease shall not, nor shall any interest herein, be assignable as to the interest of Tenant by operation of law without the prior written consent of Landlord. All cash or other

proceeds of any assignment, sublease, or other transfer of Tenant's interest in this Lease, whether or not consented to by Landlord, shall be paid to Landlord notwithstanding that such proceeds exceed the Rent payable hereunder, and Tenant hereby assigns all rights it might have or ever acquire in any such proceeds to Landlord. Tenant shall pay to Landlord a \$1,500.00 processing fee with each and every proposed assignment or sublease and shall reimburse Landlord for its reasonable attorney's fees and expenses in connection with such proposed assignment or sublease. Such processing fee shall be due prior to Landlord reviewing any proposed assignment or sublease, and the processing fee and attorney's fees and expenses shall be payable regardless of whether Landlord approves such assignment or sublease or whether or not such assignment or sublease is ultimately fully executed.

ARTICLE 19 SURRENDER OF PREMISES

- 19.1 Removal of Property. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, and on or before the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, remove all property belonging to it and all alterations, additions, improvements and fixtures which by the terms hereof Tenant is permitted to remove. Any property not removed by Tenant shall be deemed to have been abandoned by Tenant and may be retained or disposed of by Landlord, subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease; provided however, that Landlord shall not assume title to, or an ownership interest in, any Environmental Waste or other material regulated by or subject to any applicable environmental, health or safety laws, and any such material may be disposed of in accordance with such laws at Tenant's sole cost and expense, with reimbursement therefor to be made to Landlord upon demand.
- 19.2 <u>Condition of Leased Premises</u>. Tenant agrees to and shall, upon the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, promptly surrender and deliver the Leased Premises to Landlord in a broom cleaned condition and in substantially the same condition as existed upon the completion of Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work, ordinary wear and tear and damage by the elements, fire, or act of God, or by other cause beyond the reasonable control of Tenant excepted.
- **19.3** Abandonment. Tenant shall not vacate or abandon the Leased Premises at any time during the Term of this Lease, and if Tenant shall abandon, vacate or surrender the Leased Premises or be dispossessed by process of law, or otherwise, any personal property and trade fixtures belonging to Tenant and left in the Leased Premises shall be deemed to be abandoned, at the option of Landlord, except such property as Landlord has been notified is mortgaged to or leased from a third party or is subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease.
- 19.4 <u>Patient Medical Records</u>. To the extent any property belonging to Tenant constitutes patient medical records, Landlord shall (i) exercise reasonable care to ensure that the information set forth in such records is not disclosed to third parties in violation of applicable patient privacy statutes, and (ii) shall provide Tenant with access to such records to the extent necessary to permit Tenant to comply with applicable law.

ARTICLE 20

DEFAULT BY TENANT

- **20.1** Events of Default. Each of the following shall constitute a "Default" by Tenant:
- (a) Failure of Tenant to pay any installment of Rent or other sums owing to Landlord hereunder when due;
- (b) Tenant shall become insolvent or unable to pay its debts as they become due, or Tenant notifies Landlord that it anticipates either condition;
- (c) Tenant takes any action to, or notifies Landlord that Tenant intends to, file a petition under any section or chapter of the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, or under any similar law or statute, or Tenant notifies Landlord that it knows such a petition will be filed, or a petition is involuntarily filed against Tenant; or the appointment of a receiver or trustee to take possession of substantially all of Tenant's assets located at the Leased Premises or of Tenant's interest in this Lease; or the attachment, execution or other judicial seizure of substantially all of Tenant's assets located at the Leased Premises or of Tenant's interest in this Lease;
- (d) Tenant shall fail to fulfill or perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Lease (other than the payment of money) and such failure or non-performance shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof has been given by Landlord to Tenant of such failure; provided, however, that if such failure does not materially impair the rights and benefits of Landlord hereunder and is curable, but requires work to be performed, acts to be done or conditions to be remedied which, by their nature, cannot be performed, done or remedied, as the case may be, within such thirty (30) day period, no default shall be deemed to have occurred if Tenant commences same within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently and continuously prosecutes the same to completion; or
- (e) Tenant shall vacate or abandon the Leased Premises or any significant portion thereof, or shall cease to continuously operate its business at the Leased Premises, except as provided herein.
- **20.2** Remedies of Landlord. If a Default occurs, then at any time thereafter, with or without any further notice or demand, Landlord may exercise any and all rights and remedies available to Landlord under this Lease, at law or in equity including, without limitation, termination of this Lease or termination of Tenant's right to possession of the Leased Premises without terminating this Lease. In the event of a Default, Landlord may, without additional notice and without court proceedings, change the locks and repossess the Leased Premises and remove all persons and property therefrom, subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease, and Tenant hereby agrees to surrender possession of the Leased Premises and waives any claim arising by reason thereof or by reason of the issuance of any distress warrant or writ of sequestration, and agrees to hold Landlord harmless from any such claims. If Landlord elects to terminate this Lease or terminate Tenant's possession of the Leased Premises, Landlord may treat the Default as an entire breach of this Lease and Tenant shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, immediately become

liable to Landlord for damages equal to the total of: (i) the cost of recovering, reletting (including, without limitation, the cost of lease commissions attributable to the unexpired portion of the term of this Lease), and remodeling the Leased Premises;); (ii) all unpaid Rent and other amounts earned or due through such termination; plus (iii) the total, if and only if positive, of Rent and other amounts to be paid by Tenant hereunder for the remainder of the Term of this Lease less the estimated rent collectible from the Leased Premises (with appropriate allowances made for time necessary for reletting) for the remainder of the full term of this Lease, which amount shall be discounted to present value at the prime rate of interest published in The Wall Street Journal at the time of default or, if such rate is no longer published, such comparable nationally recognized rate as may be selected by Landlord in its good faith discretion. If Landlord elects to terminate Tenant's right to possession of the Leased Premises without terminating this Lease, Landlord may relet the Leased Premises or any part thereof for the account of Tenant to any person or persons upon such rent and for such terms and conditions as Landlord deems appropriate, and Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for the amount, if any, by which the Rent to be paid by Tenant hereunder for the unexpired balance of the Term exceeds the amount received by Landlord from such reletting, such net amount to be reduced by the cost of repossession, reletting, remodeling, and other expenses, including, but not limited to, attorney's fees and expenses, incurred by Such sum or sums shall, at Landlord's option, be paid by Tenant in monthly installments on the first (1st) day of each month of the Term remaining. In no case shall Landlord be liable for failure to relet the Leased Premises (it being agreed that Landlord shall be free to lease any other space of Landlord in preference to reletting the Leased Premises), or to collect the rent due under such reletting, and in no event shall Tenant be entitled to any excess rents received by Landlord. All rights and remedies of Landlord shall be cumulative and not exclusive, and such rights and remedies may be exercised and enforced concurrently and whenever and as often as occasion therefor arises.

- 20.3 <u>Non-Waiver</u>. The failure of Landlord to seek redress for violation of, or to insist upon strict performance of, any covenant or condition of this Lease shall not prevent a subsequent act or omission that would have originally constituted a violation of this Lease from having all the force and effect of an original violation. The receipt by Landlord of any sums with or without knowledge of the breach of any provision of this Lease shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach, shall not reinstate this Lease or Tenant's right of possession if either or both have been terminated, and shall not otherwise affect any notice, election, action, or suit by Landlord. No provision of this Lease shall be deemed to have been waived by Landlord unless such waiver be in writing signed by Landlord.
- **20.4** <u>Mitigation of Damages</u>. In connection with the exercise by Landlord of its rights and remedies in respect of any Default on the part of Tenant, Landlord agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to mitigate its damages. Tenant agrees in favor of Landlord that Landlord shall not be deemed to have failed to mitigate damages, or to have used commercially reasonable efforts to do so, because:
- (a) Landlord leases other space in the Property which is vacant prior to reletting the Leased Premises;
- (b) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to any affiliate of Tenant, or any principal of Tenant, or any affiliate of such principal (for purposes of this Lease, "affiliate"

shall mean and refer to any person or entity controlling, under common control with, or controlled by, the party in question);

- (c) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to any person or entity whose creditworthiness Landlord in good faith deems unacceptable;
- (d) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to any person or entity because the use proposed to be made of the Leased Premises by such prospective tenant is not of a type and nature consistent with that of the other tenants in the Property as of the date Tenant defaults under this Lease, or because such use would, in the good faith opinion of Landlord, impose unreasonable or excessive demands upon the Property;
- (e) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to any person or entity, or any affiliate of such person or entity, who has been engaged in litigation with, or who has threatened litigation against, Landlord or any of its affiliates;
- (f) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises because the tenant or the terms and provisions of the proposed lease are not approved by the holders of any liens or security interests in the Property or any part thereof, or would cause Landlord to breach or be in default of, or to be unable to perform any of its covenants under, any agreements between Landlord and any third party;
- (g) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises because the proposed tenant is unwilling to execute and deliver Landlord's standard lease form without substantial tenant-oriented modifications or such tenant requires improvements to the Leased Premises to be paid at Landlord's cost and expense; or
- (h) Landlord refuses to relet the Leased Premises to a person or entity whose character or reputation, or the nature of whose business, Landlord in good faith deems unacceptable;

and it is further agreed that each and all of the grounds for refusal set forth in clauses (a) through (h) above, both inclusive, of this sentence are reasonable grounds for Landlord's refusal to relet the Leased Premises, or (as to all other provisions of this Lease) for Landlord's refusal to issue any approval, or take any other action, of any nature whatsoever under this Lease. In the event the waiver set forth in this Section shall be ineffective, Tenant further agrees in favor of Landlord, to the maximum extent to which it may lawfully and effectively do so, that the following efforts to mitigate damages if made by Landlord (and without obligating Landlord to render such efforts) shall be conclusively deemed reasonable, and that Landlord shall be conclusively deemed to have used the efforts to mitigate damages required by applicable law if: Landlord places the Leased Premises on its inventory of available space in the Property; Landlord makes such inventory available to brokers who request same; and Landlord shows the Leased Premises to prospective tenants (or their brokers) who request to see it.

Landlord shall, in the exercise of any right or remedy of Landlord provided for under this Section 20 or otherwise by law, unless by order of a court of competent jurisdiction (i) refrain

from interfering with any ongoing patient care activities in progress at the Premises, and (ii) refrain from removing, modifying or destroying any patient records or other Protected Health Information as defined in the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996.

ARTICLE 21 SECURITY DEPOSIT

Tenant shall deposit with Landlord on the date Tenant executes this Lease the sum of \$46,926.55 as a "Security Deposit" with the understanding: (i) that the Security Deposit or any portion thereof may be applied to the curing of any default, without prejudice to any other remedy or remedies which Landlord may have on account thereof, and upon such application Tenant shall pay Landlord on demand the amount so applied which shall be added to the Security Deposit so the same will be restored to its original amount; and (ii) that Landlord shall not be obligated to hold the Security Deposit as a separate fund, but may commingle it with other funds.

Provided Tenant shall comply with all the terms of this Lease, the Security Deposit shall be returned to Tenant upon the later to occur of (i) termination of this Lease and after surrender of possession of the Leased Premises to landlord; and (ii) the complete satisfaction of all Tenant's monetary obligations and covenants under this Lease. In the event of a sale of the Leased Premises or assignment of this Lease by Landlord, Landlord shall transfer the security to its vendee or assignee subject to Tenant's rights upon termination under this Lease.

ARTICLE 22 LANDLORD'S LIEN

- (a) To the extent allowed by Texas law, Landlord reserves and Tenant hereby grants to Landlord a contractual lien and security interest (which shall be in addition to and not in lieu of any statutory landlord's lien) on all fixtures, equipment, and personal property (tangible and intangible), subject to Section 19.4 of this Lease, including inventory, and the proceeds thereof, now or hereafter placed by Tenant in, on, or about the Leased Premises to secure all sums due by Tenant hereunder, which lien and security interest may be enforced by Landlord in any manner provided by law. The provisions of this paragraph shall constitute a security agreement and, at Landlord's request, Tenant shall execute and file, where appropriate, all documents required to perfect the security interest herein granted in accordance with Texas law. Landlord may, at its election, at any time file a financing statement to perfect the security interest herein granted if permitted by Texas law. The provisions of this Article, however, shall not prevent the sale by Tenant of any inventory in the ordinary course of business free of such lien in favor of Landlord. Landlord shall have all rights and remedies available to a secured party under Texas law with respect to such lien and security interest.
- (b) Landlord acknowledges that Tenant has entered into credit agreements with one or more commercial lenders, and that Tenant's indebtedness thereunder is secured, in part, by Tenant's grant of a first priority lien and security interest in Tenant's tangible and intangible property, including Tenant's rights in the leasehold improvements to be constructed by Tenant hereunder; provided, however, Tenant has no right to grant any such security interest in the leasehold improvements constructed by Landlord on the Leased Premises. Landlord agrees to

execute from time to time a subordination agreement in favor of Tenant's commercial lenders, in form attached hereto as Exhibit "K".

ARTICLE 23 DEFAULT BY LANDLORD

- 23.1 Events of Default. Landlord will be in default of this Lease if Landlord fails to fulfill or perform, in whole or in part, any of its obligations under this Lease and such failure or non-performance shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof has been given by Tenant to Landlord; provided, however, that if such default is curable but requires work to be performed, acts to be done or conditions to be remedied which, by their nature, cannot be performed, done or remedied, as the case may be, within such thirty (30) day period, no default shall be deemed to have occurred if Landlord commences the same within such thirty (30) day period and thereafter diligently and continuously prosecutes the same to completion.
- **23.2** Remedies of Tenant. If a default by Landlord occurs and remains unremedied after the expiration of the applicable cure period, Tenant may use all available legal remedies to bring an action against Landlord to collect the actual (but not any punitive or consequential) damages suffered by Tenant as a result of such default.

ARTICLE 24 LIABILITY OF LANDLORD

- **24.1** <u>Limitation on Landlord's Liability</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Lease, in the event of any default or breach by Landlord with respect to any of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Lease to be observed, honored, or performed by Landlord, Tenant shall look solely to the estate and property of Landlord in the land and building owned by Landlord comprising the Property for the collection of any judgment (or any other judicial procedures requiring the payment of money by Landlord), it being agreed that Landlord shall not be personally liable for any such judgment and no other property or assets of Landlord shall be subject to levy, execution, or other procedures for the satisfaction of Tenant's remedies.
- 24.2 <u>Sale of Property</u>. In the event of any sale of the Leased Premises by Landlord, Landlord shall be and is hereby entirely freed and relieved of all liability under any and all of its covenants and obligations contained in or derived from this Lease after the consummation of such sale, and the purchaser at such sale or any subsequent sale of the Property shall be deemed, without any further agreement between the parties or their successors in interest or between the parties and any such purchaser, to have assumed and agreed to carry out any and all of the covenants and obligations of Landlord under this Lease, including, without limitation, any breach or default by Landlord that occurred prior to such sale.

ARTICLE 25 MORTGAGEE PROVISIONS

- Subordination and Attornment. Tenant accepts this Lease subject and subordinate to any mortgage, deed of trust or other lien now or hereafter existing upon the Leased Premises or the Property and any and all renewals, modifications and extensions thereof, shall attorn to and recognize as its landlord under the terms of this Lease said lender, any purchaser of the Property at a foreclosure sale or by sale in lieu thereof or any of their successors or assigns, and agrees that any cancellation, surrender, or amendment of this Lease without the prior written consent of the mortgagee or beneficiary of a deed of trust from Landlord or its successors as owners of the Property ("Landlord's Successor") shall be voidable by Landlord's Successor. Landlord is hereby irrevocably vested with full power and authority to subordinate this Lease to any mortgage, deed of trust or other lien now or hereafter placed upon the Leased Premises or the Property. Within fifteen (15) days of written request from Landlord, or any mortgagee or beneficiary of a deed of trust from Landlord, Tenant shall in writing subordinate its rights hereunder to the lien of any mortgage or deed of trust now or hereafter in force against the Property to all advances made or hereafter to be made upon the security thereof; provided, however, that the mortgagee named in such mortgage or deed of trust shall agree that Tenant's peaceable possession of the Leased Premises will not be disturbed on account thereof as long as Tenant is not in default of any of the terms and covenants of this Lease beyond any applicable cure period. Tenant agrees that any such subordination agreement will contain a provision reasonably satisfactory to the mortgagee whereby Tenant will agree, in the event of foreclosure of any such mortgage or deed of trust, to attorn to and recognize as its landlord under the terms of this Lease said lender, any purchaser of the Property at a foreclosure sale or by sale in lieu thereof or any of their successors or assigns, provided that Tenant's rights under this Lease shall continue unabated for so long as Tenant is not in default hereof. Any such subordination agreement may also provide that the Landlord's Successor shall not be bound by (i) any modification of the Lease which reduces the rent or adversely affects the rights, duties or obligations of the Successor Landlord under the subordination agreement; (ii) any payment of rent to Landlord made more than thirty (30) days in advance of its due date, other than pre-paid rent under Section 7.1 herein: (iii) any consensual or negotiated surrender, cancellation or termination of the Lease; or (iv) any claims, loss, damages or offset rights relating to any event or occurrence or omission prior to the date Successor Landlord acquires the Property. The subordination agreement may contain such other terms and provisions as are customary for the benefit of any mortgagee or beneficiary of a deed of trust and acceptable to Tenant, provided that the business terms involving rent, Term of the Lease and permitted uses are not altered. Tenant hereby approves the form of nondisturbance, attornment and subordination agreement attached hereto as Exhibit "I."
- 25.2 <u>Notice to Mortgagees</u>. Tenant agrees to give any present or future mortgagee of the Property of which Tenant has been made aware and received their current mailing address in writing a copy of any notice of default served upon Landlord by Tenant. Tenant further agrees that if Landlord shall have failed to cure any such default within the time provided for in this Lease, then any such mortgagee shall have an additional thirty (30) days within which to cure such default or, if such default cannot by its nature be cured within such time without being in possession of the Property, such additional period of time as may be necessary to cure such default if within such thirty (30) day period the mortgagee has commenced and is diligently pursuing the remedies necessary to cure such default.

ARTICLE 26

MISCELLANEOUS

26.1 Notices. All notices required to be given hereunder shall be deemed to be duly given by personally delivering such notice or by mailing it postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or by sending notice by a nationally recognized overnight mail courier service, to the party to be notified at the following addresses:

To Landlord: c/o Read King, Inc.

5850 San Felipe, Suite 490 Houston, Texas 77057 Attention: Mr. Tim Delgado

To Tenant: Before the Commencement Date:

NEC Paris Emergency Center, LP 11200 Broadway, Ste. 2320 Pearland, Texas 77584

Attention: Paul Allevne, MD

From and after the Commencement Date:

At the address of the Leased Premises

Attention: Paul Alleyne, MD

Any party may change its address for purposes of notice by notifying the other party of such changed address in accordance with the provisions of this Section 26.1.

- 26.2 Force Majeure. In the event that either party hereto shall be delayed or hindered in or prevented from the performance of any act required hereunder (other than the payment of any monetary sums due hereunder) by reason of strikes, lockouts, labor troubles, failure of power, riots, insurrection, war, shortage of labor, materials or equipment, inclement weather, delays in obtaining insurance or condemnation proceeds, acts of God or other reason of like nature beyond such party's reasonable control, such party shall be excused for the period of such delay and the period for the performance of any such act shall be correspondingly extended for the period of such delay.
- **26.3** Memorandum of Lease. Upon written request from either party, Landlord and Tenant agree to execute and deliver a memorandum of this Lease that may be recorded in the official land records of Lamar County, Texas. The party requesting such memorandum shall bear all associated with the preparation and recording of same.
- **26.4** Estoppel. Within fifteen (15) days of written request from Landlord, Tenant shall execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Landlord an instrument in form acceptable to Tenant stating, if the same be true, that this Lease is a true and exact copy of the Lease between the parties hereto, that there are no amendments hereof (or stating what amendments there may be), that the same is then in full force and effect and that, to the best of its knowledge, there are no

offsets, defenses, or counterclaims with respect to the payment of any sums owing hereunder or in the performance of the other terms, covenants, and conditions hereof on the part of Tenant or Landlord, as the case may be, to be performed, and that as of such date no default has been declared hereunder by either party and such other matters as may be reasonably requested.

- **26.5** <u>Authority</u>. Landlord and Tenant each represent and warrant that they are duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease in accordance with the terms hereof, and that each individual executing this Lease on behalf of Landlord and Tenant is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Lease in accordance with duly adopted resolutions of the Boards of Directors of said corporations.
- **26.6** <u>Incorporation of Exhibits</u>. All Exhibits attached hereto are hereby incorporated herein by this reference and made a part hereof for all purposes.
- 26.7 <u>Brokers.</u> Landlord has agreed to pay a leasing commission as a result of this Lease to Read King, Inc., as Landlord's broker (hereinafter called the "<u>Broker</u>," whether one or more), as set forth in a separate agreement between Landlord and Broker. Other than the commission payable to the Broker, Landlord and Tenant represent and warrant to each other that they have dealt with no brokers in connection with this Lease and that, insofar as they know, no brokers are entitled to any fees or commissions in connection herewith. Landlord and Tenant shall indemnify and hold each other harmless from and against all claims (and costs of defending against and investigating such claims) of any other brokers or similar parties claiming under the indemnifying party in connection with this Lease.
- **26.8** Attorney's Fees. If either party brings an action against the other, the prevailing party may recover court costs and attorneys' fees and disbursements (whether at the administrative, trial or appellate levels) in such amount as the court or administrative body deems reasonable. Landlord shall also be entitled to recover attorneys' fees and disbursements incurred in connection with a Default by Tenant hereunder which does not result in the commencement of any action or proceeding.
- 26.9 <u>Parties Bound</u>. Subject to the prohibitions on assignment by Tenant contained hereinabove, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors and assigns wherever the context so requires or permits.
- 26.10 GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED UNDER AND IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, AND ALL OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES CREATED HEREUNDER ARE PERFORMABLE IN PARIS, TEXAS. THE PARTIES HEREBY SUBMIT TO JURISDICTION AND VENUE IN THE STATE DISTRICT COURTS OF LAMAR COUNTY, TEXAS, FOR ANY LITIGATION THAT MAY ARISE HEREUNDER.
- **26.11** <u>Legal Construction</u>. The provisions of this Agreement are severable. In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability

shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein.

- **26.12** Prior Agreements Superseded. This Agreement constitutes the sole and only agreement of the parties hereto and supersedes any prior understandings or written or oral agreements between the parties respecting the within subject matter, any such prior agreements having been merged herein.
- **26.13** <u>Amendment.</u> No amendment, modification, or alteration of the terms hereof shall be binding unless the same be in writing, dated subsequent to the date hereof and duly executed by the parties hereto.
 - **26.14** <u>Time of Essence</u>. Time is of the essence of this Agreement.
- **26.15** Captions and Headings. The captions and headings in this Lease are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference, and they in no way define, limit or describe the scope of this Lease or the intent of any provision hereof.
- **26.16** Number and Gender. All genders used in this Lease shall include the other genders, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular, whenever and as often as may be appropriate.
- **26.17** <u>Multiple Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
- **26.18** Rules and Regulations. The Rules and Regulations attached hereto as Exhibit "G" are a part of this Lease, and Tenant agrees to comply with and observe the same.
- **26.19** Confidentiality. Tenant hereby agrees not to disclose the terms and provisions of this Lease or any amendment of this Lease to anyone other than Tenant's attorneys, accountants, officers and directors. This restriction on disclosure shall survive the termination of the Lease.
- **26.20** <u>Jury Trial</u>. Landlord and Tenant hereby waive trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by either of the parties hereto against the other or their successors in respect of any matter arising in connection with this Lease, the relationship of Landlord and Tenant, Tenant's use or occupancy of the Leased Premises and/or any claim for injury or damage in connection with this Lease.
- 26.21 <u>Satellite System</u>. Subject to the other terms herein, Tenant's receipt of all permits and approval required by applicable governmental authorities, and Tenant's compliance with Landlord's reasonable rules and regulations regarding installation, operation and maintenance, Landlord hereby grants Tenant the right to install and maintain a satellite system upon the roof of the Freestanding Building (the "Satellite System") for Tenant's use in connection with the Permitted Use; provided, however, the size, location and specifications of the Satellite

System shall be subject to (i) Landlord's prior written approval, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and (ii) approvals, if any, required by the Restrictions. Such installation and maintenance shall be at Tenant's sole expense and in accordance with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations and statutes. Tenant shall be responsible for the repair and maintenance of the Satellite System during the Term, at its sole cost and expense, and upon the termination of this Lease shall remove the Satellite System and repair any damage to the roof of the Freestanding Building caused by the Satellite System and the installation and removal thereof. Any roof penetrations caused by Tenant shall not invalidate roof warranties; roof penetrations shall, at Landlord's option, be performed by Landlord's contractor at Tenant's expense if required in order to preserve roof warranties.

- **26.22** Healthcare Regulatory Matters. (a) Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that Landlord (i) is not currently excluded, debarred or otherwise ineligible to participate in Medicare or any federal health care program under section 1128 and 1128A of the Social Security Act or as defined in 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(f) (the "Federal Health Care Programs"); (ii) has not been convicted of a criminal offense related to the provision of healthcare items or services but has not yet been excluded, debarred, or otherwise declared ineligible to participate in any Federal Health Care Program; and (iii) is not under investigation or otherwise aware of any circumstances which may result in Tenant being excluded from participation in any Federal Health Care Program. The foregoing representation shall be an ongoing representation and warranty during the term of the Lease and Landlord shall immediately notify Tenant of any change in the status of the representation and warranty set forth in this Section, at which time Tenant will have the right to immediately terminate the Lease.
- (b) Landlord and Tenant enter into the Lease with the intent of conducting their relationship and implementing the agreements contained herein in full compliance with applicable federal, state and local law, including without limitation, the Medicare/Medicaid Anti-Kickback statute (the "Anti-Kickback Law") and Section 1877 of the Social Security Act (the "Stark Law"), as amended. Notwithstanding any unanticipated effect of any of the provisions of the Lease, neither party will intentionally conduct itself under the terms of the Lease in a manner that would constitute a violation of the Anti-Kickback Law or the Stark Law. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Landlord and Tenant expressly agree that nothing contained in the Lease shall require either party to refer any patients to the other, or to any affiliate or subsidiary of the other.
- (c) If any legislation, regulation or government policy is passed or adopted, the effect of which would cause either party to be in violation of such laws due to the existence of any provision of the Lease, then Landlord and Tenant agree to negotiate in good faith for the longest period of time permitted by such legislation, regulation or government policy to modify the terms of the Lease to comply with applicable law. Should the parties hereto fail to agree upon modified terms to the Lease within this time, then either Landlord or Tenant may immediately terminate the Lease by giving written notice to the other party.
- (d) For purposes of this Section of the Lease, "protected health information", or "PHI" shall have the meaning defined by the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45 C.F.R. Part 160 and Subparts A and E of Part 164 (the "Privacy Standards"), as promulgated by the Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") pursuant to the Administrative Simplification provisions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability

Act of 1996 ("<u>HIPAA</u>"). The parties agree that neither the Landlord nor its contractors, subcontractors or agents shall need access to, nor shall they use or disclose, any PHI of Tenant. However, in the event PHI is disclosed by Tenant or its agents to Landlord, its, contractors, subcontractors or agents, regardless as to whether the disclosure is inadvertent or otherwise, Landlord agrees to take reasonable steps to maintain, and to require its contractors, subcontractors and agents to maintain, the privacy and confidentiality of such PHI. The parties agree that the foregoing does not create, and is not intended to create, a "business associate" relationship between the parties as that term is defined by the Privacy Standards.

Landlord, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a guaranty of this Lease by Neighbors Global Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, in the form of **Exhibit J**, attached, dated and effective the same date as this Lease. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord's obligations under this Lease are conditioned upon Tenant's compliance with the foregoing covenant. If this Lease shall be guaranteed on behalf of Tenant and if there is a default by the Guarantor under such guaranty, such default shall constitute an event of default by Tenant under this Lease.

26.24 Financial Statements. Tenant shall submit to Landlord from time to time upon Landlord's written request (but not more than quarterly) current financial statements and operating statements for the most recent fiscal year certified as true and correct by an officer of Tenant. Landlord agrees to take reasonable steps to keep such information confidential, except for disclosure required to Landlord's accountants, attorneys, lenders and prospective lenders and purchasers.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS THIS PAGE]

| IN WITNESS WHEREO effective as of the 31 day of execution by Landlord and Tenant s | OF, the undersigned have executed this Lease Agreement, 2016, which shall be the date of last |
|--|---|
| one can on by handroid and Tenam s | LANDLORD: |
| | RKMS PARIS LLC, a Texas limited liability company |
| | Name: Jeffrey A. Pearl |
| | Title: Manager Date: 5 31 14 |
| | TENANT: |
| | NEC PARIS EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership |
| | By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner |
| | By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH, LLC, its Manager By: Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer |
| | Date: My 20/6 |

EXHIBIT A LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

EXHIBIT B <u>SITE PLAN DEPICTING THE PROPERTY</u> (or portion thereof to be occupied by Tenant)

EXHIBIT C WORK LETTER

Landlord agrees to construct for Tenant the Landlord's Work hereinafter set forth. All of the items of Landlord's Work shall be done at Landlord's sole cost and expense. Tenant agrees to construct the Tenant's Work hereinafter set forth. All of the items of Tenant's Work shall be done at Tenant's sole cost and expense, subject to the provisions of Section 4.4 of the Lease. Both Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with the requirements of all applicable building and governing codes. Any materials to be installed by either Landlord or Tenant as specified hereunder shall also be supplied by the designated party.

I. PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS

Within ninety (90) days following the date Landlord provides Tenant with building shell drawings for the Freestanding Building which have been approved by the City of Paris and any other applicable authority to the extent necessary to enable Tenant to prepare the Plans (as defined below) (the "Building Shell Plans") in hard copy or electronic format (e.g., CAD) (the "Start Date"), Tenant shall prepare or cause to be prepared, at Tenant's cost, and deliver to Landlord as many counterparts as may be reasonably requested, but not to exceed a total of four (4) counterparts, (including one (1) counterpart, if so requested, in reproducible media) of the following plans, specifications, and related materials (hereinafter collectively called the "Plans"), to-wit:

- 1. Complete architectural plans and specifications for the improvement and finish-out of the Freestanding Building, prepared by a registered architect licensed to practice in the State of Texas who is reasonably acceptable to Landlord, and which shall include, but not be limited to, the following for the interior of the Freestanding Building:
 - a. Floor Plan;
 - b. Interior Elevations; and
 - c. Specifications for all building materials, including color schemes and finish selections.
- 2. Complete Mechanical Plans and Specifications, including shop drawings for all fabricated products, if any.
- 3. Complete Electrical Plans and Specifications, including reflected ceiling plan.
- 4. Complete Plumbing Plans and Specifications.

Within ten (10) business days from receipt, Landlord shall review each of the items to be furnished by Tenant and supply any comments or objections thereto. Failure to supply such comments or objections within such ten (10) business day period shall be deemed acceptance of

the item(s) submitted. If either party shall have any objection, Landlord and Tenant and their respective architects, engineers, and/or contractors acting in a reasonable and good faith manner shall promptly meet to resolve any differences or discrepancies and final Plans shall be agreed upon and initialed as approved by Landlord and Tenant (or their representatives) within fifteen (15) business days thereafter and, in any event, within ninety (90) days from the Start Date. If Landlord is delayed in the commencement of Landlord's Work, or if the foregoing schedule is not adhered to, as a result of any act or omission of Tenant or its architects, engineers, contractors, subcontractors, agents, employees, or other related parties (hereinafter called a "Tenant Delay"), then the Commencement Date and the Landlord's delivery deadline, if any, shall be moved forward, and the payment of rent accelerated, by one (1) day for each one (1) day of Tenant Delay.

Tenant shall obtain, at its sole cost and expense, all licenses, permits, and approvals required by applicable law with respect to the Plans and Tenant's Work.

II. <u>LANDLORD'S WORK</u>

"Landlord's Work" shall be comprised of the work listed below:

- A. Building Shell which shall include:
 - 1. Complete exterior and structural roof system engineered to support rooftop HVAC units up to 1,800 lbs. If Tenant selects larger rooftop HVAC units, then Tenant will be required to pay for the additional cost of the design and construction of any required structural supports and stiffening. Construction; columns and/or beams and/or rafters (exposed construction), the design and materials to be determined by Landlord.
 - 2. Exterior wall surfaces of structure shall be architectural concrete, cement plaster, EIFS, concrete masonary units, brick, stone or other veneer selected by Landlord.
 - 3. Entrance/exit doors.
 - 4. Front wall with double front entry/exit door.
 - 5. Covered porte cochere over the main entry to facilitate patient drop-off and pick-up, and a mutually acceptable covered drop-off zone outside the emergency/ambulance entrance.
 - 6. Agreeable exterior location for Tenant's emergency power generator.
- B. Floor: Landlord will leave out the slab of the Leased Premises. Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, install the slab.

- C. Utilities: Properly sized water and wastewater lines furnished to the perimeter of the Freestanding Building at Landlord's cost. Electrical service including any required transformer with sufficient capacity to provide 600 amps of electrical service, and natural gas lines furnished to the perimeter of the Freestanding Building. Code-approved automatic fire sprinkler system for the entire Freestanding Building, excluding sprinkler heads which shall be the responsibility of Tenant. Tenant shall also be responsible for adjusting the system to work within Tenant's final wall partition design.
- D. Common Area: Storm water detention and management, vehicular parking lot with code-approved quantity of parking spaces, parking lot lighting, drive aisles and landscaping with irrigation.
- E. The Property Sign.

Landlord, at its sole cost and expense, hereby agrees to construct and install the Landlord's Work in accordance with the Building Shell Plans, the Site Plan and this Lease.

The Delivery Date shall be deemed to have occurred and Landlord's Work shall be deemed substantially completed and Landlord shall deliver to Tenant physical possession of the Leased Premises and Freestanding Building on the date on which all of the following have occurred: (i) the project architect's certificate of substantial completion with respect to Landlord's Work for the Leased Premises and Freestanding Building and shall have been delivered to Tenant; and (ii) access to the Leased Premises, Freestanding Building, and the parking areas are available to and for use by Tenant and its agents and employees and invitees without undue interruption.

Landlord shall obtain and maintain all authorizations, approvals and permits required by any governmental entity for the construction and installation of Landlord's Work. A representative of Tenant shall have the right (without the obligation to do so) to observe the Landlord's Work during construction; such representative shall notify Landlord of any deviations from the applicable plans and specifications or other deficiencies which it may discover, and Landlord shall promptly correct and/or repair any such deviations or deficiencies upon receipt of such notice.

Landlord shall, within thirty (30) days of the Delivery Date, deliver to Tenant copies of all warranties applicable to Landlord's Work along with an assignment (effective as of the Delivery Date) of such warranties.

III. <u>TENANT'S WORK</u>

Tenant's Work shall be comprised of the work listed below:

- A. Interior Partitions.
- B. Slab and Floor Coverings.

C. Electrical:

- 1. Any and all interior electrical work.
- 2. Telephone installation.
- D. Signage in accordance with Article 15 of the Lease.

E. Utilities:

- 1. All installation of utility services within the Freestanding Building not otherwise provided as a part of Landlord's Work.
- 2. All service deposits for service after construction is completed shall be made at Tenant's expense.
- 3. Tenant will pay all utility charges associated with the Leased Premises following the substantial completion thereof.
- 4. Fire sprinkler heads below the drop ceiling and adjustment of the fire sprinkler system to work within Tenant's final wall partition design.

F. Ceiling System:

- 1. Supply and install HVAC unit(s) per the Plans.
- 2. Supply and install ceiling in accordance with Plans.
- 3. Supply and install recessed lay-in light fixtures per the Plans.
- 4. Supply and install exit lights according to code.
- G. Toilet Room(s): Complete in design (to handicapped code) and number required by local code(s). Each restroom to include water closet and lavatory with hot and cold water and exhaust fan.
- H. All Trade Fixtures and Displays.
- I. Installation of medical gas system and back up electric power generator, if required by Tenant.

IV. GENERAL

- 1. Landlord shall have the right to approve the general contractor and principal subcontractors to be engaged in the performance of Tenant's Work, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 2. Landlord and Tenant shall each require their contractors and subcontractors to dispose in an on-site dumpster and remove all debris and rubbish caused by their work on a daily basis in order to keep the job site in a neat, safe and orderly condition and, upon completion of the project, to remove all temporary structures, debris and rubbish of whatever kind remaining on or about the Leased Premises.

- 3. Tenant shall require its contractors and subcontractors to obtain and maintain, and provide certificates of, all insurance required pursuant to this Lease in the performance of their respective work including, but not limited to, Worker's Compensation Insurance as required by applicable law.
- 4. All of Landlord's Work and Tenant's Work shall be performed expeditiously, in a good and workmanlike manner and in conformity with sound construction practices consistent with projects of similar scope and quality to the Property. Tenant shall not, nor shall Tenant permit its contractors, subcontractors or suppliers to: (i) create any disturbance or unreasonably interfere with Landlord or any other tenant of the Property in the performance of Tenant's Work; or (ii) store any equipment or materials outside of the Leased Premises without Landlord's prior written consent which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

EXHIBIT D ACCEPTANCE LETTER

| ACCEPTANCE LETTER |
|---|
| , 201 |
| c/o Read King, Inc. 5850 San Felipe, Suite 490 Houston, Texas 77057 Attention: Mr. Tim Delgado |
| Re: Lease Agreement dated effective |
| Gentlemen: |
| Tenant hereby confirms to Landlord and any mortgagee of Landlord holding a lien or security interest in the Leased Premises and/or the Lease as follows: |
| 1. Tenant is in full and complete possession of the Leased Premises, such possession having been delivered by Landlord and accepted by Tenant. The Leased Premises contain 8,066 square feet of Gross Leasable Area. |
| 2. The "Landlord's Work" (as such term is defined in the Lease) has been fully performed by Landlord in accordance with the terms of the Lease and the "Work Letter" (as such term is defined in the Lease). Tenant hereby accepts the Leased Premises in their present condition and waives any requirement on the part of Landlord to repair or maintain the Leased Premises, or any part thereof, except as specifically provided to the contrary in Section 9.1 of the Lease. |
| 3. The Lease is currently in full force and effect and there is no existing default on the part of Landlord thereunder. |
| NEC PARIS EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership |
| By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner |
| By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH, LLC, itsManager |
| By: Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer |
| Date: |

EXHIBIT E CONFIRMATION OF COMMENCEMENT DATE

| THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this day of 201, by and between RKMS PARIS LLC ("Landlord") and NEC PARIS EMERGENCY CENTER, LP ("Tenant") | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| WITNESETH: | | | | |
| WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant have entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated effective, 2016 (hereinafter called the "Lease") concerning certain premises located at NE Loop 286, Paris, Texas (the "Leased Premises"). | | | | |
| WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant wish to set forth their agreements as to the commencement and expiration of the term of the Lease. | | | | |
| NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the leasing of the Leased Premises from Landlord to Tenant as described in the Lease, the covenants set forth therein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant agree as follows: | | | | |
| 1. The term of the Lease and Tenant's obligation to pay Rent thereunder commenced on | | | | |
| 2. The Primary Term of the Lease shall expire on | | | | |
| 3. Tenant has three (3) option(s) to extend the Term of the Lease of five (5) years each, which is to be exercised by presentation to Landlord of written notice not more than twelve (12) months nor less than six (6) months prior to the expiration of the Primary Term or preceding option term, as applicable. | | | | |

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written

| LANDLORD: |
|--|
| RKMS PARIS LLC, a Texas limited liability company |
| By: |
| Name: |
| Title: |
| Date: |
| TENANT: |
| NEC PARIS EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership |
| By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner |
| By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH, LLC, its Manager |
| By: Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer |

EXHIBIT F BUILDING FASCIA SIGN CRITERIA

The purpose of these instructions is to outline the criteria which has been established to control the design, fabrication and installation of tenant signs in this Property. Notwithstanding anything contained in these criteria, Tenant's signage must strictly comply, and be constructed in conformity, with applicable city ordinances, rules and regulations, as well as any other governmental agencies or private concerns, including without limitation, the restrictions, rules and regulations concerning signage promulgated and/or enforced under the Restrictions, Tenant hereby agreeing to secure all necessary approvals under the Restrictions prior to installing any signage subject to the restrictions, rules and regulations under the Restrictions.

GENERALLY:

Compliance with Code: All Tenant signage at the Property must strictly comply with the sign code(s) of all applicable regulatory authorities. Tenant or its representative shall obtain permits from all applicable governmental authorities for signs and their installation, at Tenant's sole cost and expense.

BUILDING/FASCIA SIGNS:

A. General Requirements

- 1. Signage Cost: Signs shall be designed, constructed, installed, and approved at Tenant's cost and expense pursuant to the design requirements set forth herein.
- 2. Tenant's Sign Contractor: Tenant's sign contractor(s) shall be subject to Landlord approval, must be licensed by all applicable regulatory authorities, and shall have property liability insurance at a minimum of \$1,000,000.00 coverage per occurrence naming Landlord, Landlord's property manager (if applicable) and Tenant as additional insureds. A copy of such insurance policy must be submitted with sign drawings as part of the Landlord's approval process. Tenant's sign contractor shall be held liable and bear all costs for the removal and/or correction of non-conforming sign installation and damage to building by signs. The party contracting with the sign contractor shall be fully responsible for the operations of its sign contractor. Such contractor shall repair any damage to the fascia or any other facility part of the Property caused by its work. If such contractor defaults under its agreement with Tenant, Tenant shall be responsible for timely replacement of the contractor and Tenant indemnifies Landlord for any damages caused by such contractor.
- 3. Removal of Signage: At the termination of a Tenant's Lease, if not renewed, Tenant shall be held liable and bear the costs for, the removal of sign installations and the repair of any penetrations or damage to the substrate caused by the sign's attachment or its removal.

B. Design Stipulation/Parameters

- 1. All signs and their installation shall comply with all applicable local and/or national building and electrical codes. Electrical hook-up shall be performed by a licensed electrician.
- 2. All conductors, transformers and other components shall be concealed from view. Location and/or concealment methods will be subject to approval in the submitted drawings.
- 3. Electrical service to all signs shall be on Tenant's meter and photocell (provided by Tenant), subject to hours of operation determined by the Landlord or its representative.
- 4. All anchoring devices shall be of non-corrosive metal.

PROPERTY SIGN:

- 1. Tenant shall either (a) fabricate its sign panels, in coordination with the sign contractor selected by Landlord for the Property Sign, or (b) provide artwork to Landlord's sign contractor (.eps or .dxf file or Auto CAD format) for fabrication of the panels by Landlord's sign contractor at Tenant's expense.
- 2. The panels shall be installed by Landlord's sign contractor, and Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for the cost thereof.

EXHIBIT G RULES AND REGULATIONS

Tenant agrees to the establishment of, and shall abide by and enforce upon its agents, servants, employees, invitees, customers and vendors (in addition to the Lease terms, covenants, and conditions), the following Rules and Regulations:

- 1. <u>Safe Premises</u>. The Leased Premises, including vestibules, entrances and returns, doors, fixtures, windows and plate glass shall be maintained in a safe, neat and clean condition. Tenant shall not use, keep or permit to be used or kept any foul or noxious gas or substance in, on or about the Leased Premises or the Property.
- 2. Removal of Trash. All trash, refuse and waste materials shall be regularly removed from the Leased Premises and, until removal, shall be stored: (a) in adequate containers, which containers shall be located so as not to be visible to the general public shopping in the Property; and (b) so as not to constitute any health or fire hazard or nuisance to any occupant.
- 3. <u>Dwelling</u>. Tenant shall not permit or suffer any portion of the Leased Premises or Property to be used for lodging purposes.
- 4. <u>Generally Nonpermitted Uses.</u> No use shall be made of the Property or any portion or portions thereof which would: (a) violate any law, ordinance, or regulation; (b) constitute a nuisance; (c) constitute an extra hazardous use; or (d) violate, suspend or void or increase the premiums for any policy or policies of insurance on any stores or the Property.
- 5. <u>Parking.</u> Tenant shall have the right to prepare, publish and enforce commercially reasonable parking regulations for the Leased Premises. All parking spaces located within the Leased Premises shall be subject to Tenant's use and control.

EXHIBIT H Intentionally Deleted

EXHIBIT I

[NOTE – MAY BE UPDATED WITH NEW LENDER FORM ACCEPTABLE TO TENANT IF AVAILABLE PRIOR TO LEASE EXECUTION. LANDLORD WILL DELIVER THE NEW FORM AS SOON AS LENDER IS SELECTED]

FORM OF SUBORDINATION, NON-DISTURBANCE, $\underline{ \text{AND ATTORNMENT AGREEMENT} }$

| This SUBORDINATION, NON-DISTURBANCE, AND ATTORNMENT | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is made and entered into as of, by | | | | |
| and between ("Beneficiary"); RKMS PARIS LLC ("Landlord"); and NEC PARIS EMERGENCY CENTER, LP ("Tenant"). | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| WITNESETH: | | | | |
| WHEREAS, Beneficiary is the owner and holder of that certain Promissory Note ("Note") dated, in the principal sum of \$, secured by that certain Deed of Trust ("Deed of Trust"), dated of even date with the Note, executed by Landlord to a trustee in favor of Beneficiary, recorded on, in the Office of the Clerk of Lamar County, Texas, under Clerk's File No, which Deed of Trust constitutes a lien on the land described in Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference for all purposes and the improvements now or hereafter located thereon ("Property"); and | | | | |
| WHEREAS, Tenant is the holder of a leasehold estate in and to all or a portion of the Property (the property which is the subject of such leasehold estate being referred to as the "Leased Premises") pursuant to the terms of that certain lease agreement (the "Lease") dated | | | | |
| WHEREAS, Landlord, Tenant and Beneficiary desire to confirm their understandings with respect to the Lease and the Deed of Trust. | | | | |
| NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual and dependent covenants and agreements herein contained, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and confessed, the parties hereto agree and covenant as follows: | | | | |
| 1. <u>Non-Disturbance.</u> So long as Tenant is not in default (beyond any period given Tenant to cure such default) in the payment of rent or in the performance of any of the terms, covenants or conditions of the Lease on Tenant's part to be performed, Tenant's possession, use and occupancy of the Leased Premises and its rights under the Lease shall not be interfered with or disturbed by Beneficiary or anyone claiming by, through or under Beneficiary, during the term of the Lease or any extension thereof duly exercised by Tenant. If at, or subsequent to, the time | | | | |

that Beneficiary or a Purchaser shall acquire, in whatever manner, title to the Leased Premises

(subject to the Lease), or from time to time thereafter, any default by Tenant exists or occurs under the Lease, and continues beyond any applicable cure period in the Lease, then Beneficiary or such Purchaser shall be entitled to exercise or enforce any and all rights, privileges, remedies and recourses which it may have against Tenant under or pursuant to the Lease or other applicable law, (including, without limitation, the termination of the Lease, the dispossession of Tenant from the Leased Premises, or the prosecution of an action for breach of the Lease), notwithstanding the provisions of this Agreement.

- Attornment. If the interests of Landlord in and to the Leased Premises become owned by Beneficiary or another Purchaser (as defined herein) by reason of judicial foreclosure, non-judicial foreclosure by the trustee under the Deed of Trust, other proceedings brought by Purchaser or by any other manner, including, but not limited to, Beneficiary's exercise of its rights under any collateral assignment(s) of leases and rents, and Purchaser succeeds to the interest of the Landlord under the Lease, Tenant shall be bound to Purchaser under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease for the balance of the term thereof remaining and any extension thereof duly exercised by Tenant with the same force and effect as if Purchaser were the Landlord under the Lease. Tenant does hereby attorn to Purchaser, as its Landlord, said attornment to be effective and self-operative, without the execution of any further instruments on the part of any of the parties hereto or of any Purchaser, immediately upon Purchaser's succeeding to the interest of the Landlord under the Lease; provided, however, that Tenant shall be under no obligation to pay rent to Purchaser until Tenant receives written notice from Purchaser that it has succeeded to the interest of the Landlord under the Lease. The respective rights and obligations of Tenant and Purchaser upon such attornment, to the extent of the then remaining balance of the term of the Lease and any extension thereof duly exercised, shall be and are the same as now set forth therein, it being the intention of the parties hereto for this purpose to incorporate the Lease in this Agreement by reference, with the same force and effect as if expressly set forth herein.
- 3. <u>Purchaser's Obligations.</u> If Purchaser shall succeed to the interest of Landlord under the Lease, Purchaser shall be bound to Tenant under all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Lease; provided, however, that Purchaser shall not be:
- (a) liable for any act or omission of any prior lessor (including Landlord) under the Lease; or
- (b) subject to the offsets or defenses which Tenant might have against any prior lessor (including Landlord) under the Lease; or
- (c) bound by any rent, additional rent, advance rent or other monetary obligations which Tenant might have paid earlier than the month required by the Lease to any prior lessor (including Landlord) under the Lease, except pre-paid rent paid pursuant to Section 7.1, and all such rent or other monetary obligations shall remain due and owing, notwithstanding such advance payment; or

- (d) bound by any security deposit of any type or advance rental deposit made by Tenant under the Lease which is not delivered or paid over to Purchaser and with respect to which Tenant agrees to look solely to Landlord for refund or reimbursement; or
- (e) bound by any amendment or modification of the Lease made without Beneficiary's or Purchaser's prior written consent and approval; or
- (f) liable or responsible under or pursuant to the terms of the Lease after it ceases to own an interest in or to the Property.
- 4. <u>Subordination.</u> Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Lease now is, and shall at all times continue to be, subject, inferior and subordinate in each and every respect to the lien of and other security interests created by the Deed of Trust and to any and all renewals, amendments, modifications, extensions, substitutions, replacements, increases and/or consolidations of the Deed of Trust, and the Deed of Trust, and any and all renewals, amendments, modifications, extensions, substitutions, replacements, increases and/or consolidations thereof, shall be and remain, in each and every respect prior and superior to the Lease. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed or construed as limiting or restricting the enforcement by Beneficiary of any of the terms, covenants, provisions or remedies of the Deed of Trust, whether or not consistent with the Lease.
- 5. <u>Purchaser.</u> The term "Purchaser" shall be deemed to include Beneficiary and any of its successors and assigns, including anyone who shall have succeeded to Landlord's interest by, through or under judicial foreclosure, non-judicial foreclosure sale or other proceedings brought pursuant to the Deed of Trust, deed in lieu of such foreclosure, other proceedings brought by Beneficiary under or with respect to the Note or Deed of Trust, or otherwise.
- 6. <u>Representations.</u> Landlord and Tenant represent, warrant and certify to Beneficiary, as of the date hereof that, except as set forth on <u>Annex</u> "1" attached hereto:
 - (a) the Lease is presently in full force and effect
- (b) the Lease has not been modified, amended, supplemented, replaced, restated, or otherwise changed, either orally or in writing, except as herein expressly provided;
- (c) all conditions or requirements specified in the Lease that could have been satisfied as of the date hereof have been fully satisfied;
- (d) no rent under the Lease has been paid for more than the current rental period established in the Lease;
- (e) to the best of Tenant's knowledge, no default (or any event, condition or circumstance, which with notice, grace or lapse of time could constitute a default) exists under said Lease;

- (f) Tenant, as of this date, to the best of Tenant's knowledge, has no charge, lien or claim of offset under said Lease or otherwise against rents or other charges due or to become due under the Lease;
- (g) the Lease constitutes the entire agreement between the Tenant and Landlord and that the Beneficiary shall have no liability or responsibility with respect to any security deposit made by the Tenant;
- (h) the only persons or entities in possession of the Leased Premises or having any right to the possession, use or occupancy of the Leased Premises (other than the record owner or holders of recorded easements) is Tenant; and
- (i) Tenant has no right or interest in or under any contract, option or agreement (other than as shown in the Lease) involving the sale or transfer of the Leased Premises.
- 7. Negative Covenants. In the absence of the prior written consent of Beneficiary, Tenant agrees not to do any of the following: enter into any agreement, whether oral or written, with Landlord to amend, modify, supplement, replace, restate or otherwise change the Lease, voluntarily surrender the Leased Premises so as to effect a termination (except as expressly provided in the Lease) or, except for a default by Landlord and to the extent provided in the Lease and this Agreement, terminate the Lease, and except as expressly provided in the Lease, sublease or assign all or any portion of the Leased Premises.
- 8. <u>Default.</u> In the event Landlord shall fail to perform or observe any of the terms, conditions or agreements in the Lease, Tenant shall give written notice thereof to Beneficiary and Beneficiary shall have the right (but not the obligation) to cure such default. Tenant shall not take any action with respect to such default under the Lease (other than self-help), including without limitation any action in order to terminate, rescind or avoid the Lease or to withhold any rent or other monetary obligations thereunder, for a period of thirty (30) days after receipt of such written notice by Beneficiary; provided, however, that in the case of any default which cannot with diligence be cured within said thirty (30) day period, if Beneficiary shall proceed promptly to cure such default and thereafter prosecute the curing of such default with diligence and continuity, the time within which such default may be cured shall be extended for such period as may be necessary to complete the curing of such default, such period not to exceed an additional ninety (90) days, except for the initial construction of the Leased Premises in which event the additional time period shall not exceed one hundred eighty (180) days.
- 9. <u>Notices.</u> All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given pursuant to the provisions hereof shall be in writing and shall be considered as properly given if (i) mailed by first class United States mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified with return receipt requested, (ii) by delivering same in person to the intended addressee, or (iii) by delivery to a third party commercial delivery service for same day or next day delivery to the office of the addressee. Notice so given shall be effective, as applicable, upon (i) actual delivery, or (ii) three (3) days after transmittal or mailing. Notice given in any other manner shall be effective only if and when received by the addressee. For purposes of notice, the addresses of the parties shall be:

| Beneficiary: | | | |
|--------------|--|--|--|
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| T 11 1 | | | |
| Landlord: | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| Tenant: | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any party shall have the right to change its address for notice hereunder to any other location within the continental United States by the giving of ten (10) days' notice to the other parties in the manner set forth herein.

- 10. <u>Counterparts.</u> To facilitate execution, this instrument may be executed in as many counterparts as may be convenient or required. It shall not be necessary that the signature or acknowledgment of, or on behalf of, each party, or that the signature of all persons required to bind any party, or the acknowledgment of such party, appear on each counterpart. All counterparts shall collectively constitute a single instrument. It shall not be necessary in making proof of this instrument to produce or account for more than a single counterpart containing the respective signatures of, or on behalf of, and the respective acknowledgments of, each of the parties hereto. Any signature or acknowledgment page to any counterpart may be detached from such counterpart without impairing the legal effect of the signatures or acknowledgments thereon and thereafter attach to another counterpart identical thereto except having attached to it additional signature or acknowledgment pages.
- 11. <u>Amendment.</u> This Agreement may not be modified orally or in any manner other than by an agreement, in writing, signed by the parties hereto and their respective successors-in-interest.
- 12. <u>Successors.</u> This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto, their successors and assigns.
- 13. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall be of no further force and effect and shall become null and void upon the recording in the applicable records of Beneficiary's written release of the lien of the Deed of Trust.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.

| BENEFICIARY: |
|--|
| By: |
| Name: |
| Title: |
| Date: |
| LANDLORD: RKMS PARIS LLC, a Texas limited liability company |
| By: |
| Name: Jeffvey A. Pand |
| Title: Nanager |
| Date: 5 31 16 |
| TENANT: |
| NEC PARIS EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership |
| By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner |
| By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH, LLC, its Manage By: Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer |

| STATE OF TEXAS | § § | |
|---|------------------------|---|
| COUNTY OF | § § | |
| This instrument was a | ncknowledged l | before me on this day of, |
| a, on | behalf of said | of |
| | | Notary Public in and for |
| | | The State of Texas |
| | | Printed Name: My Commission Expires: |
| STATE OF TEXAS | 8 | my commission Expires |
| COUNTY OF HAVYS | § § § | |
| This instrument was a My, by 16 frey A y | cknowledged b | pefore me on this 3 day of MUM, the MUMMON of of billity company. |
| | | Sarah Boell |
| SARAH DODDS Notary Public, State of Comm. Expires 12-23 | of Texas | Notary Public in and for The State of Texas |
| Notary ID 128828 | 3-2019 10 54 | Printed Name: Savah Dudd S My Commission Expires: 12 23 19 |
| STATE OF TEXAS | § | |
| COUNTY OF | § § | |
| This instrument was a | cknowledged b | efore me on this day of, |
| , by, a | | , the of, on behalf of said |
| | | Notary Public in and for |
| | | The State of Texas |
| | | Printed Name: My Commission Expires: |

EXHIBIT J GUARANTY OF LEASE

THIS GUARANTY given by Neighbors Global Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (hereinafter called the "Guarantors," whether one or more) to RKMS Paris LLC (hereinafter called the "Landlord").

WITNESSETH:

- 1. The Guarantors do hereby jointly and severally, unconditionally and absolutely guarantee to the Landlord the full, prompt and complete payment by the Tenant of the rent and all other sums which may be payable by the Tenant under the Lease and the full, prompt and complete performance by the Tenant of all and singular the terms, covenants, conditions and provisions in the Lease required to be performed by the Tenant without regard to any forbearance, delay, neglect or failure on the part of Landlord in enforcing same.
- 2. The Guarantors do hereby waive notice of acceptance hereof and any and all other notices which by law or under the terms and provisions of the Lease are required to be given to the Tenant, and also waive any demand for or notice of default of the payment of rent and other sums which may be payable by the Tenant under the Lease and the performance of all and singular the terms, covenants, conditions and provisions in the Lease required to be performed by the Tenant; and the Guarantors do further expressly hereby waive any legal obligation, duty or necessity for the Landlord to proceed first against the Tenant or to exhaust any remedy the Landlord may have against the Tenant, it being agreed that in the event of default or failure of performance in any respect by the Tenant under the Lease, the Landlord may proceed and have right of action solely against either the Guarantors (or any of them) or the Tenant or jointly against the Guarantors (or any of them) and the Tenant.
- 3. In the event of any bankruptcy, reorganization, winding up or similar proceedings with respect to Tenant, no limitation of Tenant's liability under the Lease which may now or hereafter be imposed by any federal, state or other statute, law or regulation applicable to such proceedings, shall in any way limit the obligation of Guarantors hereunder, which obligation is co-extensive with Tenant's liability as set forth in the Lease without regard to any such limitation.

- 4. The Guarantors shall not be entitled to make any defense against any claim asserted by the Landlord in any suit or action instituted by the Landlord to enforce this Guaranty or the Lease or to be excused from any liability hereunder which the Tenant could not make or invoke, and the Guarantors hereby expressly waive any defense in law or in equity which is not or would not be available to the Tenant, it being the intent hereof that the liability of the Guarantors hereunder is primary and unconditional.
- 5. In the event it shall be asserted that Tenant's obligations are void or voidable due to illegal or unauthorized acts by Tenant in the execution of the Lease, the Guarantors shall nevertheless be liable hereunder to the same extent as the Guarantors would have been if the obligations of the Tenant had been enforceable against the Tenant.
- 6. In the event suit or action be brought upon and in connection with the enforcement of this Guaranty, the Guarantors shall pay reasonable attorneys' fees and all court costs incurred by the Landlord.
- 7. This Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect as to any renewal, extension, modification or amendment of the Lease and as to any assigns of Tenant's interest under the Lease, and despite any subletting of all or any portion of the leased premises.
- 8. This Guaranty shall be binding upon the heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the Guarantors, and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns of the Landlord. Landlord's interest under this Guaranty may be assigned by it by way of security or otherwise.
- 9. This Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect regardless of whether or not Tenant continues to be owned in whole or in part by Guarantors.
- 10. If the Guarantors, or any of them, are a corporation, then the undersigned officer of each such corporation personally represents and warrants that the Board of Directors of each such corporation, in a duly held meeting, has determined that this Guaranty may reasonably be expected to benefit said corporation.
- 11. The Guarantors agree that this contract is performable in Houston, Harris County, Texas and waive the right to be sued elsewhere.

EXECUTED this the 27 day of MAY, 2016.

GUARANTORS:

Neighbors Global Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited

liability company

By: Bruce W. McVeigh. Ch

Bruce W. McVeigh, Chief Operating Officer

Date: 5-27-16

Address: 11200 Broadway Street

Suite 2320

Pearland, Texas 77584

EXHIBIT "K"

LANDLORD AGREEMENT

| THIS LANDLORD AGREEMENT | (this "Agreement") is made and entered into |
|---|---|
| as of this day of | 2016, by RKMS Paris LLC, a Texas limited |
| liability company ("Landlord"), for the be- | nefit of NEC Paris EMERGENCY CENTER, |
| LP, a Texas limited partnership, ("Tend | ant"), and COMPASS BANK, an Alabama |
| banking corporation, as lender ("Lender"). | , |

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Landlord is the landlord of that certain property located at NE Loop 286, Paris, Texas (the "*Property*"), as more particularly described in that certain Lease Agreement dated ______ (as amended, restated, or supplemented from time to time, the "*Lease*"), a copy of which is attached hereto as *Exhibit A*;

WHEREAS, Lender and NEIGHBORS HEALTH, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Borrower"), as borrower, have entered into a Credit Agreement (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the "Credit Agreement");

WHEREAS, Tenant has executed a Guaranty (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the "Guaranty"), secured in part by a security interest in, among other things, substantially all personal property assets of Tenant, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, which now or hereafter may be located on or about the Property (the "Collateral"); and

WHEREAS, Lender requires Landlord's consent and agreement as set forth herein as a condition to continuing to extend credit to Borrower.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Landlord hereby agrees as follows:

1. <u>Consent.</u> Landlord agrees that, at Lender's option, the Collateral may remain upon the Property and Lender may occupy the same for the purpose of preparing and processing the Collateral for sale, lease or other disposition and for the purpose of conducting a sale of the Collateral, or removing the Collateral from the Property, for a period up to 45 days after (a) the exercise by Lender of its right to the Collateral under its financing arrangements with Tenant or (b) the receipt by Lender of written notice by Landlord directing removal thereof; *provided that*, (i) Lender may not conduct the sale or other disposition of the Collateral on the Property and may not post any signage regarding the sale on the Property, and (ii) Lender shall be liable for an occupancy charge on the actual number of days it occupies the Property at the rental provided under the Lease (or, if the Lease is not then in effect, at a rate to be agreed upon in writing by

Lender and Landlord), prorated on a per diem basis and further prorated based on the square footage of space to be occupied by Lender under this Section 1. Lender's payment of any such occupancy charge shall not result in Lender incurring any obligations of Tenant under the Lease or any other agreement. If Lender is prohibited by any process or injunction issued by any court, or by reason of any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding involving Tenant, from enforcing its security interest in the Collateral, the 45 day period shall toll upon such proceeding and commence or recommence upon termination of such prohibition, so long as Lender is at all times pursuing its remedies with due diligence.

- 2. <u>Subordination</u>. Landlord claims no interest in or lien upon any of the Collateral, and subordinates any lien, security interest or claim against the Collateral, whether arising under the Lease or other agreement, provided by applicable law or otherwise, and any and all right of levy, distraint or execution against the Collateral for rent or other sums due or to become due Landlord. Landlord waives any and all right to require Lender to marshal any property or assets of Tenant. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, any Collateral not removed by Lender within the time periods required hereunder will conclusively be deemed abandoned, the Lender will automatically waive all rights the Lender may have in such Collateral, and the Landlord shall be entitled to exercise any perfected lien upon, and/or, to the extent permitted by law, remove, sell or dispose of any of the Collateral not removed by Lender within the time periods required hereunder.
- 3. Personal Property. Landlord agrees that, as between Lender and Landlord, the Collateral shall remain personal property, notwithstanding the manner of attachment, and will not become part of the Property. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Lender and Landlord agree that the Collateral shall not include (a) concrete floor, attached alterations, improvements and/or fixtures (including without limitation, floor covering, ceiling, permanent wall partitions, air conditioning and heating systems, fluorescent and drop in lighting fixtures, exterior and interior doors or kitchen or bathroom fixture, attached shelving, cabling, wiring or similar improvements), unless they are financed using proceeds of the Credit Agreement, or (b) any items that were paid for by Landlord.
- 4. <u>Right of Entry</u>. Lender or its representatives may enter the Property at any time to remove and/or dispose of the Collateral in the exercise of its rights and remedies against Tenant and the Collateral subject to the terms of this Agreement. Lender agrees to repair any damage (ordinary wear and tear excluded) caused by Lender's removal of the Collateral. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 4 to the contrary, neither Lender nor any of its representatives may enter the Property until a certificate of insurance has been delivered to Landlord which covers any party entering the Premises.
- 5. <u>Estoppel</u>. Landlord certifies to Lender and agrees as of the date Landlord executes this Agreement:

- a. <u>Valid Lease</u>. The Lease is enforceable against the Landlord according to its terms. To the Landlord's actual knowledge, the Lease is valid and has not been modified either orally or in writing.
- b. No Defaults. Landlord is not in, and to Landlord's knowledge, Tenant is not in, default under the Lease, nor has any event occurred which, with the passage of time, the giving of notice, or both, would constitute an event of default or default under the Lease.
- 6. <u>Notice of Default and Opportunity to Cure</u>. Landlord agrees that in the event of any claimed breach or default by Tenant which would entitle Landlord to terminate the Lease, Landlord shall notify Lender of such claimed breach or default by certified mail, return receipt requested, or Federal Express or other reputable overnight courier, at the following address:

Compass Bank 2200 Post Oak Blvd., 20th Floor Houston, Texas 77056 Attention: Cindy Young Telephone: 713-499-8632 Facsimile: 713-966-2388

Upon receipt of said notice, Lender shall thereupon at its option (and without obligation) have 30 days to cure said default (but in no event shall Lender be required to cure any such default); *provided*, however, in the event such default is not reasonably susceptible of being cured within 30 days, such 30 day cure period shall be extended as reasonably necessary to allow Lender an opportunity (and without obligation) to cure such default provided that Lender has commenced such cure within said 30 day period and thereafter continues to diligently pursue such cure to completion.

- 7. <u>Continued Effectiveness</u>. The effectiveness of this Agreement and Lender's rights hereunder shall not be affected by and shall extend to any amendment or modification of the loan documents, including, without limitation, any change in the manner or time of payment, any renewal or extension of the term thereof, or any increase in the indebtedness due thereunder.
- 8. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Texas, without regard to conflicts of law principles, shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns, and may not be modified, amended or altered except by a writing signed by each of the parties hereto.

[Signature and acknowledgement appears on following page.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement is executed as of the date set forth in the Landlord's notary acknowledgement below but is to be effective for all purposes as of the date set forth in the preamble to this Agreement.

LANDLORD:

RKMS Paris LLC, a Texas limited liability company

Name: Jeffrey A. Pend.
Title: WANG Ger

STATE OF TEXAS

Ş

COUNTY OF HUYNS §

This instrument was acknowledged before me on this 3 day of MM , 2016, by MMAN of RKMS Paris LLC, a Texas limited liability company, on behalf of said limited liability company, and for the purpose and consideration herein stated.

SARAH DODDS

Notary Public, State of Texas

Comm. Expires 12-23-2019

Notary ID 128828054

Notary Public in and for the

State of Texas

| | TENANT: |
|--|---|
| | NEC PARIS EMERGENCY CENTER, LP, a Texas limited partnership |
| | By: NEIGHBORS GP, LLC, its General Partner |
| | By: NEIGHBORS HEALTH, LLC, its Manager By: Declarating Officer |
| | Date: My 2d6 |
| STATE OF TEXAS § | |
| COUNTY OF § | |
| by Bruce McVeigh, Chief Operat company, Manager of Neighbors NEC Paris Emergency Center, L | owledged before me on this day of |
| | Notary Public in and for the State of Texas |

| | LENDER: | | | | |
|---|---|--------------|----------------|--------|---------|
| | COMPASS BANK, corporation | an | Alabama | n banl | king |
| | By: Name: Title: | | | | |
| STATE OF TEXAS | | | | | |
| This instrument was acknowledged 201, by, Alabama banking corporation, on behalf of statement was acknowledged acknowledged at the corporation of the corp | d before me on this said corporation. | day of Co | y of OMPASS | BANK, | , an |
| | Notary Public in and for State of Texas | or the | | | |

EXHIBIT "C"

Case 18-33836 Document 290-3 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 2 of 15 Read King, Inc.

8/15/2018 User: KNELSON

Aging Report (Detailed)

5:21:54PM Page 1 of 2

Property: RKMS Lubbock, LLC

735

| Unit Type | Unit Reference Number | Occupant Name | Deposits Held | Balance Due | AGED 1 - 30 DAYS | AGED 31 - 60 DAYS | AGED 61-90 DAYS | AGED OVER 90 DAYS |
|--------------|--------------------------|----------------------------|------------------|----------------|------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|
| CURR | NEC NEC | C Lubbock Emergency Center | 42,266.00 | 18,500.07 | 274.21 | 274.21 | 274.21 | 17,677.44 |

as of 08/15/2018

Contact : Paul Alleyne

Email : accountspayable@nec24.com

| CHARGE CODE | CHARGE DESCRIPTION | CHARGE DATE | | | | |
|----------------|-------------------------|----------------|--------|--------|--------|----------|
| PYI | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 01/01/2018 | | | | 3,728. |
| PYM | 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 01/01/2018 | | | | 1,742. |
| PYT | 2017 TAX RECONCILIATION | 01/01/2018 | | | | 11,489.7 |
| OCR | Payment to Open Credit | 01/04/2018 | | | | (381.1 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 02/01/2018 | | | | 274.2 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 03/01/2018 | | | | 274.2 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 04/01/2018 | | | | 274.2 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 05/01/2018 | | | | 274.2 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 06/01/2018 | | | 274.21 | |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 07/01/2018 | | 274.21 | | |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 08/01/2018 | 274.21 | | | |

Case 18-33836 Document 290-3 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 3 of 15 Read King, Inc.

8/15/2018 **User: KNELSON**

Aging Report

5:21:55PM Page 2 of 2

(Detailed)

Property:

RKMS Lubbock, LLC

as of 08/15/2018

| Unit Type | Unit Referei Number | ıce | Occupant Name | Deposits Held | Balance Due | AGED 1 - 30 DAYS | AGED 31 - 60 DAYS | AGED 61-90 DAYS | AGED OVER 90 DAYS |
|--------------|------------------------|----------------|--------------------------|------------------|-----------------|------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|
| PROPE | ERTY TO | TALS | | 42,266.00 | 18,500.07 | 274.21 | 274.21 | 274.21 | 17,677.44 |
| | | CHARGE CODE | CHARGE DESCRIPTION | | CHARGE TOTAL | | | | |
| | | OCR | Payment to Open Credit | | (381.11) | | | | (381.11) |
| | | TAX | Monthly Property Tax | | 1,919.47 | 274.21 | 274.21 | 274.21 | 1,096.84 |
| | | PYT | Prior Year Tax Rec | | 11,489.75 | | | | 11,489.75 |
| | | PYM | Prior Year Mgmt Fee Rec | | 1,742.98 | | | | 1,742.98 |
| | | PYI | Prior Year Insurance Rec | | 3,728.98 | | | | 3,728.98 |

Case 18-33836 Document 290-3 Filed in TXSB on-08/23/18 Page 4 of 15

RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Statement

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE |
|---------------|-------------------------------|------------|-----------|
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 3,728.98 | |
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 1,742.98 | |
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 TAX RECONCILIATION | 11,489.75 | |
| 02/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| 03/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| 04/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| 05/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| 06/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| 07/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| 08/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| | Open Credits | (381.11) | |
| | PREVIOUS MONTH ENDING BALANCE | | 18,500.07 |
| | CURRENT CHARGES | | |
| 09/01/2018 | Monthly Rent | 34,673.00 | |
| 09/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 1,673.72 | |
| 09/01/2018 | Monthly Mgmt Fee | 226.21 | |
| 09/01/2018 | Monthly Insurance | 588.33 | |
| ONTINUED ON T | HE NEXT PAGE | | |

Comments:

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 09/01/2018

Total Due: \$ See the next page

Amount Due : \$ See the next page

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

Date : 09/01/2018

RKMS Lubbock, LLC
5850 San Felina
Unit: 735-NEC-CU

5850 San Felipe Suite 490

Houston, Tx 77057

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to: NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to: RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Case 18-33836 Document 290-3 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 5 of 15

RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490

Statement

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center

| Houston, Tx 77057 DATE DESCRIPTION AMOUNT DUE BA | | | | |
|---|---------------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------|--|
| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE | |
| TOTAL | CURRENT | | 37,161.26 | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| otal Amount Due: Attached is your | billing statement for September 2018. | | \$ 55,661.33 | |
| Thank you, | | | | |
| Rebecca Sears | | | | |
| | | | | |
| NEC Lubbock Emergency C 10800 Richmond Ave | enter | Statement Date: (| 09/01/2018 | |
| Houston, TX 77042 | | Total Due: \$ 55,6 | 661.33 | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | Please Return This C | oupon With Your Payment | | |
| | | Date : 09/ | /01/2018 | |
| RKMS Lubbock | | Unit: 735 | -NEC-CU | |
| 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 | | Amount D | ue : \$ 55,661.33 | |
| Houston, Tx 770 | 57 | | | |
| | | Amount Er | nclosed: | |
| | | | | |
| Bill to: | | Send Remittance to : | | |

Bill to: NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to : RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Case 18-33836 Document 290-3 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 6 of 15

RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Statement

735-NEC-CU NEC Lubbock Emergency Center

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE |
|-----------|-------------------------------|------------|-----------|
| 1/01/2018 | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 3,728,98 | |
| 1/01/2018 | . 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 1,742.98 | |
| 1/01/2018 | 2017 TAX RECONCILIATION | 11,489,75 | |
| | Open Credits | (381.11) | |
| | PREVIOUS MONTH ENDING BALANCE | | 16,580.60 |
| | CURRENT CHARGES | | |
| 01/2018 | Monthly Rent | 34,673.00 | |
| 01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 1,673.72 | |
| /01/2018 | Monthly Mgmt Fee | 226.21 | |
| 2/01/2018 | Monthly Insurance | 588.33 | |
| | TOTAL CURRENT | | 37,161,26 |

Total Amount Due: \$53,741.86

Comments:

Please review billing statement and send payments to remittance address below.

Thank you

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 02/01/2018

Total Due: \$53,741.86

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

Date : 02/01/2018

Unit: 735-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ 53,741.86

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to: NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave

RKMS Lubbock, LLC

5850 San Felipe Suite 490

Houston, Tx 77057

10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to:

RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Statement

735-NEC-CU NEC Lubbock Emergency Center

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE |
|------------|-------------------------------|------------|-----------|
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 3,728.98 | |
| 1/01/2018 | 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 1,742.98 | |
| 1/01/2018 | 2017 TAX RECONCILIATION | 11,489.75 | |
| 2/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 273.76 | |
| | Open Credits | (381.11) | |
| | PREVIOUS MONTH ENDING BALANCE | | 16,854.36 |
| | CURRENT CHARGES | | |
| 3/01/2018 | Monthly Rent | 34,673.00 | |
| 3/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 1,673.72 | |
| 3/01/2018 | Monthly Mgmt Fee | 226.21 | |
| 3/01/2018 | Monthly Insurance | 588.33 | |
| | TOTAL CURRENT | | 37,161.26 |

Total Amount Due: \$ 54,015.62

Comments:

Please see attached billing statement.

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

RKMS Lubbock, LLC

5850 San Felipe Suite 490

Houston, Tx 77057

Statement Date: 03/01/2018

Total Due: \$54,015.62

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

Date : 03/01/2018

Unit: 735-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ 54,015.62

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to: NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to : RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Statement

735-NEC-CU NEC Lubbock Emergency Center

| DATE | DESCRIPTION AMOUNT DUE | | BALANCE |
|------------|-------------------------------|-----------|------------------------|
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 3,728.98 | |
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 1,742.98 | |
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 TAX RECONCILIATION | 11,489,75 | |
| 02/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| 03/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 274.21 | |
| | Open Credits | (381.11) | |
| | PREVIOUS MONTH ENDING BALANCE | | 17,129,02 |
| | CURRENT CHARGES | | 5 55555111810000000000 |
| 04/01/2018 | Monthly Rent | 34,673.00 | |
| 04/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 1,673.72 | |
| 04/01/2018 | Monthly Mgmt Fee | 226,21 | |
| 04/01/2018 | Monthly Insurance | 588.33 | |
| | TOTAL CURRENT | | 37,161.26 |

Total Amount Due: \$54,290,28

Comments:

Please see attached billing statement.

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 04/01/2018

Total Due: \$ 54,290.28

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe

Suite 490

Houston, Tx 77057

Date : 04/01/2018

Unit: 735-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ 54,290.28

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to:

NEC Lubbock Emergency Center 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to:

RKMS Lubbock, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490

Case 18-33836 Document 290-3 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 9 of 15 Read King, Inc.

1/19/2018 User: RSEARS

9:38:04AM Page 1 of 1

Escalation Schedule Report

Property: 735

| TENANT NAME | UNIT REFERENCE NUMBER | CHARGE CODE | DESCRIPTION | START DATE | STOP DATE | CHARGE FREQ. | CHARGE AMOUNT |
|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|----------------|-------------------------|---------------|--------------|-----------------|------------------|
| NEC Lubbock Emergency Cente | NEC | PYT | 2017 TAX RECONCILIATION | 1/01/2018 | 1/31/2018 | 0 | 11,489.75 |
| NEC Lubbock Emergency Cente | NEC | PYI | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 1/01/2018 | 1/31/2018 | 0 | 3,728.98 |
| NEC Lubbock Emergency Cente | NEC | PYC | 2017 CAM RECONCILIATION | 1/01/2018 | 1/31/2018 | 0 | 0.00 |
| NEC Lubbock Emergency Cente | NEC | PYM | 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 1/01/2018 | 1/31/2018 | О | 1,742.98 |



Case 18-33836 Document 290-3 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 10 of 15

RKMS Lubbock, LLC Escalatable Expense December 31, 2017

INVOICE

DATE: January 19, 2018

TO: NEC Lubbock Emergency Center

10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

TENANT SQ. FT.: 5,066
CENTER SQ. FT.: 5,066
TENANT % 1.0000

2017 REAL ESTATE TAX: \$ 36,819.71 2017 CAM: 0.00 2017 INSURANCE: 7,358.05 **TOTAL EXPENSES:** 44,177.76 **TENANT PRORATA SHARE %** (x) 1.0000 2017 TENANT OCCUPANCY %: (INSURANCE AT 100%) (x) 100% TOTAL LUMP SUM DUE: 44,177.76 (LESS) 2017 CHARGES: (28,959.03)**TOTAL CAM, TAX & INS DUE:** 15,218.73 TOTAL MANAGEMENT FEE EXPENSE: 44,177.76 **MANAGEMENT FEE %:** (x) 0.10 TOTAL LUMP SUM DUE: 4,417.78 (LESS) 2017 CHARGES: (2,674.80)**TOTAL MANAGEMENT FEE DUE:** 1,742.98

2017 BALANCE DUE (CREDIT): \$ 16,961.71

Please remit your payment to: RKMS Lubbock, LLC c/o Read King, Inc. 5850 San Felipe, Suite 490 Houston, Texas 77057 **LUBBOCK CENTRAL APPRAISAL DISTRICT PO BOX 10568 - 2109 AVENUE Q LUBBOCK, TEXAS 79408-3568**

2017 TAX STATEMENT

(806) 762-5000 EXT: 6

www.lubbockcad.org PRINT DATE: 10/3/2017

PLEASE RETAIN THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS

VAL

| ALUATION | BREAKDOWN | | PAYABLE UPON RECEIPT |
|----------|-----------|--------------------|----------------------|
| G-USE | IMPV-HS | IMPV-NHS/PERS PROP | APPRAISED |

| LAND-HS | LAND-NHS | AG-MKT | AG-USE | IMPV-HS | IMPV-NHS/PERS PROP | APPRAISED |
|-----------------------|----------|--------|--------|---------|--------------------|-----------|
| 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 289,663 | 289,663 |
| ASSESSMENT RATIO 100% | | | • | | 1 | |

| TOTAL. ASSESSED | EXEMPTIONS | YALUE | TAX RATE | TAX AMOUNT BEFORE PENALTY | RENDITION PENALTY | TAX AMOUNT |
|--------------------|---|---|---|--|---|---|
| 289,663 | 0 | 289,663 | 0.5380200 | 1,558.44 | | 1,558,44 |
| 289,663 | 0 | 289,663 | 0.3581580 | 1.037.45 | | 1,037.45 |
| 289,663 | 0 | 289,663 | 0.1097780 | 317.99 | | 317.99 |
| 289,663 | 0 | 289,663 | 1.2350000 | | | 3,577.34 |
| 289,663 | 0 | 289,663 | 0.0069000 | 19.99 | | 19.99 |
| | 289,663 289,663 289,663 289,663 289,663 | ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS 289,663 0 289,663 0 289,663 0 289,663 0 | ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS VALUE 289,663 0 289,663 289,663 0 289,663 289,663 0 289,663 289,663 0 289,663 | ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS VALUE TAX RATE 289,663 0 289,663 0.5380200 289,663 0 289,663 0.3581580 289,663 0 289,663 0.1097780 289,663 0 289,663 1.2350000 | ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS VALUE TAX RATE BEFORE PENALTY 289,663 0 289,663 0.5380200 1,558.44 289,663 0 289,663 0.3581580 1,037.45 289,663 0 289,663 0.1097780 317.99 289,663 0 289,663 1.2350000 3,577.34 | ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS VALUE TAX RATE BEFORE PENALTY RENDITION PENALTY |

| DOE - June 1 | EXEMPTION CODES: | ** CITY TAXES REDUCED BY ADDITIONAL SALES TAX: 355.56 ** COUNTY TAXES REDUCED BY ADDITIONAL SALES TAX: 389.57 | TOTAL | 6,511.21 |
|--------------|------------------|---|-------|----------|
|--------------|------------------|---|-------|----------|

TIM RADLOFF

SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR ADDITIONAL TAX INFORMATION

| | QUICKREF: | P329410 | | |
|-----------|---|-----------------|--|--|
| PSROPERTY | Legal: FFM E & SUPP Situs: 4337 50TH ST LUBBOCK | | | |
| OWNER | NEIGHBORS EMER % RKMS LUBBOCK 5850 SAN FELIPE HOUSTON TX | KLLC STE 490 | | |

| IF TAXES ARE PAID IN | LESS (-) OR P PENALTY | TOTAL TAX DUE | |
|----------------------------|-----------------------------|------------------|----------|
| OCT 2017 | | .00 | 6,511.21 |
| NOV 2017 | | .00 | 6,511,21 |
| DEC 2017 | | .00 | 6,511.21 |
| JAN 2018 | | .00 | 6,511,21 |
| FEB 2018 | 7% | 455.79 | 6,967.00 |
| MAR 2018 | 9% | 586.01 | 7,097.22 |
| APR 2018 | 11% | 716.22 | 7,227.43 |
| MAY 2018 | 13% | 846.46 | 7,357.67 |
| JUN 2018 | 15% | 976.69 | 7,487.90 |
| JUL 2018 | 18%+20% | 2,708.67 | 9,219.88 |

PAYMENT SCHEDULE

| CEILING ON OVER 65 OR DISABLED HOMESTEAD | CITY COUNTY SCHOOL | |
|---|--------------------------|--|
|---|--------------------------|--|

FOR TOTAL TAX DUE REFER TO THE PAYMENT SCHEDULE ABOVE

* IF YOU ARE 65 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER OR ARE DISABLED AND THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THIS DOCUMENT IS YOUR HOMESTEAD, YOU SHOULD CONTACT THE APPRAISAL DISTRICT REGARDING ANY ENTITLEMENT YOU MAY HAVE TO A POSTPONEMENT IN THE PAYMENT OF THESE TAXES.

* TAXES BECOME DELINQUENT ON FEBRUARY 1, 2018. AFTER JUNE AN ADDITIONAL PENALTY OF 20% WILL BE IMPOSED ON THE AMOUNT OF TAXES, PENALTY AND INTEREST ON REAL PROPERTY. AFTER MARCH AN ADDITIONAL PENALTY OF 20% WILL BE IMPOSED ON THE AMOUNT OF TAXES, PENALTY AND INTEREST ON PERSONAL PROPERTY. AFTER JULY AN ADDITIONAL 1% INTEREST PER MONTH WILL BE APPLIED.

* IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS, PLEASE CALL (808) 762-5000. YOUR PAYMENT MUST BE POSTMARKED BY JANUARY 31, 2018 TO AVOID PENALTIES AND INTEREST. * YOUR CHECK MAY BE CONVERTED TO AN ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER.

Quickref: P329410 OWNER ID: 00284719

% RKMS LUBBOCK LLC 5850 SAN FELIPE ST STE 490 HOUSTON TX 77057-8003

2017 TAX STATEMENT

PAYABLE UPON RECEIPT

MAKE CHECKS PAYABLE TO: LUBBOCK CENTRAL APPRAISAL DISTRICT PO BOX 10568 - 2109 AVENUE Q LUBBOCK, TEXAS 79408-3568 (806) 762-5000 EXT: 6 www.lubbockcad.org

PRINT DATE: 10/3/2017 PLEASE RETURN THIS PORTION

| | (| QUICKREF: | P329410 | | | | | |
|---|---|---------------------|------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | D | OWNER ID: 002 | 84719 | | | | | |
| | E | OWNER %: 100 | .00 | | | | | |
| P | S | | | | | | | |
| R | Ç | Legal: FFM E & SUPP | | | | | | |
| 0 | R | Logal. I I W. L. Q. | Legal. I TIVI E & SUFF | | | | | |
| P | 1 | Citua: 4227 FOTI | LOT LUBBOOK | | | | | |
| E | P | Situs: 4337 50T | 1 ST LUBBOCK | | | | | |
| R | T | | | | | | | |
| T | 1 | DBA: NEIGHBOR | RS EMERGENCY CENTER | | | | | |
| Y | 0 | | | | | | | |
| | N | | | | | | | |

57432 1 AB 0.403***AUTO**ALL FOR AADC 773 AADC 2 FT 185 սակինիկիսորդումիրդիսորինորինիի **NEIGHBORS EMERGENCY CENTER**

| DECEME A DESCRIPT | | |
|--------------------------------|----------|--|
| TO RECEIVE A RECEIPT CHECK BOX | TAX DUE | |
| | 6.511.21 | |

CHANGE OF ADDRESS OR OWNERSHIP CORRECTION ON BACK



LUBBOCK CENTRAL APPRAISAL DISTRICT PO BOX 10568 - 2109 AVENUE Q **LUBBOCK, TEXAS 79408-3568**

T

2017 TAX STATEMENT

(806) 762-5000 EXT: 6

www.lubbockcad.org PRINT DATE: 10/3/2017

PLEASE RETAIN THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS

VAL

| Line . | DOWN PA | YABLE UPON RECEIPT |
|-----------|-------------------------|--------------------|
| APPRAISED | V-HS IMPV-NHS/PERS PROP | |

| | CAND-N | no AG- | MKI AG-U | SE M | MPV-HS | IMPV-NHS/PERS PROP | APPRAISED |
|--------------------------|---------------|-------------------|------------|---------|----------|--------------------|-----------|
| 0 ASSESSMENT RATIO 10 | 136,95 | 59 (| 0 | | 0 | 1,211,370 | 1,348,329 |
| JURISDICTION | HOMESTEAD CAP | TOTAL ASSESSED | EXEMPTIONS | TAXABLE | TAY DATE | TAX AMOUNT | |

| CAP | ASSESSED | EXEMPTIONS | TAXABLE VALUE | TAX RATE | TAX AMOUNT SEFORE PENALTY | TAX AMOUNT |
|-----|-----------|--------------|---|---|--|--|
| | 1,348,329 | 0 | 1 348 320 | 0.6390200 | 7.054.00 | |
| | 1.348.329 | 0 | | | 1,000,000 | 7,254.28 |
| | | 0 | | | | 4,829.15 |
| | | 0 | | | 1,480.17 | 1,480.17 |
| | | 0 | 1,348,329 | 1.2350000 | 16,651.87 | 16,651.87 |
| | 1,348,329 | 0 | 1,348,329 | 0.0069000 | 93.03 | 93.03 |
| | | CAP ASSESSED | CAP ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0 | CAP ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS TAXABLE VALUE 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 | CAP ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS TAX RATE 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0.5380200 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0.3581580 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0.1097780 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 1.2350000 | CAP ASSESSED EXEMPTIONS TAX RATE TAX RATE TAX AMOUNT SEFORE PENALTY 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0.5380200 7,254.28 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0.3581580 4,829.15 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 0.1097780 1,480.17 1,348,329 0 1,348,329 1.2350000 16,651.87 |

| EXEMPTION CODES: | ** CITY TAXES REDUCED BY ADDITIONAL SALES TAX: 1,655.07 ** COUNTY TAXES REDUCED BY ADDITIONAL SALES TAX: 1,813.37 | TOTAL | 30,308.50 |
|------------------|--|-------|-----------|
| | | 1 DOL | , |

TIM RADLOFF

LAMIDANS

SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR ADDITIONAL TAX INFORMATION

| | QUICKREF: | R132744 | |
|---|---|---------|--|
| D OWNER ID: O0257971 E OWNER %: 100.00 R C C C R P I Situs: 4337 50TH ST LUBBOCK R T T I DBA: NEIGHBORS EMERGENCY CENT | | | |
| N | RFKMS LUBBOCK 5850 SAN FELIPE STE 490 HOUSTON TX | , == - | |

| IF TAXES ARE PAID IN | LESS (- OR PENALT | TOTAL TAX DUE | |
|----------------------------|---------------------------|------------------|-----------|
| OCT 2017 | | .00 | 30,308.50 |
| NOV 2017 | | .00 | 30,308.50 |
| DEC 2017 | | .00 | 30,308.50 |
| JAN 2018 | | .00 | 30,308.50 |
| FEB 2018 | 7% | 2,121.60 | 32,430.10 |
| MAR 2018 | 9% | 2,727.76 | 33,036,26 |
| APR 2018 | 11% | 3,333.94 | 33.642.44 |
| MAY 2018 | 13% | 3,940.09 | 34.248.59 |
| JUN 2018 | 15% | 4,546.27 | 34,854,77 |
| JUL 2018 | 18%+20% | 12,608.31 | 42,916.81 |

PAYMENT SCHEDULE

| CEILING ON OVER 65 OR DISABLED HOMESTEAD | CITY COUNTY SCHOOL | |
|---|--------------------------|--|
|---|--------------------------|--|

FOR TOTAL TAX DUE REFER TO THE PAYMENT SCHEDULE ABOVE

* IF YOU ARE 65 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER OR ARE DISABLED AND THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THIS DOCUMENT IS YOUR HOMESTEAD, YOU SHOULD CONTACT THE APPRAISAL DISTRICT REGARDING ANY ENTITLEMENT YOU MAY HAVE TO A POSTPONEMENT IN THE PAYMENT OF THESE TAXES.

THE APPRAISAL DISTRICT REGARDING ANY ENTITLEMENT YOU MAY HAVE TO A POSTPONEMENT IN THE PAYMENT OF THESE TAXES.

* TAXES BECOME DELINQUENT ON FEBRUARY 1, 2018. AFTER JUNE AN ADDITIONAL PENALTY OF 20% WILL BE IMPOSED ON THE AMOUNT OF TAXES, PENALTY AND INTEREST ON REAL PROPERTY. AFTER MARCH AN ADDITIONAL PENALTY OF 20% WILL BE IMPOSED ON THE AMOUNT OF TAXES, PENALTY AND INTEREST ON PERSONAL PROPERTY. AFTER JULY AN ADDITIONAL 1% INTEREST PER MONTH WILL BE APPLIED. * IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS, PLEASE CALL (806) 762-5000. YOUR PAYMENT MUST BE POSTMARKED BY JANUARY 31, 2018 TO AVOID PENALTIES AND INTEREST.

* YOUR CHECK MAY BE CONVERTED TO AN ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER.

2017 TAX STATEMENT

PAYABLE UPON RECEIPT

MAKE CHECKS PAYABLE TO: LUBBOCK CENTRAL APPRAISAL DISTRICT PO BOX 10568 - 2109 AVENUE Q **LUBBOCK, TEXAS 79408-3568** (806) 762-5000 EXT: 6 www.lubbockcad.org

PRINT DATE: 10/3/2017 PLEASE RETURN THIS PORTION

QUICKREF: R132744 D OWNER ID: 00257971 E OWNER %: 100.00 RC Legal: WELLS FARGO TR A2 0 P Situs: 4337 50TH ST LUBBOCK EP RT DBA: NEIGHBORS EMERGENCY CENTER TI Y 0 N

| | OWNER ID: 00257971 | |
|------------------|-------------------------------------|-----|
| 57430 1 AB 0.403 | ***AUTO**ALL FOR AADC 773 AADC 2 FT | 185 |
| daladadadadadada | լերիկինուրանների այլ և բ | 103 |
| 1 | JL.Mille | |
| RFKMS LUBBOCK | LLC | |
| 5850 SAN FELIPE | ST STE 490 | |
| HOUSTON TX 770 | 57-8003 | |
| | | |

TO RECEIVE A RECEIPT CHECK BOX



TAX DUE

30,308.50

Insgroup, Inc.

1455 West Loop South 9th Floor Houston, TX 77027

> Read King, Inc. 5850 San Felipe, Ste. 490 Houston, TX 77057

INVOICE ---

| Customer | Read King, Inc. | |
|---------------------|------------------------------|-------|
| | | 73206 |
| Date | 02/22/2017 | |
| Customer Service | Philip Wise Anne Tiemeyer | 1000 |
| Page | 1 of 1 | |

| Paym | ent information | | | |
|-----------------------------|-----------------|--|--|--|
| Invoice Summary | 702.37 | | | |
| Payment Amount | 22 | | | |
| Payment for: Invoice#763708 | | | | |
| CPP0136538-02 | | | | |

Thank You

r case chond return v pay

Customer: Read King, Inc.

| Invoice | Effective | Transaction | Description | Amount |
|---------|------------|---------------|---|----------------|
| 763708 | 12/10/2016 | Policy change | Policy #CPP0136538-02 06/13/2016-06/13/2017 Zurich American Insurance Commercial Property - A - RKMS Lubbock/D- VL Policy Fee - A - RKMS Lubbock/D- VL Due Date: 3/4/2017 | 699.00 3.37 |
| | | | 5820-1000 Accounted for | |
| | | | | Total |

702.37

Thank You

We thank you for your business.

Please return this invoice with your check for proper posting of your payment.

Payment is due within 10 days of the invoice date. Failure to remit may result in cancellation due to non payment of premium.

| 1455 West Loop South 9th Floor | (713)541-7272 | Date |
|--------------------------------|---------------|------------|
| Houston, TX 77027 | | 02/22/2017 |

INSGROUP

1455 W. Loop S, 9th Flr Houston, TX 77027

Invoice No.: 17-18 Renewal Invoice Date: June 22, 2017 Client No.:

73206

Location: RKMS Lubbock, LLC

Read King, Inc. 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, TX 77057 Lender: Independent Bank Attn: Loan Dept.

750 Bering Drive, Ste. 500

Houston, TX 77057

Loan #:

To ensure proper credit places return a se

| Named Insured | per credit, please return a copy of this invoice Insured Location | |
|-------------------|---|-----------------------------------|
| | THOUSE TOCKHOU | Policy Period |
| RKMS Lubbock, LLC | 4337 50th Street Lubbock, TX 79413 | 6/13/2017 - 6/13/2018 |
| Effective Date | Item | Amount Due |
| 6/13/2017 | Endorsement Premium: Commercial Property General Liability Umbrella | \$ 6,529.3 \$ 134.0 \$ 60.4 |
| | Estimated Premium, Taxes & Fees Payment Due Upon Receipt | <u>\$ 6,723.8</u> |
| | | |

Note: Charges may include taxes, policy fees, broker fees, or other fees in addition to premium.

| PAYMENT DUE I | PON RE | CEIPT OF INVOICE |
|--|----------------|--|
| For Payment via Check: Please Return a Copy of this Invoice and Remit with Payment to: Insgroup, Inc. 1455 West Loop South, 9th Fir Houston, TX 77027 | | For Payment via Wire: Please Refer to Invoice No. and Client No. Insgroup, Inc. c/o Bank of Texas Dallas, TX ABA #: 111014325 |
| For questions regarding this invoice, please contact: Ryan Kisner Phone: (713)350-6389 | Email: Fax: | Account #: 8093603402 rkisner a.ins.roup.net (713) 314-3429 |

RKMS Lubbock, LLC Escalatable Expense

2017 ESCALATION

DATE: January 01, 2018

TO: **NEC Lubbock Emergency Center**

> 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

> > TENANT SQ. FT.: 5,066 5,066 CENTER SQ. FT.:

TENANT % 1.0000 2018 ESTIMATED REAL ESTATE TAX: 20,084.62 \$ 2018 ESTIMATED INSURANCE: 7,060.00 **TOTAL EXPENSES:** 27.144.62 **TENANT PRORATA SHARE %** (x) 1.0000 2018 TENANT OCCUPANCY %: (x) 100% ANNUAL ESTIMATED AMOUNT: 27,144.62 **NEW MONTHLY TAX** \$1,673.72 **NEW MONTHLY INSURANCE** \$588.33 27,144.62 **TOTAL TAX & INS EXPENSES: TOTAL EXPENSES:** MANAGEMENT FEE %: (x) 0.10 TOTAL LUMP SUM DUE: 2.714.46 **NEW MONTHLY MANAGEMENT FEE:** \$ 226.21

Please remit your payment to: RKMS Lubbock, LLC c/o Read King, Inc. 5850 San Felipe, Suite 490 Houston, Texas 77057

EXHIBIT "D"

Case 18-33836 Document 290-4 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 2 of 14 Read King, Inc.

8/15/2018 **User: KNELSON**

760

Aging Report

5:20:44PM Page 1 of 2

(Detailed)

Property: RKMS Paris, LLC

as of 08/15/2018

| Unit Type | | Reference umber | Occupant Name | Deposits Held | Balance Due | AGED 1 - 30 DAYS | AGED 31 - 60 DAYS | AGED 61-90 DAYS | AGED OVER 90 DAYS |
|--------------|-------|--------------------|--------------------------------|------------------|----------------|------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|
| CURR | NEC | NEC | Paris Emergency Center L | 46,926.55 | 16,556.01 | 1,709.80 | 1,709.80 | 1,709.80 | 11,426.61 |
| | Email | : | accountspayable@neighborshealt | | GW 1 D GD | | | | |
| | | | CHARGE | CHARGE | CHARGE | | | | |

| CODE | DESCRIPTION | DATE | | | |
|------|------------------------------|------------|----------|----------|----------|
| INS | Monthly Insurance | 09/01/2017 | | | 523.7 |
| INS | Monthly Insurance August 201 | 09/01/2017 | | | 523.7 |
| INS | Monthly Insurance - July 201 | 09/01/2017 | | | 523.7 |
| INS | Monthly Insurance - June 201 | 09/01/2017 | | | 523.7 |
| INS | Monthly Insurance - May 2017 | 09/01/2017 | | | 523.7 |
| INS | Monthly Insurance | 10/01/2017 | | | 523.7 |
| INS | Monthly Insurance | 11/01/2017 | | | 523.7 |
| INS | Monthly Insurance | 12/01/2017 | | | 523.7 |
| PYI | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 01/01/2018 | | | 1,494.9 |
| PYM | 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 01/01/2018 | | | 536.1 |
| PYT | 2017 TAX RECONCILIATION | 01/01/2018 | | | (324.20 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 01/01/2018 | | | 954.9 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 02/01/2018 | | | 954.9 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 03/01/2018 | | | 954.9 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 04/01/2018 | | | 954.9 |
| RNT | Monthly Rent | 05/01/2018 | | | 754.8 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 05/01/2018 | | | 954.9 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 06/01/2018 | | | 1,709.80 |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 07/01/2018 | | 1,709.80 | |
| TAX | Monthly Property Tax | 08/01/2018 | 1,709.80 | | |

Case 18-33836 Document 290-4 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 3 of 14 Read King, Inc.

8/15/2018 User: KNELSON

Aging Report

5:20:45PM Page 2 of 2

(Detailed)

Property:

RKMS Paris, LLC

as of 08/15/2018

| 7 | 6 | ſ | ۱ |
|---|---|---|---|
| 1 | v | U | , |

| Unit Type | Unit Referer Number | ıce | Occupant Name | Deposits Held | Balance Due | AGED 1 - 30 DAYS | AGED 31 - 60 DAYS | AGED 61-90 DAYS | AGED OVER 90 DAYS |
|--------------|------------------------|----------------|--------------------------|------------------|-----------------|------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|
| PROPE | ERTY TOT | CALS | | 46,926.55 | 16,556.01 | 1,709.80 | 1,709.80 | 1,709.80 | 11,426.61 |
| | | CHARGE CODE | CHARGE DESCRIPTIO | ON | CHARGE TOTAL | | | | |
| | _ | PYT | Prior Year Tax Rec | | (324.20) | | | | (324.20) |
| | | RNT | Monthly Rent | | 754.82 | | | | 754.82 |
| | | TAX | Monthly Property Tax | | 9,904.30 | 1,709.80 | 1,709.80 | 1,709.80 | 4,774.90 |
| | | PYM | Prior Year Mgmt Fee Rec | | 536.10 | | | | 536.10 |
| | | PYI | Prior Year Insurance Rec | | 1,494.99 | | | | 1,494.99 |
| | | INS | Monthly Insurance | | 4,190.00 | | | | 4,190.00 |

Case 18-33836 Document 290-4 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 4 of 14

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057 NEC Paris Emergency Center L

Statement

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE |
|-------------------|-------------------------------|------------|----------------------|
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - June 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - July 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance August 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - May 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 10/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 11/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 12/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 01/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 954.98 | |
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 536.10 | |
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 1,494.99 | |
| 02/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 954.98 | |
| 03/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 954.98 | |
| 04/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 954.98 | |
| 05/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 954.98 | |
| 05/01/2018 | Monthly Rent | 754.82 | |
| 06/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 1,709.80 | |
| CONTINUED ON T | HE NEXT PAGE | | |
| Total Amount Due: | | | \$ See the next page |

Comments:

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 09/01/2018

Total Due: \$ See the next page

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057 Date : 09/01/2018

Unit: 760-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ See the next page

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to: Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to: RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Case 18-33836 Document 290-4 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 5 of 14

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057 NEC Paris Emergency Center L

Statement

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE |
|------------|-------------------------------|------------|-----------|
| 07/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 1,709.80 | |
| 08/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 1,709.80 | |
| | Open Credits | (324.20) | |
| | PREVIOUS MONTH ENDING BALANCE | | 16,556.01 |
| | CURRENT CHARGES | | |
| 09/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 2,523.93 | |
| 09/01/2018 | Monthly Insurance | 538.65 | |
| 09/01/2018 | Monthly Management Fee | 306.26 | |
| 09/01/2018 | Monthly Rent | 38,496.11 | |
| | TOTAL CURRENT | | 41,864.95 |

| Total Amount Due: | \$ 58.420.96 |
|-------------------|--------------|

Comments:

Attached is your billing statement for September 2018.

Thank you, Rebecca Sears

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 09/01/2018

Total Due: \$58,420.96

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

Date : 09/01/2018

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe

Suite 490

Houston, Tx 77057

Unit: 760-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ 58,420.96

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to: Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to:
RKMS Paris, LLC
5850 San Felipe
Suite 490

Case 18-33836 Document 290-4 Filed in TXSB on 08/23/18 Page 6 of 14

RKMS Paris, LLC Escalatable Expense December 31, 2017

INVOICE

DATE: January 26, 2018

TO: Neighbors Health

10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

TENANT SQ. FT.: 8,066
CENTER SQ. FT.: 8,066
TENANT % 1.0000

2017 REAL ESTATE TAX: \$ 25,733.93 2017 CAM: 0.00 2017 INSURANCE: 5,684.99 TOTAL EXPENSES: \$ 31,418.92

TENANT PRORATA SHARE % (x) 1.0000 2017 TENANT OCCUPANCY %: (INSURANCE AT 100%) (x) 72%

TOTAL LUMP SUM DUE: 24,086.51 (LESS) 2017 CHARGES: (22,915.72)

TOTAL CAM, TAX & INS DUE: \$ 1,170.79

 TOTAL MANAGEMENT FEE EXPENSE:
 24,086.51

 MANAGEMENT FEE %:
 (x)
 0.10

 TOTAL LUMP SUM DUE:
 2,408.65

 (LESS)
 2017 CHARGES:
 (1.872.55)

LESS) 2017 CHARGES: (1,872.55)

TOTAL MANAGEMENT FEE DUE: \$ 536.10

2017 BALANCE DUE (CREDIT): \$ 1,706.89

Please remit your payment to: RKMS Paris, LLC c/o Read King, Inc. 5850 San Felipe, Suite 490 Houston, Texas 77057

521 Bonham Street * PO Box 400 Paris, TX 75461

NAME & ADDRESS

A TEXAS LIMITED LIAB COMP

5850 SAN FELIPE STE 490

Pct: 100.000%

Owner ID: 106841014

HOUSTON, TX 77057

RKMS PARIS LLC

LAMAR COUNTY APPRAISAL DISTRICT

2017 TAX STATEMENT

STATEMENT NUMBER 67786 PROPERTY OF NUMBER

Phone: (903) 785-7822

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

121107 PROPERTY GEOGRAPHICAL ID

015500-31800-0070 PROPERTY STILLS I KOOK TON

3055 NE LOOP 286 TX

Acreage: 1.4698

Type: R

LAND MARKET VALUE IMPROVEMENT MARKET VALUE AG/TIMBER USE VALUE AG/TIMBER MARKET ASSESSED VALUE TOTAL LATE AG PENALTY 224,090 810,960 1.035.050 100% Assessment Ratio

OAK RIDGE 318 ADDITION, BLOCK A, LOT

1, NE LOOP 286 & CENTER ST, ACRES

| ACCECCEN | HOMESTEAD | OVES OF DE | OTHER DESIGNATION | | Value: 1,035,0 | 150 | |
|--|------------------------|---|---|-------------|--|---|---|
| AGGESGEO | EXEMPTION | EXEMPTION | EXEMPTIONS | AND CEILING | TAXABLE VALUE | RATE PER | TAX DUE |
| 1,035,050 1,035,050 1,035,050 1,035,050 | 0 0 0 | 0 0 0 0 | 0 0 0 | | 1,035,050 1,035,050 1,035,050 1,035,050 | 1.455000 0.085000 0.394300 | 15,059.98 879.79 4,081.20 |
| | | | | | 1,000,000 | 0.551950 | 5,712.96 |
| | | | | | | | |
| 1 | | | | | - 1 | | |
| | 1,035,050 1,035,050 | 1,035,050 0 1,035,050 0 1,035,050 0 | 1,035,050 0 0 0 1,035,050 0 0 0 1,035,050 0 0 0 0 | 1,035,050 | ASSESSED | ASSESSED HOMESTEAD OVES OR DP OTHER FREEZE YEAR AND CEILING AND CEILING TAXABLE VALUE | ASSESSED HOMESTEAD OV65 OR DP OTHER FREEZE YEAR AND CEILING TAXABLE VALUE RATE PER S100 |

COUNTY TAXES REDUCED BY SALES TAX 1008.14

Total Taxes Due by Jan 31, 2018

25,733.93

| Penalty & Interest if paid after Jan 31, 2018 | | | | |
|---|-----------------|--|--|--|
| P&I RATE | TAX DUE | | | |
| 7% | 27.535.32 | | | |
| 9% | 28,049.98 | | | |
| 11% | 28,564.67 | | | |
| 13% | 29,079.33 | | | |
| | 29,594.01 | | | |
| | 7% 9% 11% | | | |

Property taxes in Texas are assessed as of January 1st of each year and cover a period of one year from that date. Tax statutes make no provisions for proration; therefore, a change of address during the year would have no effect on the tax liability established on January 1st of the calendar year. These tax statutes also make no provisions for proration in case the property is disposed of during the calendar year. Also, if you owned personal property described on the tax statement on January 1st, then you are personally liable for the taxes. If YOU ARE 65 YEARS OR OLDER, DISABLED OR A DISABLED VETERAN AND YOU OCCUPY THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THIS DOCUMENT AS YOUR RESIDENCE HOMESTEAD, YOU SHOULD CONTACT THE THESE TAXES.

Total Tax Due may include Additional Penalty up to 20% incurred on April 1 or July 1 of the year of delinquency (Tax Code Section 33.11) or Additional Late AG Penalty of 10% (Tax Code Section 23.54).

* DETACH HERE AND RETURN WITH PAYMENT *

Vlake checks payable to:

LAMAR COUNTY APPRAISAL DISTRICT 521 Bonham Street **PO Box 400** Paris, TX 75461-0400

Phone: (903) 785-7822 Fax: (903) 785-8322

Please include a self-addressed stamped envelope to receive a paid receipt.



Owner Name and Address RKMS PARIS LLC A TEXAS LIMITED LIAB COMP 5850 SAN FELIPE STE 490 HOUSTON, TX 77057

| Statemen | t Number |
|-----------|----------|
| 2017 | 67786 |
| Prop ID | Number |
| 121 | 107 |
| Geograp | hical ID |
| 015500-31 | 800-0070 |

| If Paid in Month | Tax Due |
|------------------|-----------|
| October 2017 | 25,733.93 |
| November 2017 | 25,733.93 |
| December 2017 | 25,733.93 |
| January 2018 | 25,733.93 |
| February 2018 | 27,535.32 |
| March 2018 | 28,049.98 |
| April 2018 | 28,564.67 |
| May 2018 | 29,079.33 |
| June 2018 | 29,594.01 |

In January Pay 25,733.93

Taxes are payable October 1, 2017 and become delinquent on February 1, 2018



16745 1 AB 0.403***AUTO**ALL FOR AADC 773 AADC 2 FT 57 րթագրվակարգակիրիկիրիականություն AMBROSE & ASSOCIATES LLC 16545 VILLAGE DR BLDG A JERSEY VILLAGE TX 77040-1158

INSGROUP

1455 W. Loop S, 9th Flr Houston, TX 77027

Invoice No.:

17-18 Endorsement

Invoice Date: July 27, 2017

Client No.: Location:

73206 **RKMS Paris**

Read King, Inc. 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, TX 77057

To ensure proper credit please return a co

| per credit, please return a copy of this invoice Insured Location | |
|---|--|
| 3055 NE Loop 286 Paris, TX 75460 | Policy Period 6/13/2017 - 6/13/2018 |
| Item | Amount Due |
| Endorsement Premium: Commercial Package | \$ 5,687.0 |
| Estimated Premium, Taxes & Fees Payment Due Upon Receipt | \$ 5,687.0 |
| | 980 |
| | Insured Location 3055 NE Loop 286 Paris, TX 75460 Item Endorsement Premium: Commercial Package Estimated Premium, Taxes & Fees |

Note: Charges may include taxes, policy fees, broker fees, or other fees in addition to premium. PAYMENT DUE UPON RECEIPT OF INVOICE For Payment via Check: For Payment via Wire: Please Return a Copy of this Invoice and Remit with Please Refer to Invoice No. and Client No. Payment to: Insgroup, Inc. Insgroup, Inc. c/o Bank of Texas 1455 West Loop South, 9th Flr Dallas, TX Houston, TX 77027 ABA #: 111014325 Account #: 8093603402 For questions regarding this invoice, please contact: Ryan Kisner Email: rkisner @insgroup.net Phone: (713)350-6389 Fax: (713) 314-3429

Read King, Inc.

5850 San Felipe St., Ste. 490 Houston, TX 77057

Credit Memo

| Date | Credit No. |
|------------|------------|
| 11/22/2017 | 97012 |

| Customer | |
|----------------|--|
| RKMS Paris LLC | |
| | |
| | |
| | |
| | |

P.O. No. Project Description Qty Rate **Amount** Insgroup - 06/13/17 - 06/13/18 Premium Overpayment 2.01 -2.01 Total \$-2.01 Invoices \$0.00 **Balance Credit** \$-2.01

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Statement

760-NEC-CU NEC Paris Emergency Center, LP

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE | |
|------------|-------------------------------|--------------|----------|--|
| | | TENIOUTI DOD | BALANCE | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - May 2017 | 523.75 | | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - June 2017 | 523.75 | | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - July 2017 | 523.75 | | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance August 2017 | 523.75 | | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | | |
| 10/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | | |
| 11/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | | |
| 12/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | | |
| | PREVIOUS MONTH ENDING BALANCE | | 4,190.00 | |
| | CURRENT CHARGES | | - | |
| | | | | |
| | | | | |
| | TOTAL CURRENT | | 0.00 | |

Total Amount Due: \$ 4,190.00

Comments:

Please review billing statement and send payments to remittance address below.

Thank you

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 12/14/2017

Total Due: \$4,190.00

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

Date : 12/14/2017

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe

Suite 490

Houston, Tx 77057

Unit: 760-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ 4,190.00

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to:

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to:

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490

760-NEC-CU

NEC Paris Emergency Center L

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Statement

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE |
|------------|-------------------------------|------------|-----------|
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523,75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - June 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - July 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance August 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - May 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 10/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 11/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 12/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 01/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 954.98 | |
| | PREVIOUS MONTH ENDING BALANCE | | 5,144.98 |
| | CURRENT CHARGES | | |
| 02/01/2018 | Monthly Rent | 37,741.29 | |
| 02/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 2,523.93 | |
| 02/01/2018 | Monthly Insurance | 538.65 | ¥ |
| 02/01/2018 | Monthly Management Fee | 306.26 | |
| | TOTAL CURRENT | | 41,110.13 |

Total Amount Due: \$ 46,255.11

Comments:

Please review billing statement and send payments to remittance address below.

Thank you

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 02/01/2018

Total Due: \$46,255.11

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

Date: 02/01/2018

Unit: 760-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ 46,255.11

Amount Enclosed:

Houston, Tx 77057

RKMS Paris, LLC

5850 San Felipe Suite 490

Bill to:

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to: RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490

| CONTINUED | ON THE | NEXT | PAGE |
|-----------|--------|------|------|
| | | | |

Total Amount Due:

Comments:

\$ See the next page

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 02/01/2018

Total Due: \$ See the next page

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057 Date : 02/01/2018

Unit: 760-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ See the next page

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to: Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to: RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Statement

760-NEC-CU NEC Paris Emergency Center L

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE |
|------------------|-------------------------------|------------|--|
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - June 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - July 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance August 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 09/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance - May 2017 | 523.75 | |
| 10/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523,75 | |
| 11/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523,75 | |
| 12/01/2017 | Monthly Insurance | 523.75 | |
| 01/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 954.98 | |
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 MGT RECONCILIATION | 536.10 | |
| 01/01/2018 | 2017 INS RECONCILIATION | 1,494.99 | |
| 02/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 954,98 | |
| | Open Credits | (324.20) | |
| | PREVIOUS MONTH ENDING BALANCE | (== 1,==4) | 7,806,85 |
| | CURRENT CHARGES | | ······································ |
| 03/01/2018 | Monthly Rent | 37,741.29 | |
| 03/01/2018 | Monthly Property Tax | 2,523.93 | |
| ONTINUED ON TH | E NEXT PAGE | =40.201.20 | |
| | | | |
| otal Amount Due: | | | \$ See the next page |

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 03/01/2018

Total Due: \$ See the next page

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057 Date : 03/01/2018

Unit: 760-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ See the next page

Amount Enclosed:

Bill to: Neighbo

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042 Send Remittance to:

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490

RKMS Paris, LLC 5850 San Felipe Suite 490 Houston, Tx 77057

Statement

760-NEC-CU NEC Paris Emergency Center L

| DATE | DESCRIPTION | AMOUNT DUE | BALANCE |
|------------|------------------------|------------|-----------|
| 03/01/2018 | Monthly Insurance | 538.65 | |
| 03/01/2018 | Monthly Management Fee | 306.26 | |
| | TOTAL CURRENT | | 41.110.13 |

Total Amount Due: \$48,916.98

Comments:

Please see attached billing statement.

Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Statement Date: 03/01/2018

Total Due: \$48,916.98

Please Return This Coupon With Your Payment

Date: 03/01/2018

Unit: 760-NEC-CU

Amount Due : \$ 48,916.98

Amount Enclosed:____

Bill to:

RKMS Paris, LLC

Houston, Tx 77057

5850 San Felipe Suite 490

> Neighbors Health 10800 Richmond Ave Houston, TX 77042

Send Remittance to:
RKMS Paris, LLC
5850 San Felipe
Suite 490